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STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The directors present their strategic report on the Greup and Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Results for the year
The results of the Group arc set out in the consolidated income statement on page 30 which shows a profit
beforc taxation for the year of €1,527.0 million (2021: €2,237.2 million).

The position of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the consolidated balance sheet on
page 32, which shows total assets increased to €22,369.2 million from €21,283.1 million in 2021. As at 31
December 2022, the Group had net assets of €1,654.9 million (2021: net liabilities of €5.7 million).

Revenue from continuing operations was €21,048.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021;
€17,644.9 million) and earnings before interest, tax, impairment, depreciation, amortisation, exceptional items
and net fair value gains and losses on commodity derivatives and after the share of profit{loss) of associated
undertakings and joint ventures using the equity accounting method (“EBITDA before exceptional items™) was
€2,942.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: €3,984.1 million). A reconciliation of EBITDA
before exceptional items to profit before tax can be found in Note 2 to the financial statements.

Review of business

During 2022 the Group continued to focus on developing its portfolio of businesses, with a particular focus on
its petrochemicals businesses, its North Sea and onshore oil and gas assets in the United Kingdom and
Denmark and its automotive business.

Petrochemicals
The Greup operates a number of petrochemical businesses, including INEOS Styrolution, INEOS Inovyn,
INEQS Aromatics, INEOS Acetyls and INEOS Olefins & Polymers UK.

The Styrolution business’ revenue increased in the year ended 31 December 2022 compared to the year ended
31 December 2021. A strong first half of the year supported by high demand particularly for durables
continuing the trend started during COVID was followed by mid to low cycle levels in the second half of the
year with customers de-stocking due to market uncertainty and expectation of further price reductions. Open
arbitrage from Asian products into the Americas and Europe in the second half of 2022 softened further the
demand in these regions. As a result, the overall volumes for the year were lower compared 1o the prior year,
also affected by the divesture of INEOS Styrolution India Limited in November 2022, The average prices in
the current year were higher than prices in the comparative year and more than compensated for lower sales
volumes. Softer demand combined in all regions and most product groups resulted in reduced margins in the
current year. The open arbitrage from Asian product into the Americas and Europe impacted margins in these
regions. The margin reduction came primarily from the global ABS business. A reduction in polystyrene
margins in Asia was partially offset higher polystyrene margins in Europe and Americas in particular duc to
being able to pass over the increase in utility prices to the customers.

The INEOS Inovyn business’ revenue increased in the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared to the same
period in 2021. Total volumes were lower than the prior year period, but absolute revenues increased due to
extremely high pricing on key products. Production and sales volumes of key products, including general
purposc polyvinyl chloride (PVC), specialty PVC and caustic soda were lower than the prior year as high
inflation and the energy crisis in Europe resulted in weaker demand in the sccond half of 2022. European
producers also faced more competition from US and Asian imports. Average sales prices of general purpose
and specialty PYC in Europe reached record levels in 2022 due to higher ethylene feedstock and energy input
costs. Trims to chlorine production (and hence co-produced caustic soda production} due to high electricity
prices and low PVC demand led to very tight caustic soda markets in Eurcpe despite a weaker demand
environment, with price records being broken in each successive quarter of 2022, The European contract price
of caustic soda (as reported by Chemical Market Analytics) reached €2,407 per ton in the fourth quarter of
2022, whilst the average annualised European contract price of caustic soda in 2022 was 194% higher than
2021. The current year also benefited from significantly higher prices of caustic potash, and chlorine
derivatives such as Cereclor, chloromethanes and epichlorohydrin. Business profitability in 2022 was the
highest annual performance since the tormation of INEOS Inovyn in 2015, despite the energy crisis in Europe
and the aforementioned reduction in sales volumes of general purpose PVC, specialty PVC and caustic soda.
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This was mainly due to the unprecedently high pricing of caustic soda, which despitc the weakening demand
environment in the sccond half of 2022, reached record levels in Europe. The primary driver was low chlorine
production rates across Europe, as a consequence of high electricity prices and low PVC demand. On an
annuaiised basis, the achieved spread of general purpose and specialty PVC prices over ethylene were also
higher than the prior year with demand remaining resilient in the first half of the year. However, by the second
half of the year, demand and therefore spreads had weakened considerably which forced European PVC
producers to reduce plant operating rates. Sales volume of other products such as caustic potash,
chloromcthanes, epichlorohydrin and salt were lower than 2021 but absolute margins achieved increased duc to
healthy market conditions for most of the year.

The Acetyls business’ revenue increased in the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared to the same period
in 2021, Total volumes were lower than the prior year period, but absolute revenues increased due to higher
sales prices. Tn Europe, volumes were down by 19% (104 kt) due to the challenging environment which has
seen rising raw material prices as well as weakened demand for both acid and anhydride as customers
struggled with affordability on the back of the high gas cost. Europcan sales prices were up as increasing gas
prices were reflected in cost plus and market reference sales contracts for acetic acid and anhydride. In the US,
volumes were down by 23% (147 ktes) due to reduced customer demand and an unplanned shutdown at third-
party plant. US acetic acid prices increased again driven by increasing gas prices. Lower business profitability
was mainly driven by a lower share of joint-venture net profit partially offset by higher margins in the US.
Share of joint-venture net profit from the Asian joint-ventures were down as lower sales prices coupled with
higher feedstocks reduced margins significantly. Net profits of the Korean joint-venture were partially
supported by higher volumes and higher margins of Vinyl Acetate Monomer (VAM) as demand in this sector
was strong although starting to soften toward the end of the year. Net profit of the Atlas joint-venture was
down compared to last year duc to lower sales volumes, lower margins as a higher methanol discounts were
offered and higher fixed costs due to unplanned outages. The US was the largest contributor with 40% of
customers on cost plus sales pricing allowing the higher feedstock prices to be passed on to customers.
Margins in Europe were lower compared to prior year due to high energy costs, increased freight charges,
significant flaring costs due to reduction in production and lower sales volumes, offsetting higher sales prices.

The Aromatics business” revenue increased in the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared to the same
period in 2021, Total volumes were lower than the prior year period, but absolute revenues increased due to
higher sales prices. In Europe, high inflation and the energy crisis weakened the demand. High production
costs made European producers uncompetitive versus Asian import volumes. The purified terephthalic acid
(PTA) sales volumes in the US remained strong through the first half of the year but then slowed significantly
in the last quarter due to the combined effect of increasing volume of Asian imports of PTA and polyethylene
tercphthalate (PET) and a slowdown in demand as a result of fiscal policy. Asian velumes were at simifar level
to the prior year. The price of mixed xylenes increased significantly during 2022 as a result of the sharp rise in
gasoline prices globally. As the key raw material for paraxylene (PX) and ultimately PTA this then drove the
absolute prices of products higher throughout the year. As a reference, the US PX price ended in December
2021 at $992/t and closed 2022 at $1,235/t. However during the year, the US PX price peaked at $2,282/t, a
130% increase in price compared to the start of the year. Business performance for the year improved as lower
salcs volume have been more than offset by higher margins and lower fixed costs. PTA margins in the US
were better than in prior year and the profitability fundamentals of the business remained strong. Margins in
Europe were heavily impacted by high energy prices and the impact of Asian prices as an alternative for
customers. The fall in energy prices in the last quarter of the year brought an improvement in margins. Margins
in Asia continued to be structurally pared back by an oversupplicd PTA market. However, the export margins
from Zhuhai for intemational sales improved. In addition, the business focused the sales of Zhuhal tons more
towards the PET resin market, rather than fiber, as the customers have a more reliable demand.

The INEOS O&P UK business produces olefins and related products and a range of polymers based at their
site in Grangemouth, Scotland. This business encountered various challenges during the year, the effects of
high inflation, the Ukraine war and reduced market demand due to reduced consumer confidence in demand
from their customers. During the first six months of the year, although challenging, the business continued to
see high demand and profitability. However, the second six months were difficult as a result of market
volatility. Demand for the business” products declined as a result of reduced consumer demand and cheaper
imports into Europe being available particularly from the U.S. The impact of the Ukraine war, which broke out
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in February 2022, saw energy prices escalate beyond the very high level already seen in Q4, 2021 which had a
profound impact on the business due to the business’ high steam and power demand, resulting in significant
exposure to natural gas prices. Consequently, operating rates have remained constrained. As a result the
business recognised ah exceptional impairment charge of €223.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022,
in relation to its tangible fixed assets. The impairment loss was based on a value in use calculation. The
business valuation was negatively impacted by lower than expected cash flows within the current business
plan. reflecting the challenging economic and competitive conditions expected in the near term for the site.

During September and November 2022, there were planned turnaround events (TAR) on the polymer plants.
During a TAR the plant is shutdown to perform critical maintenance activities and the production volume of
the site is reduced during the outage period. The TAR was delivered safely, on time and on budget.

During the year, the business invested €170.9 million in assets under construction additions which mainly
related to the new energy plant, the TAR on the polymer asscts and an additional furnace on the gas cracker to
increase production capacity.

On 30 December 2021, Petroincos Refining Limited, the minority related party sharcholder, gave notice to stop
investing in the energy project and planned to exit as a sharcholder. Any future funding after this date will be
provided solely by the Group, subsequently on 5 April 2022, due to escalating costs on the new energy project
caused by delays due to COVID working restrictions and impact to commodity prices, the directors took the
decision to temporarily suspend the project. At the date of the strategic report the length of the subsequent
delay and the impact to the ultimate operational date of the plant is not known.

As mentioned previously the INEOS O&P UK business encountered various challenges during the year which
led to the Group requesting and being granted consent to waive the leverage financial covenant at both 30 May
2022 and 22 Scptember 2022. With the lender’s agreement, the leverage covenant at 31 December 2022 was
remediated post year end via the full repayment of the Senior Term and Revolving Loan Facilities on 10
January 2023, therefore the debt was classified as current as 31 December 2022.

Energy

INEOS Energy operates the Group’s onshore and cffshore oil and gas activities in the UK and thc North Sea.
The Group has a portfolio of offshore production, development, exploration and appraisal assets in Denmark,
and the UK. The key asscts are the Laggan-Tormore ficld situated west of Shetland, the Breagh and Clipper
South ficlds in the UK and the Syd Ame field in Denmark. INEOS Energy reported a higher profit from
continuing activities for the year, when compared with 2021, as a result of higher average realised oil and gas
prices, partially offset by net derivative losses.

The Group also operates the Forties Pipeline System (‘FPS”). FPS is an integrated oil and gas liquid
transportation and processing system with a nominal capacity in excess of one million barrels per day serving
the central area of the North Sea. Oil and gas liquids from over 80 offshore fields flow through pipelines into
the FPS. FPS vertically integrates the pipeline network with the Group’s site in Grangemouth. The financial
performance of FPS has been strong despite a lower throughputs and a year of turbulent gas prices. Safety
remains a key priority, and the business delivered on health and safety performance targets while maintaining
100% availability of the system for customers throughout the year.

Other activities

Automotive

During the year, the Group continued to develop the Grenadier, a new 4x4 off-road vehicle through to
achieving SoP (Start of Production) in October 2022, and a few days later, the first production vehicle was
completed at its manufacturing facility in Hambach, France. Production output continued 1o increase through
to the end of the year with support of key elements of the supply chain.,

In April 2022 the business launched a full digital brochure and online vehicle configurator and from May 2022
took sales orders and deposits in European, Middle East, African and Oceania markets. The Group completed
the onboarding of all its global sales and aftersales partners, including North America in June 2023. The
Group’s first sales of the Grenadier commenced in January 2023 and customer deliveries have continued to
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accelerate during the first half of the year. Tn May 2023, North American customers began to place pre-orders
(many of which were conversions of reservations taken in 2022) for customer deliveries in Q4, 2023,

In December 2022, the Group signed a contract with a strategic partner to develop a new 4x4 off road battery
electric vehicle, which {s expected to be launched to global markets in 2026.

Sport

The Group has invested in a broad range of clitc sporting activities covering football, cycling, sailing and
motorsport. The Group has formed INEOS Britannia which is the British challenger for the Americas Cup in
in 2024. The Group owns a world-leading cycling teamn, INEOS Grenadiers and the French Ligue One football
team, OGC Nice. The Group is also the principal sponsor partrnier and has a one-third sharc of the Mercedes-
AMG Petronas Formula One team.

External financing

On 31 May 2022, the Group repaid, ahead of terms, the amounts outstanding under the Three-Year Doliar
Tertm Loan A Facility due 2023 of $387.5 million (€83.2 million equivalent), the Three-Year Euro Term Loan A
Facility due 2023 of €75.0 million and the Five-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility due 2025 of $210.0 million
(€199.7 million equivalent). Sce Note 17 of the financial statements for further details.

In January 2022, the Styrolution business entered into a new long-term loan agreement with Bank of China and
ICBC to provide RMB 3,300.0 million {(€464.3 million cquivalent) of financing for the construction of a new
600 kiloton ABS plant in Ningbo, China. As at 31 December 2022, the amount utilised against the facility was
RMB 3,035.2 million (€408.9 million equivalent). On 28 December 2022, the Group completed an equity
transfer agreement with Sinopec relating to the sale of 50% cquity interest in INEOS Styrotution Advanced
Materials (Ningbo) Pte Ltd. As a result of this divesture, the obligation of the Group under this term loan
facility have been transterred to the newly created joint-venture and derecognised in the Group consolidated
financial statements. See Notes 17 and 34 of the financial statements for further details.

On 10 January 2023, the Group repaid in full the Q&P UK Senior Term Loan facilities. See Note 17 of the
financial statements for further details.

On 14 March 2023, the Group entered into an Incremental Facility Agreement to raise a new Dollar Term Loan
B of $500.0 milion (€471.6 million equivalent) and a new Furo Term Loan B of €375.0 million which
increased the liquidity of the Group. The Term Loan denominated in dollars bears interest at a rate per annum
equal to SOFR + 0.10% CSA (subjcct to a floor of 0% per annum) plus 3.75%. The Term Loan denominated
in curos bears interest at a rate per annum equal to EURIBOR (subject to a floor of 0% per annum) plus 4.0%.
The Euro Term Loan B Facility and the Dollar Term Loan B Facility are payable, subject to certain
exemptions, on 14 March 2030,

The Group entered into an interest rate swap agreement in March 2023 to hedge the fair value risk in relation
to the 2030 Term Loans with the notional principal amount of $500 million. Under this interest rate swap
agreement, the Group will exchange the variable SOFR exposurc for fixed SOFR obligations.

On 20 April 2023, the Group completed its transition from LIBOR to SOFR in relation to the Dollar Term
Loan B due 2027.

See Note 17 of the financial statements for further details on external financing.

Divestitures

On 22 April 2022, the Group sold 13.8% of its sharcholding in INEOS Styrolution India Limited fora
considcration of $25.1 million (€22.5 million equivalent). The Group’s shareholding reduced from 75.0% to
61.2% as a result, with control being rctained.

On 1 August 2022, the Group entered into an agreement to divest its remaining sharcholding of 61.2% in
INEQS Styrolution India Limited with Shiva Performance Materials Private Limited. The transaction was
completed on 17 November 2022, The total sale price was $80.3 million (€80.7 million cquivalent). The
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disposed business had cash balances of €14.8 million, which led to a net cash inflow of €65.9 million.
Transaction costs of €0.5 million remain unsettled as at 31 December 2022,

On 28 July 2022, the Group’s subsidiary, INEOS Styrolution APAC Pte. Limited, entered into an agreement to
transfer 50% of its shareholding in INEOS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Limited to Sinopec.
As a result, the Group gave up control but retained joint control. The transaction was completed on 28
December 2022. The total sale price was $489.4 million (€472.6 million equivalent), of which $255.0 millior
{€246.2 million equivalent) is deferred. A withholding tax of €13.5 million was paid in relation to the sale price
settled on completion. The disposed business had cash balances of €40.7 million, which led to a net cash
inflow of €172.2 million. Transaction costs of €2.7 million remain unsettled as at 31 December 2022

Sce Note 34 of the financial statements for further details.

Exceptional items

The Group had total exceptional cxpenses of €240.1 million in the year (2021: €249.9 million) and total
exceptional gains of nil (2021; €322.7 million). See Note 4 for further details on cxceptionals.

Strategic future developments
The Group’s strategy is to develop its portfolio of businesses further with its main focus continuing te be on
petrochemicals, energy and automotive businesses.

The Group’s corporate strategy is to continue growing profitability and cash flows by optimising the cost base
of the businesses, increasing the focus on high margin products and further product diversification, leveraging
eXisting resources to cxpand sales and keeping the overall management structure of the Group simple and
decentralised. The Group has an expansion strategy in China to increase its ABS production capacities through
the set-up of two additional joint-ventures with Stnopec, following the first joint-venture completed in
December 2022.

The INEOS O&P UK business expects to commission the additional furnace on the gas cracker thus enabling
higher utilisation levels subject to demand. The new cnergy project will continue to be temporarily suspended
during 2023 and the business will continue to manage its cost base and capital expenditure in line with
affordability. During the year, the businesses on the Grangemouth site announced its ‘Road Map’ to achieving
Nect Zero. The significant integration of the three site businesses at Grangemouth (INEOS O&P UK, INEOS
FPS and Petroineos) has meant that the journey embarked upon is a collaborative one. Emission savings of
more than 60% (compared to 2006 when INEQS acquired the site) across the site are targeted by 2030, through
a serics of investments, partnerships and innovative engineering. The Road Map involves a proposed move to
the production and use of hydrogen by all businesses at the Grangemouth site accompanied by carben capture
and storage of at least 1 million tonnes per annum of CO2 by 2030. This will include capturing CO2 from
existing hydrogen production and the construction of a carbon capture enabled hydrogen production plant. In
addition, the regeneration programme on the Grangemouth site has already remediated large areas, on which
we hope to attract both internal INEOS and external investment. This investment will utilise the utilities and
services already available with the intention to grow the Grangemouth manufacturing base.

As part of the Group’s continued response to meeting the demands of the energy transition, work has continued
on maturing the Project Greensand CO2 storage project in Denmark. During the first quarter of 2023, the
Group undertook a pilot project which successfully injected a number of batches of CO2 into the Nini depleted
oil reservoir which forms of part of the Sini field complex. The CO2 was supplied from the INEOS Ethylene
Oxide plant in Antwerp, Belgium and transported in ISO containers aboard the Aurora Storm supply vessel
before being injected into the Nini field via the Noble Resolve jack-up drilling rig. The data from the project
will now be analysed and incotporated into the plans for the full Project development. If sanctioned, Project
Greensand could be commercialised from as early as 2025 and have the potential to eventally store up to 8
million tonnes of CO2 per annum over time.

Elsewhere in Denmark, the Group has sanctioned the development of the West Lobe of the Solsort field which
will consist of one production and onc injection well tied back to the Syd Arne production facilities. The field
is due onstream during Q4, 2023 and has 2P recoverable reserves estimated at 9mmboe. Further incremental
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development opportunities are being evaluated including drilling into the lightly exploited Ekofisk reservoir
formation that forms part of the Syd Ame ficld and longer term the development of the Hejre ficld, a High
Pressure/High Tempcrature (HP/HT) development that was halted by the previous operator DONG when
partially complete.

In the UK, the Group has continued to progress the compression project on the Breagh field with
commissioning now expected around the end of 2023, A well intervention campaign on the field commenced
in March 2023, and will include a side track to the A2 well and the installauon of veloeity strings on four wells
to aid ficld deliverability ahcad of compression. TotalEnergies, the operator of the Grealer Laggan Area gas
development West of Shetlands, is evaluating further investment opportunities 1o extend the life of the project
including sanctioning the development of the Glendronach ficld and undertaking a 4D seismic survey to
identify unswcpt gas accumulations that could be targeted with infill drilling.

In respect of the Automotive business the Group will continue to ramp up production capabilities and sales
volumes of the Grenadier during 2023, with expectations of achicving mature run rates during Q4, 2023 and
into 2024. The Asian markct continues to represent a significant un-tapped opportunity for the business, which
is currently under management review. The Group has committed to the development of a battery electric 4x4
off-road vehicle over the next few years, and is also currently exploring the feasibility of future zero-emission
models for the Grenadier range, including a hydrogen powered fuel cell electric vehicle and other battery
clectric vehicle concepts.

Finally the Group will continue to pursue its sustainability agenda and has committed to reducing its carbon
emissions by 33%, (compared to 2019 levels) by 2030 and be Net Zero by 2050 in line with EU policy. The
sustainability strategy of the Group is described in the sustainability section in the Directors’ Report.

Principal risks and wncertainties

The management of the business and the execution of the Group’s strategy are subject to a number of risks.
Management undertakes an annual risk identification and assessment process to identify the key business risks
affecting the Group. The key business risks affecting the Group which were identified within this risk
assessment process are set out below:

s  The petrochemical industry is cyclical — changing market demands and prices may negatively affect
the Group's operaling margins and impair its cash flow which, in tum, couid affect its ability to make
payments on its debt or to make further investments in the business.

e  Production and reserve access — the delivery of the Group’s oil and gas production depends on
cfficient and reliable operation of existing fields and the successful development of future
opportunitics and projects. Unsuccessful exploration activity and increasing technical challenges and
capital commitments may adverscly affect the Group’s reserve replacement. The Group also faces
numerous challenges including uncertain geology, availability of technology and engineering
capacity, availability of skilled reseurces, maintaining project schedules and managing costs. Such
potential obstacles may impair the Group's operational performance and financial position. The Group
mitigates these risks by applying best practice to its operations and actively manage non-technical
risks across a portfolio of opportunities and projects.

e  Raw materials and suppliers — if the Group is unable to pass on increascs in raw material prices, or to
retain or replace its key suppliers, its results of operations may be negatively affected.

e Intemational operations and currency fluctuations — the Group is exposed to currency fluctuation
risks as well as to economic downturns and local business risks in several different countries that
could adversely affect its profitability.

s  Competition — significant competition in the Group's industries, whether through efforts of new and
current competitors or through consolidation of existing customers, may adversely affect its
competitive position, sales and overall operations.

e [nability to maximize utilization of assets — the Group may be adversely affected if it is unable to
implement its strategy to maximize utilization of assets.

* Synergies — the Group may not realize anticipated revenue and cost synergies, benefit from
anticipated business opportunitics or experience anticipated growth from any of its acquisitions.
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e Qutbreaks of disease — the outbreak of contagious diseases may have a negative impact on the
Group’s business and performance, and an adverse impact on the global economy generally. During
the coursc of 2021 and into 2022, the Group has managed the outbreak of the COVID-19 coronavirus
by implementing various measures to ensure the safety of employees and the ongoing operation of the
plants.

e  Substantial debt — the Group’s substantial debt could adversely affect its financial position and
prevent it from fulfilling its debt obligations.

s Cyber security — a cyber incident could occur and result in information theft, data corruption,
operational disruption and/or financial loss.

* (Climate change — existing and proposed regulations to address climate change by limiting greenhouse
gas emissions may cause us 1o incur significant additional operating and capitai expenses. In addition
compliance with new regulation could limit the useful economic life of our plants, lead to a reduction
in demand for fossit fucl derived preducts and result in a lack of competitiveness if our competitors
develop new technologies.

= Regulation — the Group is highly regulated and may have substantial obligations and liabilities arising
from health, safety, security and environmental (“HSSE”) laws, regulations and permits applicable to
our operations.

» Customers — the Group is subjcct to the risk of loss resulting from non-payment or non-performance
by our customers. OQur credit procedures and policies may not be adequate to minimize or mitigate
customer credit risk. Our customers may experience financial difticulties, including bankruptcies,
resttuctunings and liguidations.

* Employees — the success ot the Group depends on the continued service of certain key personnel and
on good relations with our workforce as any significant disruption could adversely affect the Group.

« Joint ventures — somc of the Group’s petrochemical facilities are owned and operated in joint
ventures with third parties. We do not control these joint ventures, and actions taken by our joint
venfure partners in respect of these joint ventures could materially adversely affect our business.

»  Brand launch — the Group is launching the Grenadier, a new 4x4 off-road vehicle which is a new
product in a sector where it does not have existing brand presence. The ability of the Group to
cstablish the brand and connect with its customer basc will affect its sales, market share and
profitability.

Section 172 (1) statement
The dircctors have the duty under section 172 to promote the success of the Group for the benefit of

stakcholders as a whole and remain conscious of the impact their decisions have on employees, communities,
suppliers, customers, investors and the environment. In the performance of its duty to promote the success of
the Group and fairness in decision making the Board have regard (amongst other matters) for:

the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

the interests of the Group’s employees;

the necd to foster the Group’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

the impact of the Group’s operations on the community and the environment;

the desirability of the Group maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and

me an THs

the need to act fairly as between members of the Group.
The Group's governance and processes are operated to ensurc that all relevant matters are considered by the
Board in its principal decision-making, as a means of contributing to the delivery of the Group's long-term
success, which are discussed below,

Long term factors (a)
The Group’s principal objectives are to maintain its position as a key global supplier of its products and to

increase the value of INEOS by generating strong, sustainable, and growing cash flows across industry cycles.
To achieve these objectives, the Group has the following key strategies:

10
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Maintain health, safety, security, and environmental excellence;

Maintain and grow the Group's leadership positions to enhance competitiveness;
Reduce costs and realise syncrgies,

Maximisc utilisation of assets;

Access advantaged feedstock and energy opportunities; and

Develop and implement a sustainable business.

-0 oo o

The Group aims to operate and develop its business in a way that supports both the current and future needs,
taking into account relevant economie, environmental, and social factors. This enables the Group to sustain the
business for the long term. The directors strongly believe that sustainable business management and practices
will contribute to long-term business success and will strengthen the Group’s leading position in the market
and also in a circular world. The direclors ensure that the Group has sufficient resources to support its long-
term growth strategy and to fund its investments, An important element is the Group’s long-term cash and
operational planning in relation to the capital requirements needed to grow and to extend the life span of the
assets. The directors consider available and required funds as a basis for any dividend under its distribution

policy.
Stakeholder considerations (b ~ ¢)

Engaging stakeholders and developing meaningful partnerships is essential for long-term business success. The
Group engages in regular, open, and proactive dialogue with all relevant stakeholders as this is needed 1o
understand their perspectives, expectations, concerns, and nceds. For example in many instances suppliers are
located on the same chemical parks which helps develop partnerships, facilitate discussions as well as reduce
waste, inefficiency. The Group also works with trade unions and have open and censtructive discussions as
well as investing in training programmes to continue to develop employees at all levels of the organisation. In
this way, the Group is able to integrate stakeholder’s considerations into busincss decision-making processes.
Dialogue with stakeholders gives the Group the opportunity to explain its clear and committed approach to
sustainability as well as the value of the Group’s work, products and services for society.

Key stakeholders contribute to the Group’s economic, social, and environmental performance. Stakeholders
include customers, suppliers, cmployees, investors, financial cxperts and rating agencies, local communities,
industry associations, NGOs, scientific institutions, universities, government, and value chain partners. The
Group is very conscious of having a sustainable business, so INEOS produces an annual sustainability report
which aligns with the Global Reporting Initiative (GR1) framework and focuses on the issues most material to
the Group and its stakcholders. The report focuses on seven key areas, being:

Climate change — advancing the transition te net zero;

Circular economy — maximising resource efficiency and climinating waste;
Zero pollution — driving progress towards sustainable chemical value chains;
Qur people — prioritising workplace health and safety (SHE) and fairess;
Pcople in our value chain — safeguarding conditions and human rights;
People in our communities — respecting and supporting local communities;
Govemance — maintaining the highest standard of ethics and compliance.

Mo A e

These matters are considered by the directors in making decisions and in assessing the long-term viability of
the business.

The Group is committed to maintaining a workplace that is safe, professional, and supportive of teamwork and
trust. The Group is committed to creating and sustaining a work environment of mutual trust where all
employees are treated with respect and dignity, compensated fairly based on local market conditions, and are
entitled to adequate working hours. The Group value diversity of its people and each of its employees is
recognised as an important member of the team.
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The Group is committed to protecting and maintaining the quality of the environment and to promoting the
health and safety of its employces, contractors, suppliers, customers, visitors, and the communities in which it
operates. For example INEOS is a signatory to the Intemational Council of Chemical Associations’ (ICCA)
Responsible Care Global Charter which demonstrates the Company’s commitment to strengthening chemicals
management systems, safeguarding people and the environment, and working towards sustainable solutions
through our value chain, Compliance with all legislation intended to protect people, property and the
environment is one of the Group’s fundamental priorities and applies to its products as well as to its processes.
Management lead by example and allocate the required resources to achicve excellence in SHE performance.

The need to act fairly as between members of the Group (f)

The Group has a single sharcholder and a single ultimate controlling party. Their intcrests are taken into
account by the directors to promote faimess in decision making.

Principal decisions
The Group has made a number of principal decisions in the year ended 31 December 2022, including:

The repayment of the Term Loans A facilities ahead of their terms.

Investment in capital and sustainability projects such as a project to fuel switch to hydrogen at the Hull site
in the United Kingdom, the development of a newly hydrogen business and the launch of Project Circle to
treat PVC from various post-consumer waste streams that are difficult to recycle mechanically in INEOS
Inovyn, the development of a pilot piant 1o develop Infinia, a technelogy which will enable currently
unrecyclable PET plastic waste to be transtformed back into new, virgin-quality feedstocks.

® Signatyre of an agrecment with Sinopec to reshape the Group production and technology of ABS in China
and build a total of 1,800 ktpa of new capacities through three joint-ventures to meet the rapidly growing
local demand.

e In 2021, afinal investment decision was taken on the Breagh Onshore Compression Project, which will be
located at the Teesside Gas Processing Plant (TGPP), Management engaged with the Breagh Joint Venture
Partner who was fully supportive of progressing the capital project. In addition, it was necessary to seck
consent from the Qil & Gas Authority (now the North Sea Transition Authority} for additional drilling, who
were fully supportive and approved the necessary Field Development Plan Addendum. Work continued to
progress on the project in 2022 and through to 2023.

* The Greensand Carbon Capture Storage (“CCS™) project is a consortium formed to develop a plan to safely
and permanently store, in a cost effective manner, up to 8 million tonnes of CO2 per annum, in the Siri
area, after the fields have ceased production. Continuing into phase 2 of the project, the use of the Nini
West reservoir as an initial target for a pilot project was matured in 2022. Maturation of the full-scale
project is ongoing and work will continue in 2023 to finalise regulatory matters and commercial
agreements ahead of potential future investments.

« Effective 26 May 2022, a new 25% Energy Profits Levy {“EPL") on the profits of oil and gas companies
has been implemented charging an additional 25% tax on UK oil & gas profits. Management have
considered the implications of EPL in line with the Group’s cash requircments and planned capital
expenditures.

e The Solsort West Lobe development project was approved with the joint venture partners in September
2022. Operational preparations and procurement of long lead items continues into the first half of 2023
with a target to commence drilling activities in mid-2023.

» On 5 April 2022, due to cscalating costs on the new energy project caused by delays due to COVID
working restrictions and impact to commodity prices, management took the decision to temporarily
suspend the project.

The commencement of series production for model year 2023 of the Grenadier.

e The signing of a development contract for the battery electric vehicle.

The principal decisions are defined to be decisions taken in the Group that are of a strategic nature and

sighificant 1o any of the Group’s key stakeholder groups. The Directors have engaged with key sharcholder and
stakeholder groups through a variety of means and stakeholder inicrests were considered in decision-making.
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Key performance indicators (“KPIs™)
The Group uses a number of financial and non-financial key performance indicators (“KPIs”) to measure

performance, which are monitored against budget and the prior year.

The main financial KPI for the business is earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation,
exceptional items and net fair value gains or losses on commodity derivatives and after the share of
profit/(loss} of associated undertakings and joint ventures using the equity accounting method ("EBITDA
before exceptional items"). EBITDA before exceptional items for the Group for the year ending 31 December
2022 was €2,942.7 million (2021; €3,984,1 million). The Group also closely monitors fixed costs against
budget and prior year.

The Group uses a number of other non-financial key performance indicators to measure performance including
health, safety and environmental (“SHE") metrics such as Occupational Safety and Health Administration
(“OSHA") incident and injury rates to measure the safe working of employees and contractors.

Other KPIs include monitoring the reliability of operating assets and working capital ratios of the Group.

Approved and signed on behalf of the Board:

G Leask
Director
3 July 2023
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The directors present their report and audited consolidated and company financial statements of the Group and
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022,

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of a range of chemicals used in a variety of
applications, the exploration, development and production of natural gas, the decvelopment of ifs automotive
business and various sporting ventures.

Future developmeats
Future developments are discussed in the Strategic Report.

COVID-19 and the Ukraine conflict
The Group continue 1o implement contingency plans for the COViD-19 pandemic, with the primary objective
of maintaining the safety of personnel and the reliable operation of the Group’s plants.

The chemical industry is deemed as cssential, critical infrastructure by governments across the world.
Throughout the pandemic all of the Group’s plants have continued to operate fully and supply chains have
operated without significant disruption. Protecting employees and ensuring that they remain healthy has been
the first priority of the Group. All plants have sufficient resources and have implemented measures to ensure
that this remains the casc throughout the pandemic.

The Group does not have operations in Belarus, Russia or Ukraine. During 2021 and 2022 revenue generated
in these countries was not material to the Group. The Group are not currently experiencing any material
disruption to its operations and does not foresce any direct impact as a result of the conflict, but will continue
to monitor the evolving situation closely.

Whilst there is still uncertainty due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the disruption on the energy market
resulting from the conflict in Ukraine, the directors have undertaken a rigorous assessment of the potential
impact on demand for the Group’s products and services and the impact on margins for the next 12 months and
the directors do not expect a material impact on the Group’s ability to operate as a going concern.

Going concern
The Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and approved by the Board of
Directors in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards.

The Group and meets its day to day working capital requirements through its iniercompany loan and external
financing facilitics, along with cash generated by its subsidiaries’ operations. The Group held cash balances of
€2,525.8 million at 31 December 2022 (2021: €1,987.5 million) and gross cxternal loans and borrowings of
€6,798.8 million at 31 Deccember 2022 (2021: €7,090.6 million) ot which €369.6 million 1s duc to be repaid
within 12 months of the balance sheet date. The directors have considered the Group’s projected future cash
flows and working capital requirements and are confident that the Group has sufficient cashflows to meet its
working capital requirements for the next twelve months from the date of signing the financial statements.

In particular, the directors have stress tested the forecasts through taking account of reasonable possible
changes in trading performance on the impact on EBITDA before exceptional items, cash flow and debt. The
stress tests show that the Group will not defauit against any of its debt covenants and will still have sufficient
cash flow to meet all of its obligations as they fall due within the next 12 months from the date of signing the
financial statements.

On the basis of this assessment together with nct assets of €1,654.9 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: net
liabilities of €{5.7) million) and the Group’s ability 10 meet working capital requirements through its external
financing facilities, along with access to cash generated by its subsidiaries, the directors have concluded that
the Group can operate within its current facilities without the need to obtain new ones for a period of at least 12
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months from the date of this report and have therefore prepared these financial statements on a going concern
basis in accordance with the Companics Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards 1n the United Kingdom.

Financial risk management

The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks that include the effects of changes in price risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group has in place a risk management programme that
seeks to limit the adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group where appropriate. The Group is
exposed W commrodily prive risk as a result of its operations and seeks to mitigate this risk through various
purchasing strategies. The Group manages its credit exposures with a set of policies for ongoing credit checks
on potential and current customers or counterpartics. Sce Note 24 of the financial statements for information on
financial instruments, interest risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk.

Research and development

The Group’s research and development tcam develops new applications for its higher margin and less cyclical
speciality chemicals, provides support to the Group’s customers and seeks to improve the efficiency of the
Group’s manufactiring processes. The research and development team also leads the Group’s efforts with
respect to the development and capacity expansions of the plants and mamntaining and improving safety and
environmental standards. The rescarch and development tcam has also continued to develop the Group’s first
automotive product, a 4x4 off-road vehicle named the Grenadier. The Group spent €355.2 million (2021:
€353.1 million) on research and development during the year of which €119.0 million (2021: €209.2 million)
was capitalised.

Dividends
The directors of the Company have proposed and paid a dividend of €21.0 million during the year (2021: €19.5
million). The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2021: €nil).

Political and charitable contributions

As part of its ongoing investment programme, INEOS Industries Limited and its subsidiaries actively support a
varicty of initiatives in communities in which it operates. Charitable donations made during the year amounted
to €25.6 million (2021: €23.1 million) for a varicty of charitablc purposes. Neither the Company nor its
subsidiary undertakings made any donations or subscriptions for political purposes.

Directors
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signing of the financial statements were as
follows:

Mr G Leask
Mr J Ginns

Employees

The Group places considerable importance on communication with employees. This is to ensure that
employees at all levels of the organisation are kept aware of key business developments, and in particular
financial performance, so as to focus attention on key performance metrics. Town Hall sessions, virtual in 2020
and in the future at each site, once the COVID pandemic allows travel, are held at various points in the year
that are hosted by members of the Executive Commiittee, regional leadcrship teams and site management.
Business news items are also communicated in local language to the organisation either via cascade or direct to
individuals via email, Bulletin Boards and Intranet facilities. Work groups in the manufacturing areas have
daily “toolbox talks™ that cover SHE, critical operational items for the day and business developments. The
Group undertakes employee surveys on a regular basis and there are action plans in place to address issues
arising.

INEOS is committed to an environment where open, honest commurnications are the expectation, not the
exception. There is encouragement to discuss issues with line managers or other managers. In addition, there is
an “INEOS Speak Up!” service for those employees wishing to report more serious unethical or improper
behaviour, The Group has regard to employees’ interests and take employee views info account when making
decisions.
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The Group operates in full accordance with prevailing employment legislation including information and
consultation with employees and their representatives on matters affecting their interests. Outside of any
nccessary formal consultation process, there are regular briefings between the Company and the Works
Councils/Trade Union bodies in cach region.

The Group facilitates a number of schemes designed to encourage employees to deliver key business targets.
This includes a discretionary Short-Term Incentive Plan and a Long-Term Incentive Plan, both of which are
designed to focus attention on key arcas of performance such as SHE, EBITDA before exceptionals, working
capital, plant reliability and fixed costs.

It is the Group’s practice to give full and fair consideration to applications for employment reccived from
disabled persons, subject to the Group’s requirements and to the qualifications, abihity and aptitude of the
individual in each case. In the cvent of employees becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure their
continued employment with the Group and to provide suitable adjustments to the workplace where appropriate.

The Group continually strives to mect, and where possible, excecd all relevant legal requirements applying to
safety, health and the environment. It is committed to continuous improvement in all aspects of its operations.
Through its Safety, Health, Environment Quality (“SHEQ™) Policy, the Group aims to be amongst the
chemical industry leaders in health, safety, environmental protection and customer satisfaction, ensuring that
products meet socicty's increasing environmental requirements. Specifically the Group works to two guiding
principles. The first being to protect the health and safcty of its employees; the communities in which it
opcrates; and the users of its products. Secondly, the Group seeks to minimise the effects on the environment
from its operations; storage; transport; use and disposal of its products. The Group manages Safety, Health and
the Environment (“SHE™) as an integral part of its activities through s formal management system that sets
clear SHE standards/targets and monitors performance against them. It requires all members of staff (and
others who work on its behalf) to adhere to the standard in the SHE Management System and to exercisc
persanal responsibility to prevent harm to themselves, others and the environment. Comprehensive SHE
information and training is provided to all employees, with SHE objectives set for every individual cach year
through the performance appraisal process. SHE targets also feature in the Group's discretionary Business
Bonus Scheme. Appropriate SHE information and training is also provides to other who work for the Group,
handle its products or operate its technologies. The Group also participates in industry wide responsible care
and sustainable development activities.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The Group is classified as a large unquoted group due to its size and shareholding structure. The reporting
boundary for this Energy and Carbon report is INEOS Industries Limited and all its subsidiaries that are
individually above the relevant de minimum reporting threshold as laid out in the “The Companies (Directors’
Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations 2018°. The figures
provided below represent emissions related to activities undertaken within the UK and offshore area.

2022 12021
Total energy consumption used to calculate emission (KwH)Y ... 10,139,315,558 10,381,660,177
Emissions from combustion of gas (tCO2e) - Scope 1 ... 1,694,874 1,710,191
Emissions from combustion of fuel from transport purposes (1C0O2e) — Sc.opc Vo 2,337 2,586
Emissions from business travel in rental cars or employee-owned vehicles where
company is responsible for purchasing the fuel (t(CO2e) - Scope 3 ... - -
Emissions from purchased electricity (tCQ2e) - Scope 2 594,919 720,198
Total gross CO2e based on the above {tCO2e) ............. e e 2,292,630 2,432.975
tCO2e per € Imillion Of FeVENUE. ...t e 109 138

We have followed “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol — A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” and
financial control approach in the production of these figures and have used the latest available emission factors
in accordance with the GHG protocol’s data hierarchy.
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Health and safety

Our facilities and operations are subject to a wide range of health, safety, security and environmental (“HSSE™)
laws and regulations in all of the jurisdictions in which we operate. These requirements govern, among other
things, the manufacture, storage, handling, treatment, transportation and disposal of hazardous substances and
wasles, wastewater discharges, air emissions (including GHG cmissions), noise emissions, human health and
safety, process safety and risk management and the clean-up of contaminated sites. Many of our operations
require permits and controls to monitor or prevent pollution. We have incurred, and will continue to incur,
substantial ongoing capital and operating expenditures to ensure compliance with current and future HSSE
laws, regulations and permits or the more stringent enforcement of such requirements.

Qur operations are currently in material compliance with all HSSE laws, regulations and permits. We actively
address compliance issues in connection with our operations and properties and we belicve that we have
systems in place to ensure that environmental costs and liabilities will not have a material adverse impact on
us.

Sustainability

Improving the sustainability of our business and operations is central to the way INEOS work. Tt is of eritical
importance to its employees, to its partners and customers, to the communities in which it operate, and to its
investors.

INEOS sustainability strategy is to devclop and safely manufacture the products needed to address the cvolving
challenges of climate change, public health, resource scarcity, urbanisation and wastc in a way which drives us
all towards a net zcro cmissions economy by 2050. INEOS will do so whilst reducing the impact of its
operations, It is built on six key pillars:

Excellence in Safety Health & the Environment (SHE)

[.

2. Climate change - delivery of a net zero busincss

3. Circular Economy — maximising the re-usc and recycle of our products

4. People — ensuring an equal opportunity environment in which a diverse team of people can flourish
and deliver the innovations we need

5. Communities and the Natural Environment — cnhance the communities in which we operate

6. Governance — rigorously sustaining the highest standards oof ethics and compliance

The efforts on sustainability, including targets, reporting of Green House Gas (GHG) and other emissions, of
energy and water usage, and of waste generation, are published in our INEOS wide 2022 Sustainability Report
(https://www.ineos.com/sustainability/sustainability-rcports), which is aligned with the framework described in
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI}. and UN sustainable development goals. Two key prioritics, Climaie
Changc and the Circular Economy, are summarised below.

Climate Change

Following the Paris Climate Agreement of 2015, most nation states have rccognised the threat posed by
climate changc and have set the goal 10 achieve a net zero emission economy by 2050 and are adopting
regulations and legislation to support this objective.

In response, INEOS implemented management of the risks posed by climate change to each of its businesses
and the potential new business opportunitics and threats arising from the transition. The assessments will be
regularly updated in the context of three the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) climate
change scenarios in which temperature rise compared to the pre-industrial period is limited to 2 C or less, 2-4.5
C and 5-8.5 C respectively
{https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGII_Chapter03.pdf ). An INEOS-wide
target has been set to achieve 33% reduction in GHG emissions by 2030 (compared to 2019) and net zero
emissions by 2050. In line with this, INEOS Quattro businesses have each developed a roadmap which outlines
plans and key actions required to deliver the 2030 target of 33% reduction. INEOS wide, the company has
earmarkcd over €6 billon capital investment to support the delivery of targets.
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Actions include the following:
Continuous improvement of energy and process efficiency

INEOS is working aggressively across al! its business and sites to make important reductions in energy use and
associated GHG emissions, Optimisation projects vary widely, from finding new ways of improving
process efficiency to innovative solutions for heat or power integration, including waste heat
valorisations.

The INEOS Inovyn business has a salt plant upgrade project in Tavaux, France which utilises best-in-class
mechanical vapour recompression unit technology. The project is expected to be completed in 2024 and will
reduce steamn consumption by 360 kilo tonnes per annum which is equivalent to reducing the Tavaux site’s
footprint by 16%. Water consumption will also be reduced by 6%. The North Star project in Norway was
commissioned in 2020 and consisted of major debottlenecking activities across both the electrochemical and
VCM assets. This project has reduced steam consumption by 80 kilo tonnes annually.

The Aromatics business’ PTA technology allowed the latest PTA plant in Zhuhai to reduce GHG emissions by
65%., water discharge by 75% and solid waste disposal by 95% compared to conventional technologies.

The Acetyls business is continuing to roll out its retrofit of world leading CATIVA XL acetic acid production
technology to its global assets. This technology package allows Acclyls plants to produce acid with 80% less
heat input and 50% less electricity than generic technology. As part of this INEOS’ innovative High Pressurc
Offgas Reinjection technology has now been rolled out to all applicable plants. This recycles carbon that was
previously incinerated and re-injects it into the process where it is instead captured and reacted into product,
reducing GHG emissions and reducing natural gas usage.

Investment in green hydrogen and biue hydrogen for use as a fuel on sites and as a feedstock

The Acetyls business is undertaking a project to fuel switch to hydrogen at Hull site, the United Kingdom. The
sitc has a large demand for heat that can only be met by buming fuel. Currently, this is donc with natural gas,
resulting in over 350,000 tonnes of CO2 being emitted every year. The project will enable Hull assets to switch
to using its own clean hydrogen instead of natural gas. Burning hydrogen will not release any CO2,
dccarbonising the site. This fuel switching will reduce scope | emissions by about 80%, which is the
equivalent of taking about 140,000 petrol cars off the road. The business will create a centre of expertise in
hydrogen fuel switching, allowing further work to decarbonise Acetyls’ global assets. This fuel switch project
is also part of a wider roadmap for the Hull site which will see it become the world’s first net-zero acetic acid
production site by 2030.

The INEOS Tnovyn business intends to build a new 20MW electrolyser to produce clean hydrogen through the
electrolysis of water, powered by zero-carbon electricity in Norway. This project will lead to a minimum
reduction of an estimated 22,000 tonnes of CO2 per year by reducing the carbon footprint of INEQS®
operations at Rafnes and serving as a hub to provide hydrogen to the Norwegian transport sector. The business
is also carrying out a feasibility study to make green hydrogen for use at the Koln site and are participating
with partners in Antwerp to develop an open access hydrogen network.

Additionally, INEOS Inovyn has developed a newly formed hydrogen business for use in feedstocks, fuels and
transportation, heating and power gencration.

Increased purchase of renewable energy fo substitute for fossil derived energy of renewable energy

Across the whole INEOS Group, power purchase agreements for about 570 MW renewable energy have
already been signed to reduce the dependence on fossil-based energy sources.

Use of bio-based feedstocks to reduce dependency on fossil-based materials and deliver bio-based products

The Styrolution business offers the integration of renewable feedstock as a replacement for fossil fuel in
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upstream existing petrochemical installations. Tn 2020, it launched the world’s first specialty styrenics
materials made using renewable feedstock within the value chain. The renewable feedstock sources are
certified by the International Sustainability and Carbon Certification to assess that they are managed and
attributed in accordance with their sustainability criteria.

The INEOS Inovyn business is developing certified bio-attributed vinyl resins (Biovyn®) as well as bio-based
epichlorohydrin (Reodrin®) used for the manufacture of epoxy resins. These products, whilst still relatively
niche, can provide almost carbon neutral products providing up to 90% of GHG savings when compared wit
vonvenliondl nater ials and volumes are expected to grow wnt the coming years.

INEOS Encrgy recognises the scientific consensus on climate change and is committed to reduce its own
emissions and, as part of the wider Oil and Gas industry, will continue to play a vital role in delivering low-
carbon solutions. As part of its commitment to energy transition, the Group has continued to invest in Project
Greensand. The Greensand Carbon Capture Storage (“CCS8™) project is a consortium formed to develop a plan
to safely and permanently store, in a cost effective manner, up to 8 million tonnes of CO2 per annum, in the
Siri area, after the fields have ccased production. Continuing into phase 2 of the project, the use of the Nini
West reserveir as an initial target for a pilot project was matured in 2022, The scope included material testing,
core lab experiments, further modelling of an offshore CO2 injection trial in the Nini West reservoir and
seismic dala acquisition operations. The pilot project, including offshore and seismic acquisition operations,
were planned for the first quarter of 2023, Maturation of the full-scale project is ongoing and work will
continue in 2023 t¢ finalise regulatory matters and commercial agreements ahead of potential future
investments.

The Automotive business is monitoring legislative and market responses to climate change in global
jurisdictions. The business is also actively engaged in the development of a new 4x4 off-road battery electric
powered vehicle as a second model to complement the existing Grenadier model, which is expected to launch
in global markets in 2026, INEOS Automotive has also devetoped a hydrogen fuel cell electric vehicle to
demonstrate the capability of this technology for use in the Grenadier 4x4 off-road vchicle in the future. At
cur manufacturing site in Hambach, France, the business is currently investing in a Biomass plant, which
significantly reduces the site’s consumption of natural gas, as well as rc-usable packaging, which reduces
waste.

Product and the circular economy

INEQS believes that its products already make a critical contribution to society by providing the most
sustainable options for a wide range of socictal needs. Examples include preservation of food and clean water;
provision of wind turbines, solar panels and other renewable technologies, construction of lighter and more
efficient vehicles and aircraft, production of medical devices and applications, manufacture of clothing and
apparel, materials for insulation and other industrial and home applications. Studies suggest that if polymers
and plastics were to be replaced to the maximum extent in applications where they can be substituted, overall
life-cycle greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions would increase by more than 50%
(https://denkstatt.eu/download/15971/).

However. it is generally accepted that a move towards a more circular economy. in which materials are reused
and recycled Lo their maximum extent, is an important component of a more sustainable climate neutral
economy. In certain regions, for example Europe and the UK, legislation is under development to incentivize
recycling of materials, especially for packaging products. The Group has therefore commiticd to achieving the
following INEOS-wide targets by 2025.

»  Offer a range of polyolefin products for packaging applications in Europe containing 50% or
more recycled content.

= Incorporate at least 325 kta of recycled material into products.
= Ensure 100% of our polymer products can be recycled.

In addition, a new INEOS wide target to incorporate 825 kt of recycled or bio-sourced material into INEOS
products by 2030.
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In line with these objectives, in 2019, the Styrolution busincss introduced INEOS Styrolution ECO, a new
family of sustainablc products. Tt comprises products made from post-consumer recycled material as well as
renewablc feedstock and complements the existing portfolio of styrenics standard products and specialties.
The Styrolution business has demonstrated the advanced recycling capabilities of polystyrene with the first
production of polystyrene from styrene monomet made only of depelymerised material. This technology
facilitates a full recycling loop for plastics, which is expected to be applicable even to food applications.
Through a partnership with Indaver, a leading European waste management company, the business will benefit
from their demo-plant for advanced recycling, where polystyrene waste will be recycled to purified styrene.
Based in Antwerp, this demo-installation is expected to be operational in 2024,

For ABS standard, the Styrolution busincss has developed mechanically recycled grades containing 50% or
70% comprising post-consumer recycled material that are commercially available today. These products meet
the performance and quality levels of virgin materials. Tt has also established co-operations to secure high
quality waste for polystyrene and ABS feedstock.

The Styrolution business is also leading a consortium to advance the production of ABS from recycled
feedstock through a project called “ABSolutely Circular”. The project was accepted by the EU LIFE
programme, the European Unicon funding instrument for the environment and resource efficiency and received
funding.

INEOS Inovyn continues to have a pivotal role in the European-wide VinylPlus® voluntary industry initiative
which commits to 900 and 1,000 kilo tonnes of PVC recycling across Europe by 2025 and 2030, respectively.

INEOS Inovyn has also launched Project Circle which aims to treat PVC from various post-consumer waste
streams that are difficult, if not impossible to recycle mechanically. These technologies will enable waste
polymers containing PVC-rich waste to be to be broken down to their constituent components and then
reformed back into polymers, This will enable a much wider range of waste matcrials to be re-incorporated
into polymer manufacturing, reduce GHG emissions and provide an improved outlet for waste polymers, We
are also working with partners to implement new technelogies to cnable easier sorting of end-of-life polymers.

The Aromatics business has developed Infinia, a technology which will enable currently unrecyclable PET
plastic waste - such as black food trays and coloured bottles — to be diverted from tandfill or incineration and
instead transformed back into new, virgin-quality feedstocks. The new feedstocks are interchangeable with
those made from traditional hydrocarbon sources and can be used to make new PET packaging that can be
recycled again and again.

Infinia is complementary to mechanical recycling, dealing with PET waste that is currently difficult or
impassiblc to process using mechanical methods. A new pilot plant, located in Naperville, Illinois, has been
commissioned to prove the technology on a continuous basis. Tf deployed at scale in several facilitics the
technology has the potential to prevent billions of PET bottles and trays from ending up in landfill or
incineration every year,

Sustainability governance

The Chief Executive of each of the four businesses of the Group is accountable for development of a strategy
and plans to ensure that the business remains sustainable in the longer term. The strategy is reviewed annually
with the shareholders. Each business sets targets annually based on its business plan. Progress against targets is
reported and reviewed at Exccutive Committee {EXCO) meetings with the sharcholders at least six times per
year.

In addition to the above, Business Divisions are subject to INEOS wide targets set by the Shareholders for
Safety, Health & Environment, Green House Gas reductions, and, for the Polymers businesses, recycling
targets.

In addition to formal governance processes, INEOS operates a Climate and Energy Network (CEN) which
helps ensure coordination across all INEOS businesses on carbon, energy and resource matters. Cross business
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CEN teams sharc information and best practicc on policy, advocacy, external developments, ncw business
vpporlunities and innovation. 'he network also assembles data from the different businesses to provide
business and INEOS wide views on GHG emissions, energy usage, water usage, and waste. The network has
more than 1,000 active members across all businesses.

Summary of visks

Management has in place a number of actions to mitigate against climate and climate related risks, as well as
other risks associated with developing legislation on sustainability and reporting. A summary of responses to

key risks 1s summarised below.

PERCEIVED RISKS

ACTIONS

Transition to net zero risks

Management has committed to net zero and intermediate targets
based on practical business roadmaps which contain actions to
reduce GHG emissions whilst sustaining business profitability.
Management has identified new business opportunitics, ¢.g. green
and blue hydrogen, biobased products and recycied products.
Management is investing in technologies for new producis such as
recycled products and bio-based products to meet growing consumer
demand for these lower carbon materials.

Management is acquiring more renewable energy and is investing in
new assets, technologies, and infrastructure to reduce the carbon
footprint of its products in linc with evolving customer and
consumer demands.

Policy and Legal transition risks

Management monitors evolving government policies and
regulations, both independently and through its membership of
industry associations, to ensure that plans and actions stay ahead of
developing legislation.

Management has in place strict policies on ethical and legislative
matters, and has implemented the appropriate governance and
tratning mechanisms to ensure full compliance.

Market transition risks e.g.
changing consumer trends
resulting in products and
services becoming obsolete

Management believes that its current chemical and polymer portfolio
provides products which arc essential to support the transition to a
net zero economy by providing the most sustainable options for a
wide number of industrial and consumer applications.

Management has set business wide targets consistent with legislation
intended to drive the development of a circular economy.
Management is investing in technologies for new products such as
recycled products and bio-based products to meet growing consumer
demand for these materials.

Management has a policy for sustainable procurement to ensure that
it acquires feedstocks and other materials of increasingly lower
carbon footprint.

Management is acquiring more rencwable energy and is investing in
new assets, technologies, and infrastructure to reduce the carbon
footprint of its products in line with evolving customer and
consumer demands.
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PERCEIVED RISKS

ACTIONS

Financing risks

1. Management has committed to net zero and intermediate targets
based on practical business roadmaps which combine GHG
emissions reduction with sustainment of business profitability and
addition of new busincss opportunities, ¢.g. green and blue
hydrogen, biobased products and recycle products.

2. Management has incorporated the forward cost of carbon in Europe
and potentially elsewhere into its capital investment decision
making.

3. Management aspires to Zero accidents in the workplace and has in
place the policies targets, controls and audit systems to ensure the
highest possible standards with regards ta safety and the
environment.

4, Management has significantly increased public disclosure on ESG
issues, including provision of a detailed and public sustainability
report, and has attained favourable ESG assessments from
ECOVADIS relative to peers.

5. INEQS is a recognised respondent to CDP.

Acute physical risks e.g.
extreme weather events causing
damage to equipment and
supply chain disruption

1. Management 1s assessing risks to operations against three [PCC
developed climate change scenarios — high, intermediate and low
temperature rises.

2. Management has ensured that equipment and plant is designed to
withstand extreme weather conditions as currently expected, and
will continuc to do so in the futurce.

3. Management has developed multiple fecdstock and sales options to
provide resilience to supply chain disruptions.

Reputation transition risks e.g.
damage to reputation through
failure to transition effectively
to a lower-carbon economy

1. Management has announced the target to achieve net zero and is
devcloping intermediate targets based on practical business
roadmaps which contain actions to reduce GHG emissions and stay
ahead of evolving regulations.

2. Management aspires to zero accidents in the workplace and has in
place the policies targets, controls and audit systems to cnsure the
highest possible standards with regards to safety and the
environment.

3. Management has significantly increased public communication and
disclosure on targets, progress against targets, and ESG issues,
including provision of a detailed and public sustainability report,

4. Management has established strong links with communitics around
INEQS sites to communicate plans and progress against objectives
and invite feedback.

5. Management has submitted the business to detailed ESG
assessments from ECOVADIS and received gold rating for the
breadth of INEQS companies.

6. INEOS is a recognised respondent to CDP.

Business relationships

The business relationships with supplicrs and customers are of strategic importance to the Directors of the
Group and their decision-making process. The business relationships of the Group are described in the Section
[72(1) statement in the Strategic Report.
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Branches outside the United Kingdom
Branches of the Group have been established in Austria, Belgium, China, France, Germany, Ttaly, Japan,
Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain aind Sweden,

Subsequent events
On 10 January 2023, the Group repaid in full the O&P UK Senior Secured Term Senior Term and Revoelving

loan Facilities.

On 14 March 2023, the Group entered into an Incremental Facility Agreement to raise a new Dollar Term Loan
B of $500.0 million (€471.6 million equivalent) and a new Euro Term Loan B of €375.0 million. The gross
proceeds received under these borrowings were used on 15 March 2023 to pay an interim dividend to the
Group’s immediate parent company of €500.0 million with the remaining proceeds used to increase the
liquidity of the Group.

The Group entered into an interest rate swap agreement in March 2023 to hedge the fair value risk in relation
to the 2030 Term Loans with the notionai principal amount of $500 million. Under this interest ratc swap
agreement, the Group will exchange the variable SOFR exposure for fixed SOFR obligations.

On 20 April 2023, the Group completed its transition from LIBOR to SOFR in relation to the Dollar Term
Loan B due 2027.

In May 2023 the Group completed the acquisition of a major tranche of Chesapeake Energy’s oil and gas
assets in the Eagle Ford shale, South Texas for $1.4 billion. The deal marks the Group’s entry as operator into
the US onshore oil and gas market, as it acquires 2,300 wells, producing net 36,000 barrels of oil equivalent
per day.

On 22 june 2023 the maturity of the loan between INEOS Holdings Limited and the Group was extended to 30
June 2026 (see Note 27).

Statement of directors” responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with

applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
direclors have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
international accounting standards. The directors have chosen to prepare the parent company financtal
stalements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law), including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework™. Under
company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the statc of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the directors arc required to:
*  sclect suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

*  make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

+ state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departurcs disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

*  prepare the financial statements on the going concem basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

In preparing the group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:
* properly select and apply accounting policies;

e present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;
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s provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in international
accounting standards are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions,
other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

* make an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregulanities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom goveming the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors

The directors confirm that as far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
Company’s auditors are unaware and that they have taken all steps necessary as directors in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of
that information. This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provision of
5418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Independent auditor
In accordance with Section 485 of the Companies Act 2006, a resolution is to be proposed at the Annual
General Meeting for reappointment of Deloitte LLP as auditor of the Company.

Registered address
INEQCS Industries Limited
Hawkslease

Chapel Lane

Lyndhurst

Hampshire

SO43 7FG

United Kingdom

Approved and signed on behalf of the Board:

G Leask

Director

3 July 2023

Registered number 06959146
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of INEOS Industries Limited
Report on the andit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

* the financial statements of INEOS Industries Limited (the ‘parent company®) and its subsidiaries (the
‘aroup’) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 3]
December 2022 and of the group’s profit for the year then endcd;

e the group financial statcments have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
international accounting standards;

« the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced
Disclosure Framework”, and

e  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

the consolidated income statement;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

the consolidated and parent company balance sheets;

the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;
the consolidated cash flow statement:

the related notes 1 10 34 and parent company related notes 1 to 14,

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is
applicable law and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial staternents is applicable
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced
Disclosure Framework™ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilitics
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the
*FRC’s") Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors® use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any rmaterial uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements
arc authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.

Other jinformation

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained
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within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. [f we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themsclves. I, based on the work we have pertormed, we concludce that there i1s a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisficd that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary 10 ¢nable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or crror.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the
parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that inciudes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with [SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregatc, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilitics for the audit of the financial statements is localed on the FRC’s
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Trregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularitics, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud is detailed below.

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the group’s
documentation of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We
also cnquired of management and the directors about their own identification and assessment of the risks of
irregularitics, including those that are specific to the group’s business sector..

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the group operates in, and identified
the key laws and regulations that;

®  had a direct cffect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures n the financial statements.
These included UK Companies Act, pensions legislation, tax legislation, IFRS and FRS 101, as well as
laws and regulations prevailing in each country in which we identificd a full-scope component and

* do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to
the group’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included the group’s operating licences
and environmental regulations.

We discussed among the audit engagement tcam including significant component audit teams and relevant
internal specialists such as tax, valuations, pensions and IT specialists regarding the opportunities and
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incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the
financial statements.

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following area, and our
specific procedures performed to address it are described below:

s Occurrence of non-routine revenue transactions given these are more susceptible to manipulation
compared to automative routine transactions.

Our specific procedures performed to address the areas with the greatest potential for fraud include the
following procedure:

s substantive testing of manual adjustments to revenue through agreement to supporting cvidence that
verifies the occurrence of the revenue.

In common with all audits under [SAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to
the risk of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we
tested the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in
making accounting estirnates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any
significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:

& reviewing tinancial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance
with provisions of refevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial
statements;

e performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate
risks of material misstatement due to fraud;

=  enquiring of management and in-house legal counscl concerning actual and potential litigation and claims,
and instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

= reading minutes of meetings of those charged with govemance, reviewing correspondence with HMRC
and other tax authorities.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our optnion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

e the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

e the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identificd any material misstatements in the strategic report or
the directors’ report,

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
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Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part [6 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company
and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

\}c,_: A, Wl

James Leigh FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

London, United Kingdom

3 July 2023
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

REVENMUE.....ccsemrimeenicsesersnsn s tassssssssmenasmmasastsssarsnns smnases

Cost of sales before exceptional items
Exceptional cost of sales
Total cost 0F'8alES L. e e
Gross profit
DISITBULION COSLS 1v oot et oo ees e et aes e bbb

Adminisirative expenses before exceptional items ...
Exceptional adnunistrative expenses ..................
Exceptional adminiStrative Sains ... ..ot o

Total adminiStative EXPENSES ..o it e e
Other Operatingg EXPENSES ....o.vie ittt e e e e
Operating profit........eeceecennes.

Share of profit of associates and joint ventures using the equity method................
Dividends received from other investments............coooiiii i
IMpaIrmment OF INVESIITICIIES L.oeiiiiiiiiies et eee e e et a s ee e e eir s e sste e e e e ar st sss e anesssnes
Loss on disposal of iINVestments. ... e PR
Profit on disposal of businesses ...
Profit on disposal of fixed @8SEES..........ccooo i
Profit before net finance costs....
Finance income

Finance costs before exceptional items..
Exceptional finance costs...................... R OO TSV PO VPP TUR Y
Total FINANCE COSLS ..ottt ettt e e e e
Net fINANCE COST ...t e s e st s
Profit before taxation........covveererneccciirenoncannne

Tax credit/(cCharge) . eceeeceesrcsererenees

Profit for the year .

Attributable to:
OWRETS OF PACEIIL cevciiiii it e e e e ae e s e
NON-CONPOTIINEG IIEICST ...ttt ettt et e e e n s aeree e
Profit for the year

12
12
34

2022 2021
€m

21,048.1 17,6449
£17.2212.8) (13,536.8)
(223.6) {140.6)
(17,446.4) (13,677.4)
3.601.7 3.667.5
(917.9) (829.2)
(1,298.4) (792.5)
{12.2) (56.6)

- 3227
(1,310.6) (526.4)
(387.4) {697.0}
985.8 1,914.9
257.0 462.0
2.6 25

- (L.oy

26.7) .

710.3 165.4
4.6 17.5
1,933.6 2.5613
731 147.8
(475.4) (419.2)
(4.3} (52.7)
“7m9.7 (471.9)
(406.6) (324.1)
1,527.0 2,237.2
392.6 (148.3})
1,919.6 2.088.9
1.828.0 1,984.5
91.6 104.4
1,919.6 2.088.9

The notes on pages 37 to 122 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Profit for the Year s e s s sra s st

Other comprehensive (expense)/income:

Items that will not be recycled to profit or loss:

Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations, netoftax. .. ...
Share of other comprehensive income/(expense) of joint venture
Fair value (loss)ygain on investments in equity instruments designated as H/ FL)LI
Reclassification of foreign cxchange translation difference on disposal of
subsidiaries (0 profit and [08S.. ..o e s

[tems that may subsequently be recycled to profit or loss:
Foreign exchange translation differences, net ot tax...........coooceniiniiicnies

Other comprehensive (expense)income for the year, net of £aX c.envriiierenens
Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:
Owners 0f the PArenl. . ..o e e
NON-CONLFOIIIME TTETESL .o iviei e ieetiee it et et e r et e e e e ar e eene e s een

Note

12
13

34

2022 2021
€m
1,919.6 2,088.9
(83.6) 99 6
249 6.3)
(12.2) 5.8
9.8 -

(137.2) 181.9
(198.3) 281.0
1,721.3 2,369.9
1,640.8 2,263.4
80.5 106.5
1,721.3 2,369.9

The notes on pages 37 to 122 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Non-current assets

Property, plant and eqUiPIIERT. ..ot e e e e
Intangible @sSEIS ... e e e
Investments in equity-aceounted INVESIEES ..o
Other INVESHIMENTS. ..ottt e oo e et meares e e ra e e e eaemeamaae e e raesanmarns e nae
Trade and other receivables. ... ....ocooiivie e e e e s e o
Other non-current financial aSSers ..., ST
Employee Denefits ..o e s e
DEfEITEU tAX ASSELS 1eereeieririeiiseeeieieieseeesraeyenreeieeere s eesasansanrsnne paasensmssesseensnenstaransoneanes

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables..
Tax receivables..........ooceeeee.
Other financial assets
Cash and cash eqUIVEIENES .. .....cooiiiereee e e ree e saeesesaeetearase seereeee s seemea s
Restricted Cash ..o et et et e s nnn

Total assets...
Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share capital ... e e
OHET TESETVES ..oviviuivi it bt et et ettt e e e et nas
REtAINE @RITHIES - oo oot ittt et e s e ey se e ab aan 4 saraee e s spaeaeae eae 2 near e s
Total shareholders’ funds/(deficit)

NOR-COMTOMING IETEST ..o ittt e e ree e s name s mearens
Total eqUILY cevirrerveresrmeranccnssensnns

Non-current liabilities

External loans and bOITOWINES . .. ...ttt e e s
Trade and other payables........... e e e
Deferred tax Habilities ...t e e e
Employee Benefits ... ... e e e et ar e o2
Lease liabilities. ..
PrOVISIONS ..ottt ettt ettt e e e e

Current liabilities

External 10ans and BOFTOWINES ...coiiioe v e e e e e see e ee e e e e
Trade and other payables....
Lease liabilities..........

Tax payable
Other financial Habilities ... e e e e e e
PLOVISIONS .ottt e rr e e et et eetae sae e s eemta e e et mser e sone s mnrane

Tatal liabilities
Total equity and liabilities .

The notes on pages 37 to 122 are an integral part of these consolidated financial stateme:

Naote

19
11
12
12
14
13
20
15

16
14

13

17
18
15
20
25

2t

7
I8
25

19
21

2022 2021*
€m
7,431.6 7,700.9
3,0775 29523
2,078.8 1,538.1
98 18.1
713.0 588.3
25.6 381
44.2 69.3
1,519.6 8014
14,900.1 13,796.5
1753.1 1,738.0
2,426.4 32364
4727 3173
257.2 1933
2,525.8 1.987.5
339 i4.1
7,469.1 7,486.6
22,369.2 21,283.1
2,7171.5) (2,530.3)
4,.310.7 2,493.5
1,593.2 (36.8)
61.7 311
1,654.9 (5.7
6,391.8 6,871.3
6,467.6 6,080.5
401.7 471.7
2314 186.3
3831 387.8
1,550.4 1,544.2
15,426.0 15,541.8
350.0 139.8
3,763.8 4,263.4
80.2 84.9
514.9 400.1
460.4 615.0
119.0 243.8
5,2883 5,747.0
20,714.3 212888
22,369.2 21,283.1
nts.

The financial statements on pages 30 1o 122 were approved by the Board of Directors on 3 July 2023 and

signed on its behalf by:

Leask
Director
Registered number: 06959146

* To provide more informative financial information, amounts due to related parties have now been separated from external {oans and
borrowings on the balance sheer. Accordingly, the comparative financial informarnion for 202! reflects the reclussification of amounts due
to related parties of €867.9 million from what is now "External loans and borrowings " to "Trade and Other Payables (see Note [7

‘Exterral loans and borrowings ' and Note 18 'Trade and other payables ).

32



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Balance at 1 January 2021.....coveriiiiavnan
Profit for the year...........c.ooooeeeiievieee e
Foreign exchange translation differences ...
Remeasurements of post-employment
benefit obligations, netoftax ..................
Share of other comprchensive expense of
JOINE VENEUIIE ..o e
Fair value gain on investments in equity
instruments designated as FVTOCI............
Total ather comprehensive income .........
Transactions recorded directly in equity:
Adjustment arising from change in non-
controlling intevest................coooooi
Dividend... oo
Balance at 31 December 2021.........coiuees
Profit for the year ...
Foreign exchange translation differences ...
Remeasurements of post-employment
benefit obligations, net of tax ....................
Share of other comprehensive income of
JOML VENLUTE .o
Fair value loss on investments in equity
instruments designated as FVTOCL......._...
Reclassification of foreign exchange
transiation difference on disposal of
subsidianies to profit and loss ..o
Total other comprehensive (expense)/
income
Transactions recorded directly in equity:
Adjustment arising from change in non-
controlling Interest.........coooooevieeiineciicvnnene
Adjustment arising from disposal of non-
controlling interest. .......ccoooecvieeiiiiecie e
Dividend ..., .
Balance at 31 December 2022..................

The notes on pages 37 to 122 are an integral part of thesc consolidated financial statements.

Total Non-
Share Other Retained shareholders’ controlling Total
capital rescrves EArnIngs tunds/(deticit) interest equity
€m
- (2,809.2) 4278 (2,381.4) 62.0 (2,319.4)
- - 1,984.5 1.984.5 104.4 2,088.9
- 181.6 - 181.6 0.3 181.9
- 98.7 - 98.7 0.9 99.6
- (6.3) - (6.3) - (6.3)
- 49 - 4.9 0.9 5.8
2789 1.984.5 22634 106.5 2,369.9
- - 100.8 100.8 (100.8) -
- - (19.6) (19.6) [36.6) (56.2)
- (2,530.3) 2,493.5 (36.8) 311 (5.7)
- - 1,828.0 1,828.0 91.6 1,919.6
- (130.1) - (130.1) (7-1) (137.2)
- (81.3) - (81.3) 2.3 (83.6)
- 249 - 249 - 249
- (10.5) - (10.5) (1.7) (12.2)
- 9.8 - 9.8 - 9.8
- (187.2) 1,828.0 1,640.8 80.5 1,721.3
- - 10.2 10.2 12.2 224
- - - - (32.5) (32.5)
- - (21.0) {21.0) (29.6) (50.6)
- (2,717.5) 4,310.7 1,593.2 61.7 1,654.9
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Analysis of Other Reserves:

Balance at 1 January 2021......cvivvineee
Foreign exchange translation differences..................
Remeasurements of post employment benefit
obligations, net of tax...........................
Share of other comprehensive expense of joint
VEIIUTE ..o eee et s ieeimee e e emeeam e e s
Fair value gain on investrnents in equity instruments
designated as FVTOCT ...
Balance at 31 December 2021......ooicievercieccrermieeee
Foreign exchange translation differences...................
Remeasurements of post employment benefit
obligations, net 0f taX........co.oocviiiiien e e e

Share of other comprehensive income of joint venture
Fair value loss on investments in equity instruments
designated as FVTOCL.............. .
Reclassification of foreign exchange transtation
difference on disposal of subsidiaries o profil and

Balance at 31 December 2022

Remeasurement
of post
Translation employment Merger Fair value Total other
reserve benefit plans reserve reserve TESErves
€m

(56.3}) 78.1 (2,831.0) - (2,809.2)

181.6 - - - 181.6

- 98.7 - - 98.7
(6.3) - - - {6.3)

- - - 49 4.9
119.0 176.8 (2.831.0) 4.9 (2,530.3)
(130.1) - - - (130.1)
- (8L.3) - - (81.3)

24.9 - - - 24.9
- - - (10.5) (10.5)

9.8 - - - 9.8
23.6 95,5 (2,831.0) (5.6) (2,717.5)

The notes on pages 37 to 122 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
Note

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation ...,
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and impairment 10
Amortisation and impairment
Surplus on acquisitions 0f a sUbsidiaries............ccoocovieoee v 3
INEL FIBANCE COBLS 1.uevie oottt eee et e ee e em s ees et e tn e eae s g
Net fair value loss on commodily derivatives .......coocooriiriciiciceceens

Share of profit of associates and joint ventures using the equity method......... 12
Dividends received from other investments
Impairment of investments ........................
Loss on disposal of investments..
Profit on disposal of businesscs ..
Profit on sale of TiXed aS5€1S ........o.iviicinniiiirr e
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables ...........c.oooooiiiieccenee
INCTEASE TN INVEIEOTICS .ol et e e eaee s s e s
(Decrease)/imcrease in trade and other payables ...
Decrease in provisions and employee benefits.....c...coviieieresinienincne e
TaX PRI e vt e ettt e et n e
Net cash generated from operating activities........occenne..

Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities

Procceds from sale of property, plant and equipment ...........cccoeeoiionnrneee
Proceeds from sales of iINVESIMENTS .....coo.voveieciiiiiec s
Net repayment of loans made (o0 related parties .........o..ooooeiiresieceeceercns
Acquisition of Other INVESTIMENS .v.vivvirviveiierrinn oo
Acquisition of JOINT VENIIES. .. ..o et st es e eeeees
Acquisition of financial assets art fair value through other comprehensive
IICORTIC Loe e e et e et b e bt s abtas s rar e an e e e sa e ee e neaaamaaa e

12
12
34

Interest and other finance income received..
Dividends received from joint ventures.......
Dividends received trom other investments. ...

Disposal of businesses, net of cash disposed of ... 34
Acquisition of subsidiaries. net of cash acquired ... 3
Acquisition of property, plant and equIPMent...........ccocevvuveerieeee e
Acquisition of intangible SSets .........c...ocovooviviioer e

Net cash used in investing activities....
Cash flows (used in)/from financing activities

Repayment of TeEm IOBIS ...........co.coiiers e e esaaseceesese e ee s
Proceeds of term L0ans ...,

12

(Repayment)/proceeds of FPS Senior Secured Term Loans ..o,
Repayment of Bridge financing and Term Loan A ..o
Repayment of INOVYN term LoaNs........coovevievieemeeeieveereconie e
Proceeds from ABS Plant Facility .....cooooooioiiii e
Proceeds from O&P UK term loans......cocooeeveven.
Reserve Based Lending facility ...
Repayment of other borrowings...............
Loans (repaid)/received from related parties...
Interest paid ..o.oocceveeee vl
DIEDL ASSUE COSES ..ottt et et e e e et e strans e e seeaaeeas

Capital elerment of 1825 PAYINENLS......coviviiviiieiissecvrreeeeeeetsceeeeeeeeeeeeeeemeanes

Transfer from restricted cash ...
Non-controlling interest Buy-out.............oocoiiiiiii e

Dividend paid to owners of the company.................... s 23
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests . .......coovrvvoeeeeeeers s ereieamee

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities......ccocererereiciincinens
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2022 2021
€m
1,527.0 2,237.2
1.149.6 877.9
148.1 155.3
- (322.0)
406.9 324.1
387.4 697.0
(257.0) (462.0)
(2.6) (2.9)
- 1.0
26.7 -
(710.3) (165.4)
(4.6) (17.5)
736.1 (1,031.H
(13.9) (631.6)
(522.4) 1,424.4
(65.5) (82.3)
(329.7) {418.2)
2.475.5 2,584.3
325 234
- (148.3)
4.2 -
0.2) (0.7)
(62.1) -
- {29.0)
20.1 5.9
401.4 188.7
2.6 2.5
238.1 180.3
(116.3) (792.5)
(1,434.9) (1,223.5)
(319.3) (319.0)
(1,233.9) (2,112.2)
(20.8) (1.7)
- 3,1173
- 1,706.5
(24.6) 0.2
(388.5) (3,102.0)
- (1,064.3)
431.1 -
- 85.0
- (267.8)
(11.3) {9.3)
(210.6) 131.7
(311.3) (233.4)
(1.2) (66.8)
(101.4) (109.7)
(19.8) 1.9
22.5 -
(21.0) (19.5)
(37.1) (10.3)
(694.0) 157.8




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at | January ...

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

2022 2021
€m
547.6 629.9
1,987.5 1,288.7
9.3) 68.9
2,5258 [,987.5

The notes on pages 37 to 122 are an integral part of these consoclidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Overview

INEOS Industries Limited (the “Company™) is a private company limited by shares incorporated, registered
and domiciled in England, UK. The registered office address is Hawkslease, Chapel Lanc, Lyndhurst,
Hampshire, S043 7FG. The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of a range of
chemicals used in a variety of applications, the exploration, development and production of natural gas, the
development of its automotive business and various sporting ventures.

Basis of accounting

These financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
“Group”) and equity account the Group’s interest in associated undertakings and recognise its joint
arrangements as joint operations or joint ventures. The parent company financial statements present
information about the Company as a separate entity and not about its Group.

The Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and approved by the Board of
Directors in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards .

In preparing the financial statements, the dircctors have considered the impact of chmate change, particularly
in the context of the principal risk identified on page 9. There has been no material impact identified on the
financial reporting judgements and estimates. The directors are awarc of the ever-changing risks attached to
climate change and will regularly assess these risks against judgements and estimates made in preparation of
the Group's financial statements

The Group and meets its day to day working capital requirements through its intercompany loan and external
financing facilities, along with cash generated by its subsidiaries’ operations. The Group held cash balances of
€2,525.8 million at 31 December 2022 (2021: €1,987.5 million) and gross external loans and borrowings of
€6,798 .8 million at 31 December 2022 (2021: €7.090.6 million) of which €369.6 million is due to be repaid
within 12 months of the balance sheet date. The directors have considered the Group’s projected futurc cash
flows and working capital requirements and arc confident that the Group has sufficicnt cashtlows to meet its
working capital requirements for the next twelve months from the date of signing the financial statements.

In particular, the directors have stress tested the forecasts through taking account of reasonable possible
changes in trading performance on the impact on EBITDA before exceptional items, cash flow and debt. The
stress tests show that the Group will still have sufficient cash flow to meet all of its obligations as they fall due
within the next 12 menths from the date of signing the financial statements.

On the basis of this assessment together with net assets of €1,654.9 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: net
liabilities of €(5.7) million) and the Group’s ability to meet working capital requirements through its external
financing facilities, along with access to cash generated by its subsidiarics, the Directors have concluded that
the Group can operate within its current facilities without the need to obtain new ones for a period of at least 12
months from the date of this report and have therefore preparcd these financial statements on a going congern
basis in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom.

The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with United
Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and have been approved for issuance by the Board of
Directors on 3 July 2023.

The notes below provide a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements. The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been
applied consistently to all periods presented in these Group financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICTES (continued)

Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for these items held at fair value, being
derivative financial instrument and financial instruments classified as fair value through profit and loss or other
comprehensive income and assets held within pension schemes. Disposal groups held for sale are stated at the
lower of previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell,

Functional and presentation currency

These Group financial statements are presented in euro, which is the functional currency of the majority of

operations. The Group primarily generates income, incurs expenditure and has the majority of its assets and
liabilities denominated in euros. The exchange rate as at 31 December 2022 was 51:€0.9374 and £1:€1.1301
(2021: $1:€0.8825 and £1:€1.191).

Changes in accounting policies

The Group financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies that are consistent with those of
the previous financial year. The Group has adopted the following amendments to accounting standards for the
first time in 2022, with effect from 1 January 2022, although there has been no material effect on the Group’s
financial statements:

*  Amendments to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract.

The amendments spectty that the cost of fulfilling a contract comprises the costs that relate directly (o
the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract consist of both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (examples would be direct iabour or materials) and an allocation of other costs that rclate
directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an
item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

¢ Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS 3.

The amendments update a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without
changing the accounting requirements for business combinations,

¢  Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment—Procecds before Intended Use.

Under the amendments, proceeds from selling items before the related item of Property, Plant and
Equipment is available for use should be recognised in profit or loss, together with the costs of
producing those items. IAS 2 Inveniories should be applied in identifying and measuring these
production costs.

The amendments also clarify the meaning of 'testing whether an asset is functioning properly'. [AS 16
now specifies this as assessing whether the technical and physical performance of the asset is such
that it is capable of being used in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or
for administrative purposes.

If not presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income, the financial statements shall
disclose the amounts of proceeds and cost included in profit or loss that relate to itemns produced that
are rnot an output of the entity’s ordinary activities, and which line item(s) in the statement of
comprehensive income include(s) such proceeds and cost.

* Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020:

IFRS |: Subsidiary as a first-time Adopter — The amendment provides additional relief to a subsidiary
which becomes a first-time adopter later than its parent in respect of accounting for cumulative
translation differences. The amendment allows entities that have measured their assets and liabilities
at carrying amounts recorded in their parent’s books to also measure any cumulative translation
differences using the amounts reported by the parent. This amendment will also apply to associates
and joint ventures that have taken the same [FRS 1 cxemption.

[FRS 9: Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilitics — The amendment
clarifies which fees should be included in the 10% test for derecognition of financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IFRS 16: The amendment removes the illustration of the reimbursement of leasehold improvements.

*  Amendments to TAS | Presentation of Financial Statements: Classitication of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants {etfective date 1 January 2024).

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries arc all entities {including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group ts exposcd to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity intercsts issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
mcasured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs
arc expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair valuc at the acquisition date; any gains or
losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 cither in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income.

Contingent consideration that is classified as equity 1s not re-measured, and its subsequent scttlement is
accounted for within cquity.

Intcr-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When neccssary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been
adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair
value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in
cquity.

When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair valuc at the
date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. [n addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Acquisitions under common control are accounted for at book value. The difference in the book value of the
asscts acquired and consideration paid is recognised in rctained earmings within the merger reserve. The Group
has clected not to include the results of businesses acquired under comman control transactions within the
Group income statement for any periods prior to the date of acquiring control.

Special purpose entities (“"SPE")
A SPE is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship with the Group and the
SPE’s risks and rewards, the Group concludes that it controls the SPE.

The Group has established three SPE’s, INEOS Styrolution Receivables Finance Designated Activity
Company, Deutsche Bank Mexico F/1787 and INEOS Norway Finance Ircland Limited, for debt securitisation
programimes.

The Group does not have any direct or indirect shareholdings in these SPE’s. The SPE’s arc controlled by the
Group as they have been established under terms that impose strict limitations on the decision-making powers
of the SPE’s management that result in the Group receiving the majority of the benefits related to the SPE’s
operations and net assets, being exposed o the majority of risks arising from the SPE's activities, and retaining
the majority of the residual or ownership risks rclated to the SPE’s and their assets, INEOS Styrolution
Receivables Finance Designated Activity Company, Deutsche Bank Mexico F/1787 and INEOS Norway
Finance Ireland Limited are therefore regarded as SPE’s and have been consolidated in these financial
statements.

Associate undertakings

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss i1s recognised in the income statement, and its share ot post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s sharc of losses in an
associate equals or excceds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losscs, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at cach reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment ia the
associate is impaired. Tf this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to
‘share of profit/(loss) of associates’ in the income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associate
are recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

Under [FRS }1 “Joint Arrangements”, investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each
investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint arrangement. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be cither joint operations or jeint ventures.

The Group recognises its direct right to the assets, liabilitics, revenues and expenses of joint operations and its

share of any jointly held or incurred assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These have been incorporated in
the financial statements under the appropriate headings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3t DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method of accounting, intcrests in
joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition profits or loses and movements in other comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of losses
on a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the group does not recognise
turther losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the cxtent of the
Group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrcalised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the polices adopted by the Group.

Foreign exchange

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the
foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
forcign currencies at the balance sheet date arc retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange
rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the profit and loss
account except for differences arising on the retranslation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of the
net investment in a foreign operation that is effective, or gualifying cash flow hedges, which are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are mcasured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are retranslated to
the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair valuc was determined,

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, tncluding goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
consolidation, are translated to the Group's presentational currency, euros, at foreign exchange rates ruling at
the reporting date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions, The Group applies an average rate [or the year where this rate approximates to
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Exchange differences arising from this
translation of foreign operations arc taken directly to the translation reserve. They are recycled inte the
consolidated income statement upon disposal.

Exchange differences arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the
settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the foresceable future, are considered to form part of a net
investment in a foreign operation and are recognised directly in equity in the translation reserve. Foreign
exchange differences arising on the retranslation of a borrowing designated as a hedge of a net investment in a
foreign operation are recognised directly in equity, in the translation reserve, to the extent that the hedge is
effective. When the hedged part of a net investment is disposed of, the associated cumulative amount in equity
1s transferred to profit or loss as an adjustment to the profit or loss on disposal.

Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group
Financial instruments issued by the Group arc treated as equity only to the cxtent that they meet the following
two conditions:

(a) they include no contractual obligations upon the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or to
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are
potentially unfavourable to the Group: and

(b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a
non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity
instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company's exchanging a fixed amount of cash
or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial hability. Where
the instrument so classificd takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those
shares.

Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt sccurities, trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition they are tested for classification as per
IFRS 9. If the trade receivables satisfy the criteria for cash flow characteristics test and business model test as
per IFRS 9, then they are recognised at amortised cost. If they do not qualify for being recognised at amortised
cost they are recognised at fair value through profit or loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributablc
to the acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Investments in debt and equity securities
Investments in debt securities are measured at amortised cost if they meet both of the following conditions and
are not designated as a fair value through profit and loss:

. The asset is held within a business modcl whosc objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

. The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset is measured at fair valuc through other comprehensive income only if it meets both of the
following conditions and is not designated as a fair valuc through profit and loss:

. The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets; and

. The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For investment in equity securities that are not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably clect to present
subsequent changes to fair value in other comprehensive income. The Group makes this election on an
investment-by-investment basis.

All other financial assets, including derivatives, are classified as measured at fair value through profit and loss.
When these investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly In equity
is recognised in the income statement. Where these investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated using
the effective interest method is recognised in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Groups cash management are included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of only the statement of cash flows. Cash flows entered into by a third party
on behalf of the Group (as it’s “agent’) are presented ‘gross’. These are typically cash flows arising from
financing activities, undertaken by agent banks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less atiributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortiscd cost using the effective interest
method.

Debt restructuring

The Group derecogiises hnancial habilives in accordance with the provisions in TFR3 9. When debt 15
medified, the Group analyses the modifications from both a quantitative and qualitative perspective to
determine if the modifications are substantial and meet the IFRS requirements for de-recognition, in which
case the debt is treated as extinguished. All fees paid in connection with a debt extinguishment are expensed
immediately. When a modification is accounted for as a non-substantial modification, associated fees incurred
are deferred as an adjustment to the carrying valuc of the liability and amortised using the effective interest
method,

Derivative financial instrnments and hedging

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative commodity financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on
subsequcnt re-measurcment to fair value is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement as
other operating income or expense. Where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any
resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group’s energy trading business cnters into a various energy and capacity arrangements which typically

constitute dertvative financial instruments. Such derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value,

with both realised and unrealised gains and losses being recognised as net fair values gain/loss on commodity
contracts within other operating income/expenses within the Group’s income statement.

Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised
agsel or liability, or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effcctive part of any gain or loss on the
derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in the hedging reserve. Any incffective portion of the
hedge is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement as finance income or expense.

When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial
liability, the associated cumnulative gain or loss is removed from the hedging reserve and is included in the
initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.

If a hedge of a forccast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a financial
liability, the associated gains and losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified into profit or
loss in the same period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss,
e.g. when interest income or expense is recognised.

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding two policy statements, the associated
cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and included in the consolidated income statement as an
adjustment to revenue and cost of sales in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast
transaction affects revenue and cost of sales in the conselidated income statcment.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or cxercised, or the Group revokes designation of the
hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at

that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs.

If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised
in equity is recognised in the consolidated income statement immediately.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Hedge of net investment in foreign operation

The Group applicd hedge accounting to forcign exchange differcnces arising on the retranslation of a foreign
currency loan where the loan is designated as a hedge of a nel investment in a forcign operation in accordance
with TAS 21 and IFRS 4.

Most commonly this means that exchange differences arising on retranslation of foreign currency loans
designated as a net investment hedge are taken directly to equity via the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Gains and losses accumulated in the translation reserve will be recycled to the
statement of comprehensive income when the foreign opcration is sold.

When a derivative instrument or a non-derivative financial liability is designated as the hedging instrument in a
hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, the effective portion of, for a derivative changes in the fair
value of the hedging instrument or, for a non-derivative, foreign exchange gains and losses is recognised in
OCI and presented in the translation rescrve within equity. Any incffective portion of the changes in the fair
value of the derivative or foreign exchange gains and losses on the non-derivative is recognised immediately in
the income statement. The amount recognised in OCI is reclassified to the income statement as a
reclassification adjustment on disposal of the foreign operation.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historic cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Caost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Cost may include the cost
of materials, labour and other costs dircetly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their
intended use. Cost may also include the cost of dismantling and removing items and restoring the site on which
they are located.

Capital work in progress is held as assets under construction until fully commissioned and transferred into
active use.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and cquiptent have differcnt usefu} lives, they arc accounted for as
separate itcms of property, plant and cquipment.

For oil and gas assets the Group uses the successful efforts method of accounting whereby acquisition and
development costs are capitalised. Exploration costs prior to obtaining a licence interest are charged to the
income statement as incurred. Capitalised development costs for property for which the existence of
commercial oil and gas reserves has not been proved are subject 1o periodic review for impairment.

Depreciation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation commences from the date an asset
1s brought into service. Land and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated. The estimated useful
lives are as follows:

» Buildings 10 — 40 years
» Plant and machinery, fixtures and fittings and motor vehicles 1 — 40 years
* Oil and gas propertics Unit of production

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.

Depletion and depreciation of the capitalised costs for producing oil and gas properties is provided by the unit-
of-production method based upon estimated recoverable o1l and gas reserves. The unit-of-production methed
used by the Group takes the current year’s production as a proportion of the sum of the estimated recoverable
reserves at the end of the prior year and current year production and applies this proportion to the depleted cost
w arrive at a charge for the year.
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The cartyinyg values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when cvents or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Where an indicator of impairment
exists, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverabte amount, which is the higher of the asset’s fair value less
cost to sell and value in use. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

For oil and gas assets the Group perfuus a cetling lest annually to determine whether the net book value of
costs capitalised at the year end is covered by the anticipated futurc net revenue from oil and gas reserves
attributable to the Group's interest in the field. Future net revenues are the estimated reserves from production
of commercial oil and gas reserves less operating costs, royalties and future development costs. Any deficiency
arising is charged as additional depreciation in the year.

Assets are derecognised upon disposal or when no futurc economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continucd use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the asset) is included in the consolidated income
statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.

Business combinations, goodwill and intangible assets

Business combinations

All business combinations arc accounted for by applying the acquisition method except acquisitions under
common control which are outside the scope of IFRS 3. Business combinations arc accounted for using the
acquisttion method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group.

Acquisitions under common control

Acquisitions under common control are accounted for at book value. The difference in the book value of the
assets acquired and consideration paid is recognised in the merger reserve. The Group has elected not to
include the results of businesses acquired under common control transactions within the Group income
statement for any periods prior to the date of acquiring control.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries. All transaction costs are cxpensed as
incurred.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is atlocated to groups of cash-
generating units and is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment. Within the Group, cash generating
units are predominately business units. In respect of equity accounted investees, the carrying amount of
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment in the investce.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. These intangible asscts principally comprise the following assets:

¢ intellectual property rights;

e customer lists;

non-compete agreements;

license fees;

evaluation and exploration expenditures;
player registrations;

environmentat certificates and
development costs.

Intangible assets acquircd separately from a business are carried initially at cost. The initial cost is the
aggregate amount paid and the fair value of other consideration given to acquire the assets. An intangible asset
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

acquired as part of a business combination is recognised separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or
arises from contractual or other legal rights and its fair value can be measured.

Intangible assets within the oil and gas business represents the cost of acquiring and further costs incurred on
exploration licences on sites where no decision has yet been made as to the ultimate commercial viability of
the properties. Exploration costs prior to obtaining a licence interest are charged to the income statement as
incurred. If the prospects are dectermined to be successful on completion of evaluation and the project is
initially sanctioned by management, the relevant expenditure including licence acquisition costs are capitalised
as oil and gas properties. Lf the prospects are subsequently determined to be unsuccessful, and the asset is
impaired, the associated costs are expensed in the period in which that determination is made.

The costs directly attributable to the purchase of the players' registration rights are capitalised as intangible
fixed assets. The profit or loss on disposal of a player’s registration is recognised in the income statement and
calculated as the difference between the transfer fees recovered/receivable less the carrying value of the
registration rights. The date of disposal is the date that control transfers and the consideration received is
measured in accordance with IFRS 15. In circumstances where control is retained by the club art the time of
disposal (for example, certain buy-back options, blocking rights for further onward transfer), any gain or loss
on disposal is deferred until the transfer of control occurs.

Research expenditure is written off as incurred. Development expenditure is also written off, except where the
directors are satisfied as to the technical, commercial and financial viability of individual projects (see research
and development accounting policy). In such cases, the identifiable expenditure is capitalised as an intangible

assct and amortised over the period during which the Group is expected to benefit.

Amortisation

Amortisation is charged 10 the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and
goodwill arc systematically tested for impairment at each reporting date. Other intangible assets are amortiscd
from the date they arc available for use. The estimated useful lives arc as follows:

= License fees up 1o 15 years

»  Customer lists up to 12 years

e Intellectual property rights 10 — 15 years

s  Non-compete agreements lifc of the agreement

e  Player registrations life of the contract
Development costs 1 — 15 years

These intangible assets are tested for impairment at the end of the reporting year if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Useful lives are examined on an annual
basis and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.

Environmental certificates arc subject to impairment under the indefinite lived intangible asset impairment
model.

Player registration costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the rights period, corresponding to the term
of the individual contract that the club has signed with each player. The original amortisation period is
revisited in case of an early renewal of the player’s contract. The Group will perform an impairment review on
a players registration if events or changes in ¢circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the player may
not be recoverable. The Group compares the carrying amount of the asset with its recoverable amount.

The amortisation is recognised in administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.
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Research and development
Expenditurc on rescarch activities is recognised in the consolidated income statement as an cxpense as

incurred.

Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group intends to and has the technical ability and sufficient resources to complete
development, future economic benefits are probable and if the Group can measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its development. Development activities involve a plan or design for
the preduction of new or substantially improved products or processes. The expenditure capitalised includes
the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Where regulatory and other
Unhcettainties are such that the criteria are not met, the expenditure is recognised in the income statement. Other
development expenditure is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred. Capitalised
development expenditure is recognised as an intangible asset stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
less accumulated impairment losses (see intangible assets accounting policy).

Exploration and evaluation activities

Exploration and evaluation expenditures

Exploration costs are accounted for under the successful efforts method by geographical area with an
agsessment of commercial viability of those areas performed on a periodic basis.

Exploration costs prior to obtaining a licence interest are charged to the income statement as incurred. If the
Group holds a licence then costs directly associated with an exploration site are initially capitalised as an
intangible asset until the cvaluation of the site is complete and the results have been evaluated. These costs
include topographical, geological, gcophysical and geochemical studies, civil costs, exploratory drilling and
testing, sampling, trenching, contractor charges, materials and fuels used, manpower and associated overheads.
In the case that the expenditure will not be immediately allocated to a site, it will be capitalised against the
wider licensed region and then subsequently allocated to the site using an appropriate method of
apportionment.

Other costs are initialty capitalised as property, plant and equipment and these include drillings rigs, scismic
equipment and other plant and machinery used in the exploration activity.

Pre-license costs incurred prior to acquiring the legal rights (or a share ol the legal rights) to explore an area
arc expensed to the income statement as they are incurred and are not subsequently capitalised.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and Evaluation expenditure is tested for impairment whenever circumstances suggest that it may
be impaired, which includes licences to be relinquished, no substantive plans for further exploration of an arca
ot where there is indication that exploration costs are unlikely to be fully recovered through future
development or sale.

Impairment of financial assets

Trade and other receivables

The Group applies the simplificd approach to measuring expected credit losscs following the requirements of
iFRS 9 for its trade rececivables and contract asscts, being the lifetime expected credit loss model. That means
that, beside considering objective evidence (e.g. default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount
due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will
enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers, economic conditions that
correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a security), the Group takes into account a
forecast of future economic conditions in the calculation of the expected loss, which requires a greater extent
of judgement.

Financial assets which are considered low risk are not provided for impairment by the Group.
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An impairment loss in respect of a receivable carried at amortiscd cost is reversed if the subsequent increase in
recoverable amount can be related abjectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

Investments in debr and equity securities

Impairment of equity securities classified as FVOCT are not tested for impairment under IFRS 9. If the fair
value of a debt instrument classified as FVOCT increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income statement, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets excluding inventories and deferred tax assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non —financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets are
assessed at the end of the reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.

For goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indetinite uscful life and intangible assets that are not yet
available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated at the end of the reporting period.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds
its rccoverable amount. Tmpairment losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that
generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less cost to scll and value in use. Tn assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted 1o their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate [argely independent cash intlows, the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit 10 which the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairmenr
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss
may no longer exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, using the first-in first-out or average cost model, and net realisable
value which is defined as the estimated selling price less the estimatad cost of completion and the estimated
costs neccssary to make the sale. Cost includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or
conversion costs and other costs in bringing the inventory to its present location and condition. In the case of’
manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of overheads based on
normal operating capacity. Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where appropriate.

Itemns owned by the Group thai are held on consignment at another entity’s premises are included as part of the
Group’s inventory.
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Commodities

Contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of receipt or delivery of non-financial
items in accordance with the Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements (own-use contracts) are
not accounted for as derivative financial instruments, but rather as executory confracts,

Leases

Al inception ot a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in I[FRS 16.

Group as a lessee

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-usc asscts ate incasured al cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized and lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any leasc incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date
to the end of the leasc term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option.
In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which 1s
determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease
liability.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises leasc liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to bc made over the lease term, discounted using the intcrest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The iease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate (initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date),
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees less any lcase incentives receivable. The lease
payments also include the excrcise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group
and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability {using the effective interest mcthod) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilitics is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in
the [easc term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments a change in the assessment ot whether the
(iroup is reasonably certain to exercise an option to purchase the underlying asset, a change in future lease
payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount cxpected to be payable under a residual value guarantec.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way and therc has been no change in the scope of the lease, a

corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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Short-term leases and leases af low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to all leases that have a lease term oi’ 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not ¢contain a purchase option. The Group also applies the lease of
low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of assets that are valued below €10,000. Lease payments on
short-term leascs and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the
[ease term.

Employee benefits

The Group operates a number of defined contribution plans and funded and unfunded defined benefit pension
schemes. The Group also provides unfunded early retirement benefits, long service awards and an incentive
plan for certain employees.

The Group provides health care insurance to eligible retired employees and their dependants, primarily in the
United States.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions
inta a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive cbligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income
statement as incurred.

Defined benefir plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-cmployment benefit plan that is not a defined conwribution plan. The Group’s
net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits is calculated
separately for cach plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have camed in return for
their service in the current and prior periods; that bencfit is discounted to determine its present value, and the
fair vafue of any plan assets (at bid price) are deducted. The liability discount rate is the yicid at the reporting
date on AA credit rated bonds denominated in the currency of, and that have maturity dates approximating to
the terms of, the Group’s obligations. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected
unit credit method.

When the benefits of a plan are amended or curtailed, the portion of the increased or decreased benefit relating
to past service by employecs is recognised as an expense immediately in the consolidated income statement.

All actuarial gains and losses as at 1 January 2014, the date of transition to IFRSs, were recognised. In respect
of actuarial gains and losses that arise subsequent to 1 January 2014, the Group recognises them in the year
they occur directly in equity through the statement of comprehensive income.

Where the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the asset recognised is limited to the present value of
any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The pension scheme surplus (to the extent that it is recoverable) or deficit is recognised in full.
The movement in the scheme surplus/deficit is split between:
cost of sales and administrative expenses;
nct finance costs; and
in net expense recognised directly in equity, the re-measurements of post-employment benefit
obligations.
Short-term benefils

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash
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bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a
result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet where the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of a past cvent and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and g reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. Provisions arc determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects risks specific to the liability.

Restructuring provisions

Restructuring provisions are recognised when the Group has a detailed, formal plan for the restructuring and
has raised a valid expectation in those affected by either starting to implement the plan or announcing its main
features to those affectcd and therefore has a legal or constructive obligation to carry out the restructuring.

Decommissioning and restoration provisions

Tlie Group makes full provision for the future costs of the decommissioning and restoration of exploration and
cvaluation facilities on a discounted basis. The decommissioning and restoration provision relates to the total
cost of cementing and plugging the existing wells and any costs associated with returning the sites to their
original use.

In respect of thc oil and gas business the Group makes full provision for the net present valuc of the cost of
decommissioning and restoration with the resultant liability being recorded on the balance sheet. An offsctting
tangible fixed asset is also recognised. The asset is depleted under the same basis as other fixed assets whereby
the asset is then amortised through the income stalement on the unit-of-production method. The unwinding of
the discount in the net present value of the total expected cost is treated as an intercst expense. Changes in
estimates are reflected prospectively over the remaining reserves of the field.

The Group is exposed to environmental and remediation liabilitics relating to its past operations of the
petrechemicals businesses. Provision for these costs is made when the Group has a Iegal or constructive
obligation to carry out remediation works and costs can be estimated within a reasonable range of possible
ouicomes.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classitied as equity. Incremental costs dircctly attributable to the issue of new sharcs are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Revenue

Revenue represents the invoiced value of products and services sold or services provided to third partics net of
sales discounts, value added taxes and dutics. Contracts for goods and services are analysed to determine the
distinet performance obligations against which revenue should be recognised. The amount to be recognised is
determined fram the standalone selling prices for goods and services, allocated to the performance obligations.
Revenue is recognised when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied by transferring a promised good
or service to a customer.

The timing of the satisfaction of a performance obligation varies depending on the individual terms of the sales
agreement. Payment terms vary across the Group dependent on geographical location of each operating
company. Transfer of control can occur when the product is received at the customer’s warehouse, or loading
the goods onto the relevant carrier, or when the product leaves the production site, depending on the
international shipping terms that the product is sold under.

The pricing for products sold is determined by market prices (market coniracts and arrangements) or is linked
by a formula to published raw material prices plus an agreed additional amount {formula contracts). Revenue
arising from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are dispatched or delivered depending on the
relevant delivery terms and point at which the control of the good or service is transterred to the customer,
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The Group apptics the five-step model for revenue recognition, introduced by IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. This model allows the Group to identify the contract with a customer; to determine
the performance cbligations in the contract; to establish the transaction price, which is later allocated to the
performance obligations in the contract; and to recognise revenue when, or as, the entity satisfies a
performance obligation, that is. that the control of the asset is transferred to the customer.

The Group has a small number of contracts that include distinct performance obligations. This results, in a
limited number of cases, that revenue for certain performance obligations (being primarily separate shipping
obligations} is recognised later in time. Additionally, certain customer contracts offer various forms of volume
or early payment discount. These variable considerations might have as a conscquence timing differences, but
since the majority of contracts have terms of less than one year, the differences arc solved within the period.
Revenuc is recognised to the extent that it 1s highly likely that a significant reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recogniscd will not occur.

Additionally, certain customer contracts offer various forms of variable consideration in the form of early
settlement discount or retrospective volume discounts. If it is highly probable that an early settlement discount
will be taken and the amount is not expected to reverse when the variability is resolved, the discount is
recognised as a reduction of revenuc as the sales are recognised. If a volume discount applies retrospectively
to all sales under the contract once a certain thresheld is achicved, an estimate of the volumes to be sold and
the resulting discount is calcutated in determining the transaction price and this calculation is updated
throughout the term of the contract.

In the oil and gas business revenue is recognised when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied by
transferring a promised good or service (o a customer. For sales resulting from hydrocarbon production, this
generally occurs when the product is physically transferred into a vessel, pipe or other delivery mechanism,
Revenue resulting from hydrocarbon production from properties in which the Group has an interest with
partners in joint arrangements is recognised on the basis of the Group’s volumes lifted and sold. Lifung or
offtake arrangements for oil and gas produced in certain of the Group’s oil and gas properties are such that
cach participant may not receive and sell its precise share of the overall production in each period. The
resulting imbalance between cumulative entitlement and cumaulative volume sold less inventory is an
“underlift’™” or “overlift”. Underlift and overlift are valued at market value and included within receivables and
payables respectively. Movements during an accounting period are adjusted through cost of sales in the income
statement.

Services provided to third parties include administrative and operational services provided to other chemical
companies with facilities on our sites and services under tolling arrangements. Under tolling arrangements,
customers pay for or provide raw materials to be converted into certain specified products, for which the Group
charges a toll fee. The Group only recognises toll fee as revenue earned under such arrangements upon
shipment of the converted product to the customer as this is the point at which the control of the service is
transferred to the buyer. For all other services, revenue is recognised at a point in time or over-time depending
on whether the over-time revenue recognition criteria is met. Other income relating to gas production ncluded
in revenue arises from tariffs for third party use of owned pipelines and infrastructure. Tarifts arc recognised at
the end of the month for pipeline movements during the month and are based on quantity transported through
the pipeline.

Certain time and location swap contracts with third parties for commedities and finished goods are excluded
from tumeover and cost of sales.

Services provided to third parties include administrative and operational services provided to other companies
with facilities on the Group’s sites. Revenue is recognised at a point in time or over-time depending on whether
the over-time revenue recognition criteria is met.

No contract assets and liabilities have been recognised in the balance sheet of the Group. lts impact, if any, is
deemed immaterial. The performed analysis has concluded that he right of payment of the goods and services
sold by the Group is unconditional, except for the passage of time. Therefore. all rights of payment have been
booked as trade receivables.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

No assets related to costs to obtain or fulfil a contract have been recognised. Tts impact, if any, is deemed
immaterial,

Government grants and similar deferred income

Government grants and similar deferred income are shown in the consolidated balance sheet as deferred
income. This income is amortised on a straight linc basts over the same period as the tangible fixed asset to
which it relates or the life of the related project.

Finance income and costs

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in the consolidated income statement as it accrues, using the
effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in the consolidated income statement on the date the
entity’s right to receive payments is established. Finance income comprise interest receivable on funds invested
and from related party loans and net foreign exchange gains.

Finance costs comprisc interest payable, finance charges on leases, unwinding of the discount on provisions,
ucl interest on employee benefit liabilities and net foreign exchange losses that are recognised in the
consolidated income statement (see foreign exchange accounting policy).

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
income statement cxcept to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is
recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting peried, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences
are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination; and diffcrences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The
amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of asscts and liabilities, using tax rates cnacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Segmental analysis

The Group determines its opcrating segments in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-makers. The chief operating decision-makers are responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating segments. The chief operating decision-makers are the members of
the Executive Committee of the ultimate parent undertaking, INEOS Limited.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relatc to transactions with any of the
Group’s other components and for which discrete financial information s available. An operating segment’s
operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision-makers to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance.

The Group’s primary format for segment reporting is based on business units. The operating segments are
determined based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structurc and the aggregation criteria set
out in IFRS 8. Segment results that are reported to the chief operating decision-makers include items directly
attributable to a scgment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Segment capital
expenditure is the total payments made during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Details of the Group operating segments and the segmental analysis of revenue and EBITDA before
exceptionals are shown in Note 2.

Emtission trading scheme

The Group participates in the EU and UK Emissions Trading Schemes. The Scheme encourages companies to
reduce carbon emissions by offering financial incentives if they achieve their annual reduction targets. Ifa
company reduccs emtissions beyond their target then the surplus may be traded in the form of emissions
permits.

The incentive money due from the EU and UK Emissions Trading Schemes are tecognised in the consolidated
income statement within cost of sales as a reduction of energy costs once the reduction targets have been met.
The emissions permits allocated under the Scheme are at nil cost. Any additional emission permits that are
purchased are recognised as imtangible assets. The Group recognises the revenue from such permits upon their
sale to third parties.

Emissions allowances purchased from third parties arc recognised as an intangible asset based on the cost
associated with the purchase. The emission allowances are subject to impairment under the indefinite life
intangible asset impairment model. There is no amortisation of these allowances. The costs of the allowances
are recognised as a disposal and expensed to the profit and loss as they are used.

The Group accrues for emissions produced. The accrual 1s measured at the carrying amount of the emission
rights held (nil if granted, otherwise at cost) or, in the case of a shortfall, at the current fair value of the
emission rights necded.

Exceptional items

In order to provide readers with a clear and consistent presentation of the underlying operating performance of
the Group’s ongoing business it scparately identifies those profits and losses which becausc of their size or
nature, are outside the normal course of business so are expected to be non-recurring. This may include the
disposal of businesses, the impairment of non-current assets, the cost of restructuring acquired or existing
businesses, the impact of one off events such as legal settlements or finance costs relating to call premia and
write-off of unamortised debt issuc costs following substantial modification or redemption of debt as
exceptional items.

Accounting standards net applied

A number of new standards and amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2023
and carlier application is permitted; howevcr, the Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards in
preparing these consolidated financial statements.

The impact of their adoption is being assessed and is not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s
financial statements in the period of initial application. The new standards and amendments are as follows:

s TFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective date | January 2023).

e  Amendments to TAS 12: Income taxes—deferred tax related to assets and lhabilities arising from a
single transaction {(effective date | January 2023}

«  Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2:
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (effective date | January 2023).

o  Amendments to [AS §: Definition of Accounting Estimates (effective date ! January 2023).

*»  Amcndments to [FRS 16: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback (effective date | January 2024).

*  Amendments to TAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (effective date 1 January 2024}
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. OPERATING SEGMENTS

The deierminalion of the Group’s operating scgments is based on the business units for which information is
reported to the Group's Chief Operating Decision Maker. The Group has three reportable segments, as
described below:

«  Petrochemicals — This reportable segment is the aggregation, in compliance with IFRS 8, of a number
of different business units with similar ceconomic and other characteristics. The Group’s petrochemical
husinesses are exposed to similar key commeoditics, namely oil and gas. They produce a range of
products and services including styrenics, olefins and related products and a broad range of polymers.
The petrochemical products are distributed on a business-to-business basis across the world. This is
performed using similar conventional methods of pipeline, truck, rail or ship container depending on
the customer location and size of the order. The petrochemicals customer base is similar in that the
customers are generally manufacturers of consumer and industrial products in developed markets and
mature industrial economies.

*  Energy (previously called Oil & Gas) — This reportable segment relates to interest in a number of
licences for the exploration, development and production of gas in various fields in the North Sea and
the operation of the Forties Pipeline System (FPS), which is an integrated oil and gas liquid
transportation, and processing system of oil and gas. The segment also includes the Group’s energy
trading business which markets and adds value to the Group’s physical natural gas positions through
optimisation of its gas supply and capacity positions whilst also providing other support services to
related partiss.

s  Other — This reportable segment contains the Group's sporting interests and automotive business.
The accounting policies of all of the reportable segments are as described in Note 1.

Information regarding the operations of each reportable segment is included in the following tables.
Performance is measured based on carnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, exceptional
items and net fair value pains or losses on derivatives and after the share of profit/(loss) of associated
undertakings and joint ventures using the equity accounting method, measured under IFRS (“EBITDA before
exceplional items™). A reconciliation to IFRS profit/(loss) before tax is presented in the following tables.
EBITDA before exceptional items is used to measure performance as management believes that such
information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that
operate within these industries. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis. Information
regarding segments reviewed by management includes management accounts comprising the profit or loss,
cash flows and other financial and non-financial information used to manage the business.

Adjustments in the following tables comprise the elimination of inter-segmental transactions.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

2. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Segment information - 2022

Revenue

EBITDA before exceptional items

Depreciation and impairment of
property, plant and equipment and
amortisation and impairment of
intangible assets .......c.cooeeenne

Exceptional items (excluding items

relating to impairment and
FINANCINEY oo s
Net fair value loss on derivatives..
Loss on disposal of investments....
Profit on disposal of businesses ...
Profit/(1oss) on disposal of fixed
ASSEES -ttt
Net finance cost ..

Profit before taxation ... ...

Payments (or capital expenditure ...

Segment information — 2021

Revenue ...
EBITDA before exceptional items

Depreciation and impairment of
property, plant and equipment and
amortisation and impairment of
intangible assets............
Exceptional items (excluding items
relating to impairment and
financing)
Impairment of investments............
Net fair value loss on detivatives ..
Profit on disposal of businesses ....
Profit on disposal of fixed assets...

Total of Amounts in
reportable financial
Petrochemicals Energy Other segments Adjustments Statements
€m €m €m €m £m €m
20,062.9 1,493.9 286.6 21,843.4 (795.3) 21,048.1
2,638.7 858.2 (554.2) 2,942.7 - 2.9427
(1,022.6) (241.3) (338) (1,297.7) - (1.297.7)
(5.0) (7.2) - (12.2) - {12.2)
- (387.4) - (387.4) - (387.4)
(26.6) (0.1) - (26.7) - (26.7)
710.3 - - 7103 - 710.3
4.6
(406.6)
1,527.0
(1,099.2) (76.3) (259.4) (1,430.5) - _(1,434.9)
Total of Amounts in
reportable financial
Petrochemicals Energy Other segments Adjustments statements
€m €m €m €m €m €m
16,376.9 1,535.3 23135 18,143.7 (498.8) 17,644.9
3,170.0 1,105.3 (291.2) 3,984.1 - 3.984.1
(799.5) (188.6) (45.1) (1,033.2) - (1,033.2)
126.1 (0.6) - 125.5 - 125.5
(1.0) - - (1.0) - (1.0)
(40.8) (656.2) - (697.0) - (697.0)
- 1654 - 1654 - 165.4
4.0 0.1 13.4 175 - 17.5
INEL TITHAIICE COSE L.t oii it ettt ettt oo oo ekt ese e oeeee et et et et e ot b e bt et e a2t e e st s e 1o e st £n e b em s b e e een (324.1)
Profit BefOre RAXAION ... et e e e e e 2.237.2
(920.5) (112.9) (190.0) (1,223.4) - (1,223.4)

Payments for capital expenditure ...

Major items in the adjustments column are in respect of the elimination of inter-segmental revenues: 2022:

€795.3 million (2021: €498.8 million).
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2. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Geographic segments

2022 2021
€m
Geographical informatien by location of customers:
10,909.9 9,221.0
4,462.5 3,144.6
56757 5.279.3
_21,048.1 17,644.9
2022 2021
€m
e L1,787.3 10,284.6
Americas....... . 49152 3,429.0
RESE OF WOTId. 1. vttt et e e s s s 4,345.6 39313
TOUAL. e ee ettt eee e e et et ene e ee ettt 21,048.1 17,644.9
Timing of revenue recognition
2022 2021
€m
AT 2 POINE I M e e e e 20,364 8 17,188.2
OVET LIITIE 1ottt ettt ettt s eme e ettt e n e 683.3 456.7
TOLALL e et b b e s e s r e e et e 21,048.1 17,644.9

In presenting information on the basis of gcographic analysis of segments, segment revenue is based on the
geographical location of customers and registered address of the Group’s trading legal entities.

Due to the global activities and diversified customer structure of the Group, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk or reliance on a major customer (2021: nil).

Revenues from external customers for each product and scrvice or each group of similar products and services
and a geographic analysis of segment assets are not presented as the necessary information is not available and
the Directors are of the opinion that the cost to develop it would be excessive.

Revenue is recognised as title passcs, at a point in tire ot in respect of sales transactions under transport and
processing agreements, over time. No contract asscts and liabilities have been recogniscd in the balance sheet
of the Group. The right of payment of the goods and services sold by the Group is unconditional, except for the
passage of time. Therefore, all rights of payment have been booked as trade receivables.

3. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESSES

2022 acquisitions

Other acquisitions

During 2022 a final payment of $105.0 million (€100.4 million} was made in respcct of deferred consideration
following the Group’s 2017 acquisition of the DONG E&P A/S business which related to the exploration and

production activities in the oil and gas sector within Denmark, Norway and the UK (2021: €17.1 million).

On 30 September 2022 the Group acquired the remaining tenancy of *The Grenadier” public house located in
Belgravia, London for cash consideration of £12.0 million (€13.5 million).
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3. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESSES (continued)

2021 acquisitions

INEOS Automotive SAS

On 5 January 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of INEQS Automotive SAS, formerly Smart France
SAS, by way of a share purchase agreement, from Mercedes-Benz AG for consideration of €3.9 million.
INEOS Automotive SAS was acquired as a going concern business that owns and operates a large automotive
manufacturing facility in Hambach, France. This acquisition not only gives the Group access to a large,
modern automotive manufacturing facility but also an experienced and highly trained workforce. Under
commercial agreements signed as part of the acquisition, the Group will contract manufacture complete and
partial vehicles on behalf of Mercedes Benz AG, in addition to producing its own vehicle, the Grenadier. This
acquisition forms part of the Other segment.

Final values
recognised on

acquisition
€m
Acquiree’s net assets recognised at the acquisition date:
Property. plant and equipment 2243
Intangibles 0.6
Deferred tax assets 523
Inventorics 5.8
Trade and other receivables 847
Cash and cash equivalents 89.6
Trade and other payables (94.1)
Deferred tax liabilities (7.8)
Employee benefits (119
Provisions (29.9)
Net assets 313.6
Consideration paid:
Cash 39
Negative goodwill at acquisition (309.7)
Recognised as an exceptional administrative gain 309.7

Goodwill as at 31 December 2021 -

As the fair value of the net assets and liabilities is greater than the total consideration transferred, in
accordance with IFRS 3, €309.6 million was immediately recognised as an exceptional administrative gain in
the year ended 31 December 2021 (see Note 4).

The fair value of acquired external trade receivables was €54.6 million. The trade receivables comprise gross
contractual amounts of €54.6 million, of which all was expected to be collectable at the date of acquisition.

The Group benefits from an indemnity in respect of all product litigations claims identified as contingent
liabilities and claims filed against the company by subcontractors in relation to specific dispute which all
relate te pre-acquisition periods. An indemnification asset of €29.4 million, equivalent to the fair value of the
underlying cstimate of these liabilities, was recognised by the Group and is included within non-current other
receivables.

The revenue included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income since 5 January 2021 to 31
December 2021 contributed by the acquired entity was €70.1 million. The entity also reported a profit betore
tax of €28.4 million over the same period. There would be no material change to these values if the
acquisition had occurred on 1 January 202].

The finalisation of the valuation work required 1o determine the fair values of the assets and liabilities
acquired has becn completed within 12 months of the acquisition date and did not result in any changes.
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3. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESSES (continued)

Hess Denmark ApS

On 30 August 2021, the Group’s subsidiary, INEOS E&P A/S, acquired Hess Denmark ApS. The acquisition
comprises 61.5% of the HESS operated Syd Arne oil field (which the Group alrcady holds 36.8% prior to the
acquisition) and 4.8% interest in the Solsort field for which the Group holds the operatorship. The acquisition
unlocked operational and cost synergies between the Group’s Danish asscts and opened up prospects in
Denmark’s offshore oil and gas sector. This acquisition forms part of the Energy segment.

Final values

recognised on

acquisition
€m
Acquiree’s net assets recognised at the acquisition date:
Property, plant and equipment 342.6
Deferred tax asscts 60.8
Inventories 1.2
Trade and other receivables 7.4
Cash and cash equivalents 2.4
Tax receivables 25
Trade and other payables (13.0)
Lease liabilities (21.0)
Provisions (263.0)
INet assets 129.9
Consideration paid:
Cash 1121
Deferred consideration 5.5
Total consideration transferred 117.6
Negative goodwill at acquisition (12.3)
Recognised as an exceptional administrative gain 12.3

Goodwill as at 31 December 2021

The fair values were provisional as at 30 August 2021. This was due to the complexity of the acquisition and
the inherently uncertain nature of the oil and gas sector; further work was required to confirm the final fair
value. The finalisation of the valuation work required to determine the fair values of the assets and liabilities
acquired has been completed within 12 months of the acquisition date and did not result in any changes.

A discounted cash flow model was used to estimate the fair value of acquired property, plant and equipment,
which included oil and gas assets, based on the life-of-field plans and their relating decommissioning
liabilitics. Expected future cash flows are based on estimates of futurc production and commodity prices,
operating costs, and forecast capital expenditures using the life-of-ficld plan as at the acquisition date.

Deferred consideration of €5.5 million relates to several tax scttlements, of which €2.4 million was settled in
the current financial period. €3.1 million remains unsettled at year end and is included within current
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet based on the timing of expected payments.

As the fair value of the net assets and liabilities is greater than the total consideration transferred, in
accordance with IFRS 3, €12.3 million was immediately recognised as an exceptional administrative gain in
the year ended 31 December 2021 (see Notec 4).

The revenue included in the prior year consolidated statement of comprehensive income contributed by the
acquired entities was €38.4 million. They incurrcd a €2.5 million loss before tax cver the same period.

If INEOS Energy (Syde Arne) ApS had been consolidated from | January 2021, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income would show pro-forma revenue from these entities of €94.0 million and a loss before
tax of €32.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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3. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESSES (continued)

BP Petrochemicals

On 31 December 2020, pursuant to an acquisition agreement dated 29 June 2020 between INEGS Holdings
AG and BP, certain subsidiaries of the Group agreed to purchase the Aromatics and Acetyls businesses from
certain subsidiaries of BP (the “BP Acquisition”™ or the “BP Petrochemicals Business™), including shares in
seven jomntly-controlled joint ventures and the assets owned and used 1n relation to the Aromatics and Acetyls
businesses.

The total purchase price for the BP Pctrochemicals business ot $4,990.0 million (€4,178.3 mtllion equivalent)
was subject to a completion accounts scttiement process. Cash of £88.3 million was acquired with the
Aromatics and Acetyls businesses on 31 December 2020. During 2021, the completion accounts settlement
process was tinalised, leading to a €85.8 million cash inflow from BP.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 the Group reviewed these provisional fair values and the fair value
of identifiable asscts and liabilities acquired, purchasc consideration and goodwill was updated in 2021 as
shown in the table below. Following the clarification of certain terms of the sale and purchase agreement with
BP, additional liabilitics were recognised in relation to employees’ compensation costs triggered at the
acquisition date for €23.8 million and transfer to BP of a tax refund received by PT INEOS Aromatics
Indonesia for €6.4 million.

2020 2021
Final values
Accounting Provisional recogniscd
Book value un policy Fair value fair value on Revaluation on
__acquisition alig] t _adjustments acquisiti dat acguisition
€m
Acquiree’s net assets at acquisition date:
Propetty. plant and equipment...........o.oovenirenn. 1,726.2 294 (41.9) 1.713.7 - 1.713.7
Intangible asscts 34 - 558.7 562.1 - 562.1
Investments in equity accounted investess..... 7891 - 3903 1,179.4 - 1,179.4
Other non-current financial assets .................. ... 2.0 - - 2.0 - 20
Other investments .............. 12.6 - - 12.6 - 12.6
Other non-current receivables .. 1.6 - - 1.6 - 1.6
Deferred tax asSels ... ...ocovvnimiiins cverinieiree . 8.3 - 18.2 26.5 - 26.5
INVENTOTIES Lo+ e 3222 294 {4.6) 288.2 - 288.2
Trade and other receivables 455.4 - (33.6) 4218 - 4218
Cash and cash equivalents ... . .. 88.3 - - 883 - 883
Current and non-current interesi-bearing toans and
BOTTOWINES (ooovic e e (17.2) - - (172) - (172)
Current and non-current leasc liabilities. (85.4) - - (85.4) - (85.4)
Cuyrrent and non-current trade and other payables ... (404.2) - (4.0) (408.2) (30.2) (438.4)
Employee benefits......o.o.oeieeon 2.4) - 0.1y 2.5 - (2.5
Current and non-current provisions, 2.9) - (1.5) (4.4) - (4.4)
Deferred tax liabilitics.........occeeeo (82.4) - 17.2 (65.2) - (65.2
Net identifiable assets and liabilities acquired ... 2,814.6 - 898.7 3,7133 30.2 3,683.1
NOT-CONLLONING ITETESL . oeeueies e it eteeier ettt —oomeees oo oo oo e {45.1) - (45.1)
Net assets 3,668.2 (30.2) 3,638.0
Consideration paid:
Cash consIAETation ... ... et et et e 4,178.3 - 4,178.3
Completion accounts settlement adjustment.............. (66.0) (19.8) (85.8)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange ....... - 0.9 0.9
444.1 11.3 455.4

Difference between consideration and net assets acquired

The difference between consideration and net assets acquired has been recognised within intangible assets in
note 11. Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

4. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

Exceptional expenses

2022 2021
€m
Exceptional cost of sales:
Tangible fixed asset impairment charge ... (223.6) -
Plant closure costS ..o RO e e - (19.0)
Environmental ProviSiOns .........ooceviiiieiiiimm s ie et e sae e - 1121.6)
{223.6) {140.6)

Tangible fixed asset impairment charge

The Group has recognised an exceptional impairment charge of €223.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, in relation to the tangible fixed assets. The recent trading performance of the O&P UK
business has been challenging in the midst of market volatility that has seen very high natural gas prices.
Consequently, operating rates have remained constrained. The impairment loss was based on a value in use
calculation. The business valuation was negatively impacted by lower than expected cash flows within the
current business plan, reflecting the challenging economic and competitive conditions expected in the near
term for the site.

Plant closure costs

In March 2021, the Group announced the closure of the sulphur chemicals plant at Runcom, United Kingdom
and its withdrawal from the UK sulphur chemicals market. As a conscquence, exceptional provisions of €11.9
million were recognised to cover the cost of exiting certain commercial agreements and the safe
decommissioning of the plant. A further exceptional charge of €2.1 million was incurred in respect of
redundant stock write-downs. Moreover, included in depreciation for the year ended 31 December 2021 1s
€12.5 million of impairment charges in respect of the closed plant (see Note 10).

Remediatton activities are continuing at Wilhelmshaven, Germany following the closure of INOVYN’s
mercury cell room in 2013. Tn 2021, a further provision of €5.0 million was made to cover the extended
operation of the waste water treatment plant until the demolition of the cell room is completed {see below).

Environmental provisions

In 2016, INOVYN’s mercury cellroom at Runcorn, United Kingdom ceased production. Following a full
review and assessment of scope and the availability of reliable cost estimates an exceptional provision of €25.8
million was recognised in 2021 to cover the demolition of the cetiroom, including the safe disposal of
hazardous waste and elemental mercury.

In 2021 a €22.6 million provision was made by the Group’s site in Runcorn, United Kingdom in rclation to the
demolition of the redundant Weston Point Power Staticn after management approved plans for the removal of
asbestos from the structurc. Morcover, a dismantling provision of €9.1 million was also recognised at Runcorn
in relation to the aforementicned closure of the sulphur chemicals plant.

The Group also approved plans in 2021 for the dismantling of the mercury cell room at Wilhelmshaven,
Germany and related infrastructure in 2021, after atmospheric and groundwater mercury levels exceeded
permissible limits, with total provisions of €25.0 million being recognised.

At the Group’s site at Tavaux, France, an exceptional charge of €18.5 million (€21.8 million of new provisions
lcss €3.3 million of grants receivable) was incurred in 2021 in order to comply with the obligations of the EU
Water Directive, specifically in relation to an industrial s¢ale waste water treatment plant and the scaling of
sedimentation basins.

In addition to the above, further exceptional charges of €20.6 million (€23 .4 million of new provisions less
€2.8 million of grants reccivable) were created in 2021 at the Group’s sites at Lillo, Belgium; Zandvliet,
Belgium; Tavazzano, ltaly; Ferrara, Italy; Tavaux, France; and Runcom, United Kingdom for various
remediation related projects mostly associated with mercury contamination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE, YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

4. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (continued)

2022 2021
€m

Exceptional administrative expenses:
Restructuring of Aromatics and Acetyls operations.................... e —— e (1.3) (37.8)
Acquisition related COSIS ... i e - 4.1
Early retirement costs - (1.8)
Aborled acquisilion costs...........o - (1.0
Restructuring of oil and gas operations.. (2.6) (11.9)
Legal and professional costs ... . . - (4.5) -
ABOTCA PEOJECT COBLS . ooeviiii i ettt e b e saes e e aeeeeneanee (3.8) -

(12.2) (56.6)

Restructuring of Aromatics and Acetyls operations

In 2022, the Aromatics businesses incurred €1.3 million of exceptional charges in respect of manpower
reorganisations. In 2021, the Aromatics and Acetyls businesses incurred €37.8 million of exceptional charges
in respect of manpower reorganisations and various 1T-related costs following the cessation of the TT
transitional service agreement with BP.

Acquisition related costs

Further acquisition-related professional fees of €4.1 million relating to legal, accounting, human resources,
industry specialists, environmental specialisis and other consultancy cosis were incurred in 2021 in relation to
the 2020 acquisition of the Aromatics and Acetyls businesses from certain subsidiaries of BP,

Early retirement costs
In 2021 early retirement costs of €1.8 million were incurred following the full utilisation of the closure
provision in connection with the Styrenics Marl site.

Aborted acquisition costs
In 2021 acquisition related costs of €1.0 million were charged in respect of a potential acquisition, which have
not been pursued or completed.

Restructuring of oil and gas operations
In 2022 restructuring costs of €2.6 million (2021: €11.9 million) were charged in relation to internal
restructuring of senior management and onec-off restructuring costs relating to oil and gas acquisitions.

Legal und professional costs
In 2022 the Group incurred exceptional legal and professionpai costs of €4.5 miliion related to establishing a
new LNG business activity within the Energy Trading business.

Aborted project costs
In 2022, the Aromatics businesses incurred €3.8 million of exceptional charges related to cancellation of
projects started under BP ownership which are no longer being pursued.

2022 2021
€m

Exceptional finance expenses:

Charge on carly settlement 0f debt. ..o 4.3) (52.7)

In 2022, exceptional finance costs of €4.3 million were incurred in relation to the write off of unamortised debt
issue costs associated with the Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 and the Term Loan A Facilities due 2025
which were repaid in full on 31 May 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

4. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (continued)

[n 2021, exceptional finance costs of €32.7 million related to the write oft of unamortised debt 1ssuc cosis
assoctated with the Five-Year Euro Term Loan A Facility, the Bridge Facilities and the INOVYN Senior
Secured Term Loan B Facility that were repaid on 29 January 2021,

Exceptional gains

2022 2021
€m
Exceptional administrative gains:
Negative goodwill on acquisitions (see Note 3. oo - 3220
OHRET Lo e - 0.7
- 322.7

Negative goodwill on acquisitions

On 30 August 2021 the Group acquired Hess Denmark ApS. Total consideration paid was €117.6 million to
purchase net assets with a fair value on acquisition of €129.9 million. The resulting negative goodwill of €12.3
million was credited to the consolidated income statement as an exceptional administrative gain in the year
ended 31 December 2021 (see Note 3).

On 5 January 2021 the Group acquired INEOS Automotive SAS, formerly Smart France SAS. Total
consideration paid was €3.9 million to purchase net assets with a fair value on acquisition of €313.6 million.
The resulting negative goodwill of €309.7 million was credited to the consolidated income statement as an
exceptional administrative gain in the year ended 31 December 2021 (see Note 3).

Other

During 2021 the exceptional credit of €0.7 million relates to the release of provisions made in prior years for
legal claims and commercial disputcs.

There is no material effect on the tax charge due to any of the exceptional items.

5. OPERATING PROFIT

Included in operating profit are the tollowing:

2021 2021
€m
Research expenses as INCUITEd ... e 236.2 1439
Amortisation of iNTANZIDLE A5SELS .. ..vuiouuiriiir oo e e e e 148.1 1553
Amortisation of deferred income... 4.9) (4.9)
Expenses relating to short-term l@ases ... 93 9.8
Expenses relating to leases of low value. ... 0.6 22
Expenses relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the 2.3 19.7
lease Labllity . ..o
Income from sub-leasing of right-of-use assets . (6.3) 3.9
Net fair value toss on commodity derivatives ... e 3874 697.0
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment:
OWOEH @SSELS ..ot e ettt et d e et be b ra s e e e e n e n e e 1.040.6 773.8
RN OT-US€ BSS@LS ..ttt iireiire i s st srr e et e et e e s ee e e eer e s ema e e s n et e e e erneane 109.0 104.1
Auditor’s remuneration 2022 2021
€m
Audit of these fiNancial STACMENES ....oei i et e 0.1 0.2
Amounts receivable by auditors and their associates in respect of:
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation ... 7.6 5.1
Services relating to corporate finance traNSACIONS .....ccooiiiirt i - 03
Al OUREE SETVICES .-ttt ettt ettt e e e eee e s ee e e e e tne e e 0.2 0.5
7.9 6.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

6. STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

The average monthly number of persons employcd by the Group (including Directors) during the year,

analysed by catcgory, was as follows:

OPCrAtIONS .. i e e e e e
AMINTSIFALION oo ettt eb ettt

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

Wages and salaries................. PO PP OOUP PP SOURSTPONY
Social security costs
Other pension costs - defined contribution plans
Other pension costs - defined benefit plans ...

7. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

2022 2021
Number
8,692 8,893
2,801 2,899
251 307
11,744 12,099
2022 2021
€m
1,113.4 1,074.5
165.0 146.3
58.6 53.9
22.7 259
1,359.7 1,300.6

The Directors did not receive any emoluments for their services to the Group during the year (2021: €nil),

8. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Recoguised in consalidated income statement

Finance income
Interest receivable on bank balances ...t et e
Interest receivabie on related party balances.............

Exchange movements
Dividend income

Cther interest receivable
Totat finance income.

Finance costs

Interest payable on Term Loans, bank loans and overdrafis ..........oooocoocviiil
Interest payable on Bridge Facility ...
Interest payable on Senior Secured Notes and Scnior Notes.......ooooi e
Interest payable on Securitisation facility ...
Interest payable on rclated party balances...........o e
Interest payable on lease liabilities ... e [ERR
Interest on employee benefit Habilities ........ocoiiiivi i e
Amortisation of debl iSSUe COSIS ...t e
Net unwind of disCount on Provisions ........cccooiiicieeciiee e e e
Other finance charges ...
Net fair value loss on derivatives. ... e
Exchange movements.............. S O SO PSSO
Borrowing costs capitalised in property, plant and equipment ....... ...
Total finance costs before exceptional HeMS v vrrerrmerrresrmerrsresesssrasrrssrnees
Exceptional finance costs (see Note d) ..o SO

Total finance costs

Net finance costs

o4

2022 2021
€m
106 20
12,2 1.7
36.4 127.5
2.6 -
i1.3 6.6
73.1 147.8
184.5 141.3
- B3
68.2 62.4
39 35
155.3 1333
188 18.1
0.6 21
20.9 32.5
(6.6) 5.6
14.7 17.8
19.0 -
©.9) 5.9)
4754 4192
4.3 52.7
479.7 471.9
406.6 324.1




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

9. TAX CHARGE

Taxation recognised in the consolidated income statement

Current tax expense

Clrrent Year ..o e
Adjustments 1in respect of prior years
Total cuUrrent X eXPeIISE .ot ieeisiisiisisirsisssnnriia st sanars s s s baasssasa s e ns ar s nms nrnas svabnses

Deferred tax credit
Origination and reversal of temporary differences.........oo
Adjustments in respect of previously unrecognised tax l0SSEs. .......coocooriiiiiciiccii e
Adjustments in respect of prior years
Deferred tax credit (see Note 15)

Total tax (credit)/charge.

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Profit before taxation............

Tax using the UK corporation tax ratc of 19.00% (2021: 19.00%}
Non-deductible expenses ...
Tax EXEMPL FEVEIIES ._...ooiiiieiiitiiieet it e rme s s sse s en e e s rame e em e ene e
Effect of tax rates in foreign JurisdiCtions . .........oveiiierin e et
RedlUCtion I FALES .....ociiiiiiiii ettt e s
Effect of rate Chamges ... e e
Deferred tax not recognised ... e e e e
Adjustments in respect of previously unrecognised tax LOSSES.......ccmvivieirinvcci e,
Use of tax losses not previously recognised... ...
S T 1 LT U TSRO RS,
Adjustments in respect of PTIOT VEATS........cciiiii e e e
Total tax (credit)/Charge. .t sesae s

2022 2021
€m
278.9 641.8
36 37.6
310.5 679 4
(341.2) (497.8)
(337.1) -
(24.8) (33.3)
(703.1) (531.1)
(392.6) 148.3
2022 2021
€m
1,527.0 2,237.2
290.1 425.1
21.0 49
(199.8) (198.8)
282.1 274.9
(66.6) -
2.5 163.8
(386.6) 91.6
(337.1) -
- (550.5)
- (67.0)
6.8 4.3
(392.6) 148.3

The Finance Bill 2021 which increased the rate of corporation tax to 25% on profits over £250,000 from April
2023 was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. As a result, deferred taxes in the United Kingdom are
measured at 25%. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective

jurisdictions.

Taxation credit/(charge) recognised in other comprehensive (expense)/income

Remeasurcments of post employment
benefit obligations .....cccevveeiiiiieeicc
Share of other comprehensive
income/{expense) of joint venture ............
Fair value (loss)/gain on investments in
equity instruments designated as FVTOCI
Reclassification of foreign exchange
translation difference on disposal of
subsidiaries to profitand loss ...................
Foreign exchange translation differences ..

2022 2021
Graoss Tax Net Gross Tax Net
€m
(111.1) 27.5 {83.6) 120.9 (21.3) 99.6
249 - 249 (6.3) - {6.3)
(12.2) - (12.2) 3.8 - 58
9.8 - 9.8 - - R
(137.2) - (137.2) 181.9 - 181.9
(225.8) 275 (198.3) 302.3 (21.3) 281.0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant &
machinery,
fixtures
and fittings,
Land and and motor 0Oil and Right-of-use  Assets under
buildings vehicles gas assets construction Total
€m
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2021 ... 682.2 5,578.0 2,206.9 551.1 1,233.4 10,250.7
Businecss acquisitions (see Note 3) 102.1 52.6 321.6 21.0 69.6 566.9
Business disposal (see Note 34). - (0.1) (833.1) (1.4) - (834.6)
AdGIONS. oo . 11.6 99.8 63.0 54.5 1.083.7 1,3126
DHsposals..ooiiii (7.5) (289.3) - (18.8) (1.2) 316.8)
Reclassification. ... 1333 607.5 18.8 1.0 (746.4) 14.2
Modifications - - - 28.0 - 28.0
Effect of movements in foreign exchange......... 30.7 3121 107.0 19.0 95.4 564.2
Balance at 31 December 2021.........ccooiieeremens 952.4 6,360.6 £,8833 654.4 1,734.5 11,585.2
Business acquisitions (see Note 3)._....ooocvvnnn. - 0.3 - 0.8 - 1.1
Business disposal (sec Note 34) .. (49.2) (25.6) - (7. (530.3) (612.2)
Additions.......... . 347 647.1 24.7 59.3 690.3 1,456.1
Disposals.......... 2.1) (79.3) - (52.6) (16.9) (150.9)
Reclassification ... 798 3536 50.1 0.8 (387.7) 96.6
MOodifIcAtONS ..., - - - 66.4 - 66.4
Effect of movements in foreign exchange......... 0.7 (145.5) (65.1) 32 (8.5) (215.2)
Ralance at 31 December 2022...............ccuvene. 1,016.3 7,111.2 1,893.0 725.2 1,481.4 12,227.1
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2021 . 102.9 1.888.7 1,417.6 117.6 - 3,526.8
Depreciation charge for the year..................... 332 538.3 2238 104.0 - 899.3
Impairment charge for the year......................... 1.5 54.8 15.9 0.1 723
Reversal of prior year impairment charges ....... - - (93.7) - - (93.7)
Business disposal (scc Note 34) - (0.1) (413.6) (1.0) - (414.7)
Disposals............ . (1.7} (288.1) - (7.7 - {307.5)
Reclassification.... 0.4 (6.2) - 0.7) - (6.5)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange......... 3.8 122.7 76.3 5.5 - 208.3
Balance at 31 December 2021.___.......... 140.1 2,310.1 1,226.3 207.8 - 38843
Depregiation charge for the year 324 586.3 182.0 109.0 - 909.7
Exceptional impairment charge for the year..... - 1431 - - 80.5 2236
Impairment charge for the year............ccc.co.. - - 16.3 - - 16.3
Business disposal {see Note 34).......ccoeevennnne (3.6) (4.9) - 2.9) - {11.4)
Disposals......c.oooooeeenn e (1.6) (87.1) - (33.5) - (122.2)
Reclassification ....... 6.1 42 9.0 {0.9) - 18.4
Effect of movernents in foreign exchange......... (0.4) (67.9) (54.5) 1.6 (2.0) (123.2)
Balance at 31 December 2022.........eivcennees 173.0 2,883.8 1,379.1 281.1 78.5 4,795.5
Net book value
At 31 December 20210 8123 4.050.5 657.0 446.6 1,734.5 7.700.9
At 31 December 2022 343.3 4,227.4 513.9 444.1 1,402.9 7.431.6

Exceptional impairment charges
The exceptional impairment charge in 2022 of €223.6 million reflects the impairment of the tangible fixed
assets relating to O&P UK business located at the Grangemouth site (see Note 4).

The fixed asset impairment assessment is based on the value in use model which is using three year plan then
into perpetuity based on the life of the assets (see Note 32). The value in use calculation considers natural gas
price forecast and various other assumptions at the balance sheet date. The impact of high natural gas prices
experienced in the sccond half of 2022, general market volatility and delays around the new energy project
(“NEP”), there is still some significant risk and volatility around future profitability performance,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The longer-term forecasts have been prepared using the latest commercial and business assumptions, which are
as follows:
e  Weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) has changed from 8.5% to 11.25% becausc of the rising
intergst rate environment;
*  Growth rate of 3%,
s Agset life of 40 years; and
s Terminal value of 35 yeare.

The key sensitivities and the impact on the exceptional impairment charge are detailed below:

Discount rate 1% increase €99 million increase
Discount rate 1% decrease €120 million decrcase
Terminal growth rate 1% decrcase €73 million increase
Asset life 1 vear reduction €5 million increase
Turnaround overrun probability Low 10% to Medium 50% €99 million increase
Natural gas price 10 pence per therm increase €79 million increase
Natural gas price 10 pence per therm decrease €79 million decrecasc

Other impairment charges and reversals

In 2021 an impairment charge of €12.5 million was incurred following the Group’s decision to close the
sufphur chemicals plant and business at its site in Runcorn, United Kingdom (see Notc 4). A project to
investigate the economic viability of a cellroom conversion utilising membrane technology at Martorell, Spain
was aborted in 2021, resulting in an impairment charge of €9.1 million. Further impairment charges of €34.7
million were made in 2021, the majority of which was in relation to the write-down of basic engineering works
and equipment associated with an own-build new steam generator unit in Bayport, US after the project was
abandoned in favour of entering into a long-term supply agreement with a third party. The proposed
construction of new world-class styrene monomer plant in the US Gulf Coast was also aborted after new
capacity announcements in China led to a re-¢valuation of project economics.

The significant increase and volatility in oil and gas prices in 2022, along with the introduction by the UK
government of the Energy Profits Levy (EPL) was scen as an indication of an impairment reversal, thercfore
the Group has reviewed the carrying value of its oil and gas properties across all CGUs. The recoverable
amount of the assets has been determined based en the higher of value-in-use and fair value less cost to sell.
These calculations use cash flow projections over the life of ficlds based on commercial and production
forecasts. The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations included a pre-tax discount rate of 13.4%
on the Breagh Area, a pre-tax discount ratc of 9.1% on the Siri area, a long term gas price of 74p/therm, a long
term o1l price of $69/bbl and an inflation rate of 2%. The long term gas and oil prices are based on consensus
from a group of third party oil and gas analysts and banks. As a result of the assessment, an impairment charge
of €16.3 million against the Group’s Danish (Siri Area) assets in connection to the 2022 increcase in the
decommissioning estimate has been recognised (2021: €16.0 million charge). No impairment charges or
reversals were necessary or available on other assets since the recoverable amounts were higher than their
carrying value (2021: €93.7 million reversal). Further information on impairments and impairment risk is
included in Notc 11 and Note 32.

Leased assets

The Group leases many assets including land and buildings, vessels, railears, storage and transportation
infrastructure, machinery, IT equipment and motor vehicles which are classified as right-of-use assets. Rental
contracts are usually made for periods between | to 20 years, but may also include extension options.
Extension options are included only if the lease term is reasonably certain to be extended and the decision of
extending is mainly up to the Group (as a lessee).

More information regarding the right-of-use (ROU) assets are presented below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 {forming part of the financial statements)

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2021 ... e
Reclassifications ..............

Business acquisitions (sce Note 3)...

Business disposal (see Note 34) oo
AddITiONS ..o e e
DHSPOSAIS. ...
Modifications ...,
Effect of movements in foreign exchange................o
Balance at 31 December 2021

ReclassifICations ..o e e e

Business acquisitions (see Note 3).....coovvinniniviiiininn i,
Business disposal (see Note 34)....
Additions ...
Disposals....
Muadifications............

Effect of movements in foreign exchange. ...
Ralance at 31 December 2022 .........evrciininscnnenissensessinenes

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance at 1 January 2021 ...
Reclassificatlons ... e
Business disposal (sec Note 34) ...
Depreciation charge for the year................coov
Impairment charge for the year........c.ccoooiiiiiincinic
DHSPOSRIS ..ot e
Effect of movements in foreign exchange..........ccooviiecreninnnn,
Balance at 31 December 2021 .....oivrvenireenmenminmnesmesmnneansa
Reclassifleations ..ot e
Business disposal (sce Note 34).
Depreciation charge for the year...
Disposals.........i
Effect of movements in foreign exchange. ........cccooovvivneins
Balance at 31 December 2022 .......ivomonmveinniininniennmenininn
Net book value

At 31 December 2021
At 31 December 2022

See Note 25 for the lease obligations on right-of-use assets.
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Plant &
machinery,
fixtures
and fittings,
Land and and motor ROU
buildings vehicles Total
€m
2430 308.1 551.1
23 (1.3) 1.0
- 210 21.0
(1.4 - (1.4)
4.4 50.1 54.5
(1.3) (17.5) (18.8)
50 23.0 28.0
5.1 13.9 19.0
257.1 397.3 654.4
(2.3) 31 08
0.8 - 0.8
(1.0} 6.1) (7.1)
16.4 429 593
(6.8} {45.8) (52.6)
10.6 55.8 66.4
(2.3) 5.5 3.2
2725 452.7 725.2
33.7 83.9 117.6
- 0.7 ©0.7)
(1.0) - (1.0)
18.4 85.6 104.0
- 0.1 0.t
(1.2} {16.5) (7.7
1.1 4.4 55
51.0 156.8 207.8
- (0.9) 0.9
(0.6} (2.3) 2.9)
22.1 86.9 109.0
6.9 (26.6) (33.5)
(0.4) 2.0 1.6
65.2 215.9 281.1
206.1 240.5 446.6
207.3 236.8 444.1




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Evaluation
Intellectual and
License Customer property Environmental Non compete exploration Player Development
fees lists rights certificates agreements cost registrations costs Goodwill Total
€m

Caost
Balance at | January 2021 . 356 1.074.8 463 6 36.9 33 2226 1847 185.6 1.904.3 41114
Additions 1.5 48.5 - 1.9 415 2.2 - JUs3
Disposals .. - - {1.6) {40.1) - - (25.5) - - (67.2)
Business acquisitions (see Note 3) ... 0.6 - - - - - - - 1.3 11.9
Business disposal {sce Note 34)....... - - - - - 354 - - (113.6) {149.0)
Reclassifications ..o eeeveee e, 4.0 - {0.6) - - - - - - 34
Effect of movements in foreign
CXENANGC ... e 19 44.1 240 1.0 - 16.1 - {0.1) %94 176.4
Balance at 31 December 2021.. 42.1 1,118.9 486.9 463 3.3 2079 2007 394.7 1.891.4 4,392.2
Adduions .. 0.1 - 2.5 153.0 - 1.8 450 119.0 - 3214
Disposals .. (2.7 - - (63.2) - {19.5) - - - {85.4)
Business acquisitions {(see Note 3).... - - 124 - - - - - - 174
Business disposal (sec Note 34). - {40.1) (184) (0.7) - - - - (38.0) {98.2)
Reclassifications (1.8) - - - - - - - - (1.8)
Effect of movements in foreign
exchange. .. 6.8 20.1 133 (1.9) - {2.9) - - 18.6 47.0
Balance at 31 December 2022......... 44.5 1.098.9 495.7 133.5 33 1803 245.7 513.7 1,872.0 4,587.6
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
Balance a1 | Jangary 2021 . 258 326.7 1064.0 - - 173.2 47.8 4.4 567.7 1,249.6
Amortisation for the year . 17 811 387 - - 4.8 258 12 - 155.3
Business disposal (see Note 34). - - - - - (0.6) - - - (0.6)
Disposals - - (1.6) - - - (12.6) - - (14.2)
Eftfect of movements in foreign
EXCHENEC ooev e e 04 78 ER! - - 13.3 (0.1 - 253 498
Balance at 31 December 2021 299 415.6 144.2 - - 190.7 609 5.6 593.0 1,439.9
Amortisation for the year 42 838 429 0.3 - - 15.6 1.3 - 148.1
Rusiness disposal (see Note 34}, - (17.5) (77N (0.2) - - - - - (25.4)
DHSPOSALS e (2.7 - - - - {195} - - - (22.2)
Effect of movements in toreign
exchange. ... 0.1 5.9 2.0 0.1 - (2.0) - - {29.4) (30.3)
Balance at 31 December 2022 315 487.8 181.4 0.2 - 162.2 76.5 6.9 563.6 1,510.1
Net book value
At 3] December 2021 . 12.2 703.3 3427 46.3 3.3 172 139.8 380.1 1,298.4 2,952.3
At 31 December 2022.. 13.0 &11.1 3143 133.3 3.3 18.1 169.2 506.8 1,308.4 3,077.5

Separable intangible asscts for customer relationships represent value attributed to customer relatienships

arising from contractual rights and non-contractual relationships and for intellectual property value mainly in
relation to the right to use patents. Those were recogniscd as part of acquisitions in Styrolution as well as part
of the acquisition of the Aromatics and Acetyls businesses. The remaining customer life or the acquired
customer relationships range between 2 and 16 years and for the acquired intellectual property rights the
remaining uscful lives range between 6 and 15 years.

Other customer relationship intangible assets relate to prior acquisitions and are split into ABS, Specialities
and Polystyrene sectors. The remaining useful lives range between 3 and 17 years. Other intellectual property
rights intangible assets relate to production technology and brands from prior acquisitions. The rematning
useful lives range between 9 and 15 years.

Environmental certificates are in respect of costs associated with the purchase of EU and UK Emissions

Trading Scheme allowances and the nitrogen oxides emisston scheme in the US. The emissions allowances are
subject to impairment under the indefinite lived intangible asset impairment model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Business disposal

The disposal of INEOS Styrolution India Limited in November 2022 resulted in the disposal of intangible assets
of €72.2 million, of which €38.0 million related to goodwill (see Note 34). The transfer of 50% of the
shareholding in INEOS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Limited to Sinopec in December 2022
resulted in the disposal of intangibles assets of €0.6 million {see Note 34).

Amortisation charge
The amortisation charge for 2022 and 2021 is recognised in administrative expenses in the consolidated
income statement.

Goodwill
No impairment charge has been recorded in these financial statements during the ycar ended 31 December
2022 as a result of the annual impairment test.

As at 31 December 2021, goodwill relating to the Oil and Gas — Norway CGU had been fully disposed as part
of the disposal of the operations (sce Note 34).

Goodwill has been allocated to cash generating units (CGU) or groups of cash generating units as follows:

2022 2921

€m
Polymers EMEA 252.2 2522
Polymers Asia........ 61.6 98.6
POIYITIELS AMEIICR. oo ioiiii it ettt et oot eee e 196.0 184.5
SEYTENE MOIOITIET «oo.euiii ittt ettt sttt o eme e e oo e ee e aerans e eeen 1859 178.1
Gil and gas - UK 174 18.4
81.6 81.6
374.6 360.1
134.4 120.2
4.7 4.7
TOMAL. e e et e e A R e e e e e et 1,308.4 1,298.4

The Polymers EMEA, Polymers Asia, Polymers Americas and Styrenec Monomer CGU’s relate to the
Styrolution business.

For the Styrolution business’ CGUs, the Group determined the recoverable amount based on value in use. The
recoverable amount is calculated on a long-term business plan for the CGUSs with a detailed planning period of
three years and a consistent terminal growth rate of 0.5% for cach unit for the period thereafter. The key
assumption on which management based its cash flow projection is EBITDA before exceptionals over the
detailed three year planning period, which is seen as the most important performance indicator and the basis
for cash flow estimates used to determine the value in use. The terminal growth rate of 0.5% reflects the
expected economic growth rates of countries in which the Group is operating. The main assumptions for the
preparation of the three-year-business plan are the economic growth developments in the main customer
regions and industries of the Styrolution business. These assumptions are based on external market data as well
as internal asscssments. The expected demand that is derived from the growth assumptions is compared with
the supply balance of its product groups.

For the oil and gas CGUs the recoverable amount has been determined based on higher of value-in-use and fair
value less cost to sell. These calculations used cash flow projections over the life of the fields based on
commercial and production forecasts. The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations included a
pre-tax discount ratc of 13.4% on the Breagh Area, a pre-tax discount rate of 9.1% on the Siri area, a long term
gas price of 74p/therm, a long term oil price of $69/bbl and an inflation rate of 2%. The long term gas and oil
prices are based on consensus from a group of third party oil and gas analysts and banks.
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

For the Aromarics and Acetyls businesses, the recoverabic amount, being value in use, is calculated on a long-
term business plan for the CGUs with a dctailed planning period of three years and a terminal value which
represents the mid-cycle performance on which a consistent terminal growth rate of 2.0% is applied for the
periods thereafter. The terminal growth rate of 2.0% represents the average expected growth rates in the
countries in which the Group is operating. The main assumptions for the preparation of the three-year business
plans are the production volumes and margins, and dividend income from the joint ventures. The margin
assumpiions are based on external market data as well as intcrnal assessments. The volume assumptions are
based on historical run rates of the asscts and approved imcrease of production projects.

The following discount rates were applied per cash generating unit to determine the cash flow projections:

Polymers Polymers Polvmers Styrene
EMEA America Asia Monomer Acetyls Aromatics
Post-tax discount rate ... 7.9% 7.9% 7.9% 7.9% 7.7%-10.7% 7.9%-9.7%
Qil and gas
UK Denmark
Prec tax discount rate................. 13.4% 9.1%

Sensitivity analysis on the recoverable amount was performed based on a 10% increase in the discount rate, a
10% decrease to the growth rate and a 10% decrease in the gross margin, all of which are considered a
reasonable possible change in estimate. Neither of these changes resulted in the recoverable amount being
lower than the carrying amount e¢xcept for the Hull CGU in the Acetyls business and the Geel CGU in the
Aromatics business.

These two CGUSs have limited headroom and as a result any change in assumption can result in the recoverablc
amount being lower than the carrying amount. Management has considered the assumptions used to determine
the recoverable amount and considered that those assumptions are conservative especially around the price
curve used for energy; moreover the current forecasts do not take into account future developments to improve
the economics of the plants. On this basis, the absence of headroom, in the case of Hull CGU, or the limited
headroom, in the casc of Geel CGU, is not considered as an indicator that an impairment loss is required. The
margin assumptions are one of the key assumption in determining the recoverable amount of each CGU. These
margin assumptions are developed by management based on external market data as well as internal
assessments and require a significant amount of judgement. The Group has estimated that a [0% reduction in
margin could give raise to an impairment of approximately €150 million for the Hull CGU and could reduce
the headroom to nil for the Geel CGU.

Further information on impairments and impairment risk is included in Note 10 and Note 32

71



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

12. INVESTMENTS

12a. Investments in Equity—Accounted Investees
Details of the associated undcrtakings, joint ventures and other investments are set out below:

Country of Registered
registration or Class/ percentage office
Investment incorporation Principal activity of shares hetd reference
Associated undertakings:
Fluxel SAS ... France Port operator Ordinary/20% (a)
INIZOS Runcorn (TPS) UK Thermat Power Station Ordinary/ 60%" )
Holdings Limited.................... operator
Joint ventures:
INEOS PCG Acetyls Sdn. Bhd Malaysia Production of acetic acid Ordinary/ 70% (d)
and other acetyls products
Yangtze River Acetyls Co. Production of acetic acid Member interest/ (e}
Lad oo China and other acetyls products 51%
LOTTE INEOS Chemical Production of acetic acid
Co.Ltdeovveviiiiiiieieeieene.. Korea and other acetyls products Ordinary/ 50.94% (f)
Formosa INEOS Chemicals Production of acetic acid
COrp..ccceiereieiacineiiciecinene. Taiwan and other acetyls products Common/50% (2)
BP YPC Acetyls Company Production of acetic acid Member interest/
{Nanjing) Ltd...................... China and other acetyls products 50% (i)
Atlas Mcthanol Company
Unlimited........ccooceceenins Trinidad Methanol production Ordinary/36.9% 3)
China American Production of acetic acid
Petrochemical Company Ltd  Taiwan and other acetyls products Ordinary/61.36% (k)
INEQS Slyroluli(_m Sinopec Production of various
Advanced Materials China olefins and polymers Ordinary/50.0% (v)
(Ningbo) Limited.................
Mercedes-Benz Grand Prix Operation of F1 racing
Limnited ....ccoooocvieeiiiieeeeeee UK team Ordmary/33.3% (c)
Joint arrangements:
Runcomn MCP Limited ......... UK Cell rcom operator Ordinary/ 50% (b)
Brine solution mining
GIE Cancel-Bresse ... France services Ordinary/ 50% (I
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12. INVESTMENTS (continued)

Investment

Country of
registration or
incorporation

Principal activity

Class/ percentage
of shares held

Registered
office
reference

Other investments:

Akra Polyester SA de CV ...

Tereftaltos Mexicanos SA de

IndustriET AS ...

Sociedad Espaiiola de
Materiales Plasticos SEMAP

Soctiete Intercommunale
[’ Amenagement el
d’Equipement Economique....

BKVGmbH..... ...

Industrins Riddningstjanst i

Stenunesund AB ...
APT PVC - u.

Umweltheratung GesmbH ...

Hallbar Kemi i Stenungsund

Energy For Growth Societa’
Consortile A Responsabilita'
Eimitata. ..o
Power to Methanol Antwerp

Shetland Land Lease Timited.

Belgium

Germany
Sweden

Austria

Sweden

Italy

Belgium

UK

Manutacture of polyester
filaments and polymers

Production of purified
terephthalic acid

Energy consultancy

Plastic waste management

Economic development of
province of Namur

Plastic recycling

Firc and rescue service

PVC iechnology solutions

Sustainable production
association

Energy consortium

Sustainable mcthanol
production consortium

Development of building
projects

Nong of the above investments are held directly by INEOS Industries Limited.
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Ordinary/6.65%

Ordinary B/8.55%

Ordinary/ 12.5%

Ordinary/8%

Ordinary/0.17%

Ordinary/2.0%
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Ordinary/20.0%

Ordinary/7.3%

Ordinary/14.3%

Ordinary/20.0%
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12. INVESTMENTS (continued)

Registered Office Address

(a)
ib)
{c)
(d)
(e)
3]
8
(h)
(i)
)
k)
n

(n}
(o)
(p)
(a)
{ri
(s}
{t)
{u)
)
(w)
(x}
(y)

At | January 2021 ...

Share of retained eamings...

Dividends received ...
Additions ................
Impaimments...............
Business disposal {see

Effect of movements in forcign exchange..

At 31 December 2021

Share of retained eamings...
Share of other comprehensive income .

Dividends received
Reclassification
Additions

Loss on disposal of equity accounted investments.

Business disposal {see

Effect of movements in foreign exchange

RBP 43, Route Gay Lussac, 13117 Martigucs. France

Bankes Lane Office, Bankes Lane, Runcom, Cheshire, WA7 4]JE, United Kingdom

Operations Centre, Brackley, Narthamptonshire, NN13 7BD

12th Floor, Menara Symphony No. 5, Jalan Prof Khoo Kay Kim, Scksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Sclangor Darul Ehsan,
97 Weijiang Road (in the Petrochemical Park), Changshou District, Chongging, China

6 3-15 Sanggae-ro, Cheongnyang-myeon, Uljugun, Ulsan, 44987, Korca

No. 1-1Formosa Industrial Comples, Mailiao, Yunlin Hsicn, Taiwan

Verkstadsvagen 11, 44431 Stenungsund, Sweden

9i Huo Ju Road, Liu He District, Nanjing. fiangsu Province, China

Maracaibo Drive, Point Lisas Indusirial Estate, Point Lisas, Trinidad and Tobage

6" Floor, No. 413 Section 2 Ti-Ding Blvd., Neihu, Taipei, 11493, Taiwan

12 Rue Raoul Nordling €'S 7001, 92270 Bois Colombes, France

Avenida Adolfo Ruiz Cortines y Priv. Roble 8§/, Col. San Pedro Lozano, Menterrey, Nuevo Ledn, 64299, Mexico
Av. Ricardo Margain Zozaya 444, Torre Equus IZA Sur, Colonia Valle del Campestre, San Pedro Garza Garcia, Nuevo Leon,
Postboks 1367 — Vika, 0114 Oslo, Norway

Calle Principe de Vergara 204 - Primero C — 28002, Madrid, Spain

Rue de la Religion, 10, 1400 Nivelles. Belgium

Mainzer Landstrafle 55, 60329 Frankfurt amm Main, Germany

Xantener Str. 237, 47495 Rhcinberg, Germany

Paniglgasse 24/1/19°, A-1040 Wien, Austria

Fregatten 3, 444-30 Stenungsund. Sweden

Via Giovanm Da Procida, 11, 20149, Milan, Italy

Scheldetaan 480, 2040 Antwerpen. Belgium

18th Floor, 10 Upper Bank Street, London, F14 5BF, United Kingdom

Suite 3406, Teem Tower, No. 208, Tianhe Road, Tianhe District, Guangzhou, 510620, China

Investments
in equity-
Joint Associated accounted Other
ventures undertakings investees investments Total
€m

1,149.8 222 1,172.0 173 1,189.3

462.5 {0.3) 462.0 - 462.0
Share of other comprehensive eXpenses.....c.ccocvoveiivorene. (6.3) - {6.3) - {6.3)
(188.7) - (188.7) - (188.7)

- - - 0.7 07
- - - (1.0 (1.0)
NOE 34) v (1.5) - (1.5) - (1.5)
100.8 (0.2) 100.6 1.1 101.7

1,516.6 215 1,538.1 18.1 1,556.2
2554 1.6 257.0 - 257.0

249 - 249 - 249

(401.4) - (401.4) - (401.4)
(33.8) - (33.8) 3.2) (37.0)

691.3 - 691.3 - 691.3
{20.1) - (20.1) (6.6) 26.7)
Note 34) - - - {0.2) (0.2)
......................... 225 0.3 228 1.7 245

....... 2,055.4 234 2,078.8 9.8 2,088.6

At 31 December 2022
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12. INVESTMENTS (continued)

Additions

On 25 January 2022, the Group purchased one-third of the share capital of Mercedes-Benz Grand Prix Limited
for consideration of £208.4 million (€248.2 million). This investment has been classified as a joint venture and
the Group uses the equity method of accounting.

In December 2022, the Group's subsidiary, INEOS Styrolution APAC Pte. Limited, entered into an agreement
to transfer 50% of'its shareholding in INEOS Styrolution Advances Malerials (Ningbo} Pte Limited to China
Petroleum & Chemical Corporation. As a result, the Group loss control but retained joint control. The retaincd
50% interest in the business was fair valued at the date of the transaction at €443.1 million (see Note 34).

Reclassifications

In November 2022, the Group made a non-cash exchange for its current interest in Tricoya UK Limited (30%
intcrest} and in Tricoya Technologies Limited (9% interest) for shares in Acesys Technologies Plc. This share
exchange resulted tn an impairment ot €26.6 million and a reclassification from joint ventures and other
investments of respectively €3.0 million and €3.2 million to other financial assets (sce Note 13).

The Group provided an ABS technology license service to the newly acquired INEOS Styrolution Sinopec
Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Limited joint-venture. A reclassification of €30.8 million was made to eliminate
the Group’s share of royalty revenue recognised in the current year.

The total net assets of joint ventures at 31 December 2022 was €2,055.4 million and the profit for the year was
€255.4 million of which €2,043.5 million and €253.1 million related to the Group’s material joint ventures,
respectively. Set out below is the summarised financial information of the Group’s material joint ventures as at
31 December 2021 and 2022, which are measured using the equity accounting method.

2022
IXEDS
Styrolution
Sinopec
Attas LOTTE Formosa Yangtze INEOS YPC Advanced

Methangl INEOS INEOS PCG INEQS River Acctyls Tricoys Materials Mercedes-

Company Chemical Co. Acetyls Sdn. Chemircals Acetyls Co. Company UK {Ningha) Benz Grand

Unlimited Led Bhd. Corp Ltd (Nanjing) L.td Limited* Lid. Prix Limited, Total

€m
Current assets............. 6472 199.1 68.5 85.3 454 327 - 78.3 83.5 657.0
Non-current assets ... 1128 451.0 154.8 1963 1207 108.6 - 646.1 260.3 20506
Current liabilities ....... (15,1 (90.1) (13.3) (11.5) {4.6) (10.5) - (76.5) (57.4) (279.0)
Non-current hiabilities (30.8) (39.4) {29.3) 2.3) 0.4) (0.1) - (2355 {(27.2) (385.0)
Net assets ..ocoooeeenenenns 111.1 520.6 180.7 267.8 161.1 130.7 - 412.4 259.1 2,043.5
Other operating
income ........ccceevvenes 1854 1,190.6 159.6 115.9 1394 61.2 - - 170.0 2,022.1
Operating expenscs.... (116.3) (995.8) (142.2) (10L.5) (116.8) (59.4) (0.2) - (144.0)  (1,676.2)
Interest expenses........ 2.7 1.3 (L.O) (0.0) 0.9 (0.4) - - 0.1} (2.0
[ncome tax expenses.. (232 (54.4) (5.6) (2.8) 0.6 (0.6) - - (4.8) (90.8)
Total profit for the
YEAT wcenrnieciseaaneaannen 43.2 141.7 10.8 11.6 24.1 0.8 0.2y - 21.1 253.1

Dividend received..... 53.2 161.6 34.7 39.0 58.1 54.8 - - - 401.4

* Effective on November 2022, the Group exchanged its share in in Tricoya UK Limited (30% interest) and in Tricoya Technologies Limited

(9% mterest) for shares in Accsys Technologies Plc.. See above note 12(a) - Reclussifications.
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12. INVESTMENTS (continued)

2021
LOTTE Formusa Yangtze INEOS YPC
iblas Methanol INEDS INEOS PCG INEQS River Acetyls Tricoya
Company Chemical Co. Acetyls Sdn. Chemicals Acetyls Company UK
Unlimited Led Bhd. Carp Co.ltd  _(Nanjing)Ltd  Limited Total
€m

Current assets.......... 753 240.0 97.0 103.1 94.7 82.1 3 695.3

Non-current assets ........ 1153 448.1 157.6 2089 1110 109.6 25.6 1,176.1

Current liabilities.......... (30.9) (136.2) (32.3) (23.7) (9.8) (9.8) (1.4) (244.1)

Non-current liabilities... (44.8) (30.5) (31.1) (0.2) 0.4) (0.1) (3.6} (110.7)

12b. Investments in subsidiaries
Class of Ownership
Registered Country of shares
Office Incorporation held 2022 2021

INEOS Industries Holdings Limited® ........c.......c.ce... 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Belstaff Property Limited i UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INECS Zhuhai Chemical Company Limited™ . 71 China Ordinary 81.6% 91.9%
EURL Promofoot..... ..o cociiiiieeenienes e aniie 39 France Ordinary 100% 100%
EVC Pension Trustees Limited............ccoon 7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Grangemouth CHP Limited ..........oooooiiiivnieee 2 UK Ordinary [00% [100%
Grangemouth Energy Company Limited .....cco.ooee. . 1 UK Ordinary 73.8% 73.8%
Grangemouth Holdings Limited™ ... I UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Grangemouth Properties Limited™ ... ; UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS 120 Energy Limited™ ... i UK Ordinary - 100%
INEQS 120 Exploration Limited .......c.ccooceiinee ! UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS 120 Power Limited™ .. .. 1 UK Ordinary - 100%
INEOS 123 Limited ... 8 UK Ordinary 100% -
TNEOS 159 Limited ..o 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS 179 Limited ... 1 UK Ordinary 100%, 100%
INEOS ABS (UK) Limited ...t 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS ABS (USAYLLC ..., 3 United States Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Acetyls Americas Limited........... RSSO 65 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEQS Acetyls [nternational Limited........ccooy e 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Acetyls Investments Limited............ 65 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Acetyls Japan K.K. ............. 76 Japan Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Acetyls (Korea) Limited......... N 65 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Acetyls (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd. ........... 67 Malaysia Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Acetyls UK Limited ............... [ UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Arcmatics & Acetyls Trading (Shanghai) 77 China Ordinary 100% 100%
Company Limited ...
INEOS Aromatics Belgium Holdings LEC ... 3 United States Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Aromatics Belgium NV ... 68 Belgtum Ordinary 100% 100%
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12. INVESTMENTS (continued)

Class of Ownership
Registered Country of shares

Office Incorporation held 2022 2021
INEOS Aromatics Holding Company ..................... 3 United States Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Aromatics Indonesia Holdings Ltd. - 64 United States Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Aromatics Holdings Limited ........................ 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Aromatics Limited...........cocoo. 65 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Aromatics Asta Limited ........coooovoiiinenenns 66 Hong Kong Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Automotive Limited .......cooooeiniinnins 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Automotive GmbH . 52 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Automotive Research Limited.................... 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Automotive Americas LLC ... 3 USA Ordinary 100% -
INEOS Automotive Australia PTY Limited ............. 10 Australia Ordinary 100% -
INEOS Automotive Espana S.L...........cocoe 11 Spain Ordinary 100% -
INEOS Automotive Italia S.R.L 12 Italy Ordinary 100% -
INEOS Automotive New Zealand Limited................ 13 New Zealand Ordinary 100% -
INEOS Automotive South Afiica (ITY) Limited...... 14 South Africa Ordinary 100%
INEOS Automotive Unipessoal Lda......................... 53 Portugal Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Automotive SAS ... 15 France Ordinary 100% 100%
INEQS Aviation Limited ..o i UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Bio Newco LLC . .o 3 United States Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Chemicals Grangemouth Limited................. 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Chlor Atlantik GmbH .....coooviiiiiini 78 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Chlor Trustees Limited.....ccoocoviviiiniccicnne. 7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS ChiorVinyls Holdings BV ... 79 Netherlands Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Clipper South B Limited ..o 8 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Clipper South C Limited ... 8 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOQS Commercial Services UK Limited ................ 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS E&P (Norge) Petroleum DK AS . . 51 Norway Ordinary 100% 100%
INEQS E&P {Petroleum Denmark} ApS ................... 48 Denmark Ordinary 100% 100%
TINEOS E&P A/S e 48 Denmark Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS E&P DK A/S oo 48 Denmark Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOQS E&P Grenland A/S.. ... 49 Greenland Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS E&P Faroyar P/IF. ... 50 Faroe Islands Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS E&P Norge A/S. i 51 Norway Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS E&P (UK) Limited ... 8 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS E&P Services {UK) Limited........ooooeeiinne. 8 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS E&P (Siri) UK Limited .......ocoooiicn, 8 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Energy LNG Limited........ccoocomiiiie, 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Energy (Syd Amc) ApS ..o, 48 Denmark Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Energy Trading Limited ..................c.coe. 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Enterprises Group Limited ... 7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Films Italia S.r.lo...e 9 ltaly Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS FPS Limited. ........c..coocoeininns . 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEQS Grangemouth Limited. ..o 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Heattheare Holdings Limited ........................ 1 UK Ordinary 80% 80%
[INEOS Healthcare Limited .....ooovvrrirneic oo | UK Ordinary 100% 100%
TNEOS Industries America TLLC.....cccoooovviiiiicinienne 3 United States Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Industries America I LLC ... 3 United States Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Industries Newco 2 Limited ... 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Industries Newco Limited ... 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS INOVYN Limited™ ... 7 UK Ordinary 94.9% 94.9%
INEOS Newton Aycliffe Trusices Limited............... 7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Offshore BCS Limited.........ocoooiiiiecin, 8 UK Ordinary 85% 85%
INEOS Quattro Finance 1 Plc 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
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12. INVESTMENTS (continued)

INEOS Quattro Finance 2 Ple ...
INEOS Quattro Financing Limited.
INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited
INEQOS Quattro Holdings UK Limited......................
INEOS Racing Limited.......ccoccoooiire e e v
INEQOS Racing NZ Limited.................................
INEOS Shipping Limited............ccooooviviiiiniceieeen.
INEOS Shipping GmbH.........................
INEOS Styrenics Germany GmbH ...
INEOS Styrenics GmbH ...
INEOS Styrenics International S A ...
INEOS Styrenics Manufacturing GmbH ...
INEOS Styrenics UK Limited...........o.oooee
INEOS Styrenics USLLC ...

INEOS Styrolution (Thailand) Co., Ltd. ...
INEOS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo)

INEOS Styrolution America LLC
INEQOS Styrolution APAC Pte. Ltd, Japan Branch ...
INEOS Styrolution APAC Pte. Ltd..
INEQS Styrolution Belgium N.V. ..o
INEOS Styrolution Belgium Servicesbvba................
INEQOS Styrolution Canada Limited.......c.ccoooo i
INEOS Styrolution do Brasil Polimeros Ltda. ...
INEOS Styrolution Furope GmbH ...
INEOS Styrolution France SAS ... ...
INEOS Styrolution France Services SAS ...............
INEOS Styrolution Finance GmbH ...
INEOS Styrolution Group GmblII...
INEOS Styrolution Holding GmbH(d)
INEOS Styrolution Hong Kong Company L1mm:d .....
INEOS Styrolution Iberia S L.
INEOS Styrolution India Limited!®
INEOS Styrolution Investment GmbH ........................
INEOS Styrolution Italia S.rL. ...
INEOS Styrolution Kimyasal Uriinler Ticaret

Limited SirKetl. oo e
INEOS Styrolution Kéln Gmbll

INEOS Styrolution Korea Led. ...............
INEOS Styrolution Ludwigshafen GmbI ..
TNEOS Styrolution Mexicana, S A . deC. V...
INEOS Styrolution Netherlands B.V........ccvienienn,

INEOS Styrelution QOO
INEOS Styrelution Poland Sp. zc.0........

INEOS Styrolution Polymers {Shanghai) Company
Limited .o e
INEOS Styrolution Polymers (Shanghai) Company
Limited, Guangzhou Branch...............cccccoooeeeeiiieinn,
INEOS Styrolution Polymers (Foshan) Company
Limited ..
INEOS Styrolution Polymers {Foshan) Company
Limited - Guangzhou Branch ..............c.oooiieian.

Class of
Registered Country of shares Ownership
Office Incorporation held 2022 2021
] UK Ordinary 100% 100%
1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
| UK Ordinary 100% 100%
1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
54 New Zealand Ordinary 100% 100%
1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
55 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
16 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
16 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
17 Switzerland Ordinary 100% 100%,
16 Germany Crdinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
4 United States Ordinary 100% 100%
18 Thatiland Ordinary 100% 100%
56 China Ordinary 50% 100%
3 United States Ordinary 100% 100%
19 Japan Ordinary 100% 100%
20 Singapore Ordinary 100% 100%
2t Belgium Ordinary 100% 100%
22 Belgium Ordinary 100% 100%%
25 Canada Ordinary 100% 100%
26 Brazil Ordinary 100% 100%
23 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
27 France Ordinary 100% 100%
28 France Ordinary 100% 100%
23 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
23 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
23 Germany Ordinary - 100%
29 China Ordinary 100% 100%
30 Spain Ordinary 100% 100%
31 India Ordinary - 75%

23 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
32 Lealy Ordinary 100% 100%
33 Turkey Ordinary 100% 100%
34 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
35 Korea Ordinary 100% 100%
23 Germany Ordinary 100% 106%
36 Mexico Ordinary 100% 100%
24 Netherlands Ordinary 100% 100%
Russian 100% 100%

37 Federation Ordinary
38 Poland Ordinary 100% 100%
100% 100%

6 China Ordinary
100% 100%

5 China Ordinary
100% 100%

39 China Ordinary
100% 100%

40 China Ordinary
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12. INVESTMENTS (continued)

INEOS Styrolution Polymers (Ningbe) Company
Lamited oo s
INEOS Styrolution Polymers (Ningbo) Company
Limited - Shanghai Branch...............
INEOS Styrolution Schwarzheide GmbH ...................

INEOS Styrolution {China) Investment Company
Limited oo e e
INEOS Styrolution UK Limited .....

INEOS Styrolution US Holding LLC ...,
INEOS Styrolution Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH......
INEQOS Styrelution Vietnam Co., Ltd. ...
INEOS UK E&P Holdings Limited.........cooooeie
INEOS UK 8SNS Limited.......oooocoviiiini e
INEOS Upstream Limited ...
INEOS Upstream Holdings Limited..........cc.cccoveeeenen,
INEOS Upstream Services Laimited ... v
INEOS US Chemicals Company .......ccoocoviveeriieneene
INEOS US Petrochem LLC..........ooooiiiiieec e
INEOS Vinyls GmbH & Co. KG....cooooiiiii,
INEOS Vinyls Holdings Ttalia S.r.l.
INEOS Vinyls UK Limited'® ... .......cooooieiieieece.
INEOS World-Wide Technical Services Limited........
INOVYN Americas Inc ...
INOVYN Belgium SA/NV ..,
INOVYN ChlorVinyls Holdings Limited.....................
INOVYN ChlorVinyls Limited ......c...cocooieveevevieiinee
INOVYN Deutschland GmbH.............oo,
INOVYN Energy Limited .........oooooooiiiiiiiieine
INOVYN Enterprises Limited ..o
INOVYN Espana SL ...
INOVYN Europe Limited ..o
INOVYN Finance Ltd® ... oo
INOVYN France SAS ...
INOVYN Group Treasury Limited....cc.oovivvveivvininnnns
INOVYN Holdings Limited® ..........ccccooviiriiieiennn.
INOVYN Italia SpA ..o
INOVYN Manufacturing Belgium SA/NV .
INOVYN Newco 2 Limited......................

INOVYN Newton Aycliffe Limited ...
INOVYN NOrge AS e
INOVYN Olefines France SAS ...,
INOVYN Osterreich GmbH ...
INOVYN Portugal Lda......cooo v nnirnin
INOVYN Produzione [talia S.pa. .o,
INOVYN Quimica Espana SL..........cocooiie e
INOVYN Sales GmbH ...
INOVYN Sales International Limited'®' ...
INOVYN Schkopau GmbH ...
INOVYN Services Limited ...
INOVYN Sverige AB......... “
INOVYN Trade Services SA/NY
Kerling Newco 1 Limited...
Kerling Neweco 2 Limited ...c.ooooooeeiiiiiicee
Keuper Gas Storage Limited ...l

Class of
Registered Country of shares Ownership
Office Incorporation held 2022 2021

100% 100%

57 China Ordinary
100% 100%

58 China Ordinary
41 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%,
45 China Ordinary 100% 100%
42 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
3 United States Ordinary 100% 100%
23 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
43 Vietnam Ordinary 100% 100%
44 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
8 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
8 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
¥ UK Ordinary 100% 100%
3 United States Ordinary 10:0% 100%
3 United States Ordinaty 100% 100%
78 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
Italy Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
65 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
4 United States Ordinary 100% 100%
80 Belgium Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
78 CGiermany Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
72 Spain Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
73 France Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
74 Ttaly Ordinary 100% 100%
80 Belgium Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
75 Norway Ordinary 100% 100%
73 France Ordinary 100% 100%
70 Austria Ordinary 100% 100%
62 Portugal Ordinary 100% 100%
63 [taly Ordinary 100% 100%
72 Spain Ordinary 100% 100%
78 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
78 Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
62 Sweden Ordinary 100% 100%
80 Belgium Ordinary 100% 100%
UK Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
7 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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12. INVESTMENTS (continued) Class of
Registered Country of shares Ownership

Office [ncorporation held 2022 2021
KR Copolymer Company Limited 47 Korea Ordinary 100% 100%
OGC Nice Investment Company Limited.... s 61 France Ordinary 100% 100%
PT INEOS Aromatics Indonesia........c.ocooooeeivie e 46 Indonesia Ordinary 100% 100%
SASP Olympic Gymnaste Club de Nice Cote d'Azur.. 60 France Ordinary 100% 100%
Tour Racing Limited 1 UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Vinyloop Ferrara SpA 74 [taly Ordinary 100% 100%

* Held directly by the Company as at 31 December 2022,

(a)
(b)

()
(d)
(c)

(f)

g)

Dissolved in Junuary 2022 tollowing liquidation.

On 22 April 2022, the Group sold part of its 75% share in INEOS Styrolution India Limited. This resulted in a reduction of the
ownership from 75.0% to 61.2%. On |7 November 2022, the Group sold its remaining shareholding interest of 61.2% 1o Shiva
Performance Matenials Pte Ltd. Profit attributable to the non-controiling intcrest is €8.4 million (2021: profit of €10.7 millicn).
Accumulated non-controlling interests are €nil (2021: €19.6 million).

Company re-certified from a public limited company to a private company effective 30 June 2021.

Effective from | January 2022, INEOS Styrolution Holding GmbH was merged into INEOS Styrolution Investment GmbH.
Portion of ownership interests held by non-controlling interests is 8.1%. The subsidiary was acquired on 31 December 2020, Loss
attnbutable to the non-controlling interest is €1.4 million (2021: €3.1 million). Accumulated non-controlling interests are €43.0 millien
(2021: €46.6 mullion).

Portion of ownership mterests held by non-controlling interests is 5.1%. The subsidiary was acquired on 31 December 2020. Profit
attributable to the non-controlling interest is €37.6 million (2021: €22.7 millton). Accumulated non-controlling interests are €23.1
million {2021: €5.7 million).

Dussolved in January 2023 tollowing hquidation,

Registered Office Address

WO N R W e -

i o
®w R W N e O

19

Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, 8043 7FG, United Kingdom

Utilities Control Building, East Office, PO Box 30. Bo'Ness Road, Grangemouth, Scotland, FK3 9XQ, United Kingdom
Corparation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wiimington DE 19831, United States

2600 South Shore Boulevard, League City TX 77573, United States

Suite 3406, Teem Tower, No. 208, Tianhe Road, Tianhe District, Guangzhou, 510620, China

Suite 2501 & 2503, Central Towers, 567 Langao Road, Putuo District, Shanghai, China

Bankes Lane Office, Bankes Lane, PO BOX 9, Runcorn, Cheshite, United Kingdom, WA7 4JE

Ancher House, 15-19 Britten Street, London, England, SW3 3TY, United Kingdom.

Via XXTV Maggio, 1, 21043, Castiglione Olona, Varese, Italy

South Quarter Building Tower C, GJ1. R.A. Kartini Kav. 8. Cilandak Barat. Jakarta, Indoncsia

Collins Square Tower 4, L18 727 Cotlins Street, Docklands VIC VIC 3008, Australia

PS De Gracia, 53, Atico 1, 08007, Barcelona, Barcelona, $pain

Viale Abruzzi 94, CAP 20131, Milano, [taly

BDO Auckland 9864, Level 4, 4 Graham Street, Auckland Central, Auckland, 1010, New Zealand

Europole de Samreguemines, 57910, Hambach, Hambach, France

Paul-Baumann-Strasse 1, D-45764 MARL, Germany

Avenue des Utting, 3, CH-1180, Rolle. Vaud. Switzerland

No. 4/2, 1-8 Road, T. Map Ta Phut, A Muang. Rayong, 21150. Thailand

Nishishinjuku 1-25-1, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo-to, Japan i
111 Somerset Road, 208-01.02 TripleOne Somerset, Singapore, 238164, Singapore

Haven 725, Scheldelaan 600, 2040 Antwerpen 4, Belgium

2070 Zwindrecht, Nieuwe Weg 1, 1053 Haven, Belgium

Mainzer Landstrasse 50, 60325, Frankfurt, Germany

Strawinskylaan 411, NL-1077XX, Amsterdam, Netherlands

872 Tashmoo Avenue, Sarnta ON N7T 8A3, Canada

Rua Arandu, 57, anterior 1544, conjuntos 111 and 112, Room A-1, Brooklin Paulista. Sao Paule, 04562-910 . Brazi!
rug Albert Duplat, F-62410. Wingles, France

95 rue la Boétie, F-75008, Paris. France

80
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12. INVESTMENTS (continued)

Registered Office Address

29
30
31

32
13
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51

32
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61

62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
7

72
73
74
73
76
77
78

Room 905, 9/F, OfficePlus@Sheung Wan, 93-103 Wing Lok Strect, Sheung Wan, Tong Kong, China

Ronda General Mitre 28-30, 08017, Barcelona, Spain

6th Floor, ABS Towers, Old Padra Road, Vadodara, 390007, India

Via Caldera 21, 20153, Milano, Ttaly

Biiyiikdere Cad Meydan Sok., Spring Giz Plaza K. 13 N.11, Maslak Sariyer, [stanbul. Turkey

Alte Strafle 201, 50769, Cologne, Germany

Sanggae-ro 143 (Sanggae-dong), Nam-gu, Ulsan, Scouth Korea

Avenida Insurgentes Sur We. 863, Piso 6, Colonia Néapoles. Delegacion Bemito Judrer, C.P., Distrito Federal, 03810, Mexico
Bldg. 3. 18 Pyatnitskaya St.. 115035, Moscow, Russian Federation

ul. Woloska 9, 02-583, Warszawa, Poland

No. 61, Jinben Industry Avenue, Xinan Sub-district, Sanshui District, Foshan, Guangdong Province, 528132, China
Suite 3406, Teern Tower, No. 208, Tianhe Road, Tianhe District, Guangzhou 513620 Shanghai, China

Schipkauer Strafle 1, 01987, Schwarzheide, Germany

c/0 DWF LLP, | Scott Place, 2 Hardman Strect, Manchester, England. M3 3A A, United Kingdom

11th Floor, Lottc Center Hanoi, 54 Licu Gial Street, Cong Vi Ward, Ba Dinh District, Hanoli City. Vietnam

Brodics House, 31-33 Union Grove, Aberdeen, Scotland, AB1O 65D

Suite 2502, 567 Langao Road, 200333, Shanghai, China

20th Floor Summitmas 11 J1,, Jend. Sudirman Kav. 61 - 62, Jakarta, Selatan, Indonesia

434, Sandanjungang-ro, Yeosusi, Jeollanam-do, 59643, South Korea

Nesa Allé |, 2820 Gentofte, Denmark

3 Hans Egedesvej, Nuuk, 3900, Greenland

I.H. Schreters Gota 7,100 Torshavn, Faroc Islands

Veritasveien 25, 4007 Stavanger, Norway

Jakob-Degen-Stralie 3, 71034, Boblingen, Germany

Praca Marqués de Pambal, 12, 1250 - 162, Lisboa, Portugal

Offices of Glaister Ennor, Barristcts and Salicitors, Norfolk House, {8 High Street. Auckland Central, Auckland, 1019, New
Alte Strasse 201, 50769, Kocln, {Germany

Building No. 3 Unit 1-10, 266 Beihai Road, Ningbo Petrochemical Zone, Zhenhai District, Ningbe, China

2388 Minghai North Road, Ningbo , Pctrochemical Economy & Technology Development Zane., Ningbo, Zhejiang. 315204,
25F, Central Towers, 567 Langao Road, Putuc District, Shanghai, 200333, China

4 Place Massena, 0600 Nice, France

19 Boulevard Jean Luciano. 06200 Nice, France

46034609, 46th Floor, Jardine House, One Connaught Place, Central Hong Kong

Hjalmarcvagen, 444 83 Stenungsund, Sweden

Via Piave 6, 57016, Rosignano Marittimo (LI), Italy

2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington DE 19808, United States

Chertsey Road, Sunbury on Thames, Middlesex, TW16 7BP, United Kingdom

Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong, Hong Kong

Level 9. Tower 5, Avenuc 7., The Horizon Bangsar South City,, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi,, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Amocoelaan 2 2440 Geel , Belgium

Rua do Centro Cultural No 5 - R/C, Sala 8, 1700-106, Lisboa, Portugal

Schottengasse 1, 4. Stock, 1010, Wien, Austna

Da Ping Harbour, Lin Gang [ndustrial Zone, Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province, China

Calle Maric Curie 1-3-5, 08760, Martorell. Spain

2 Avenue de la Republique, 39500, Tavaux, France

Via Marconi 73, 44122, Ferrara (FE), Italy

Rafnes Industriomrade, 3966 Stathelle, 0814 Bamble, Norway

Shinjuku Center Building 35F, -125-1 Nishi-Shinjuku, Shinjuku, Tokyo, 163-0635, Japan

Room 368, Part 302, No. 211 Fute North Road, China {Shanghai ) Pilot Free Trade Zone. Shanghai, China
Ludwigstrasse 11, 47495, Rheinberg, Germany
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

12. INVESTMENTS (continued)

Registered Office Address
79 Luna Arcna, Herkerbergweg 238, 110! €M, Amsterdam, Netherlands
80 Avenue des Olympiades, 20, 1140 Brussets, Belgium

12¢. Audit exempt subsidiaries

The subsidiary undertakings consolidated at 31 December 2022, all of which were incorporated in the United
Kingdom, were indirectly and wholly owned and claimed exemption from audit under section 479A
Companies Act 2006, were as follows:

Company name Company number
Grangemouth CHP Limited. ... SC178243
INEOS 123 Limited......... J OO P PPN PRTUPRIN 14313373
INEOS 159 Limited.......oooiiiciiii e, 12108666
INEOS Automotive Limited...........oooiiincciniin 11201576
INEOS Aviation Limited . 02697841
INEOS Healthcare Limited..........cooooooiiicice, 04607922
INEOS Industrics Holdings Limited............c.cccooeeee 06958119
INEOS Offshore BCS Limited ... 09687203
INEOS Racing Limited ... 11316288
INEOS Upstream Holdings Limited.............ccccceens 09121775
INEQOS Upstream Services Limited ... 09485976
13. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
2022 2021
Current €m
Derivative commodity contracts designated as fair value through profit or loss.............. 10.4 1933
Interest rate cap designated as fair value through profitorioss ... 24 -
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income ..o 5.4 -
Deferred consideration (S8 NOE 34) ... i eeeeeete e eeeeeeees e e e et eeeseseeneens 239.0 -
257.2 193.3
2022 2021
Non-Current €m
Derivative commeodity contracts designated as fair value through profit or loss.............. - 04
Interest rate cap designated as fair value through profitorloss ... 0.9 -
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income .........ccocoeoeevveee e 224 356
Other TeCeIvabIes ... o e e e 2.3 2.1
25.6 38.1

In November 2022 the Group acquired shares in Accsys Technologies Plc which have been classified as a
current financial assets designated as fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group intends to
participate in the development of the Company and to retain these shares in the long-term.

The deferred considerations are related to future instalments to be received from Sinopec on the achicvement of
certain milestones, which are expected to be fulfilled by December 2023,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current

Trade TECEIVADIES L...viiii it ettt ettt et e et ee e b nea e et e e

Amounts due from related parties (see Note 27)

OHBEr FECCIVADICS Lo i i ettt ee et ee et e e e bt s et e e e e ee e e et e

Prepayments......eoeeenee

Non-current

Trade recCivabBles ..o e e e

Amounts due from related parties (see Note 27)

Prepayments and 2c€ried THEOMIE ..o eceeis ettt oo
Dher reeeiVADIES ..o et et n e

Credit quality of financial assets and impairment losses

2022 2021
€m

1,579.6 1.992.8
310.0 368.6
413.9 693.8
122.9 181.2
24264 3.236.4
76.1 8.1
269.5 69.8
48.2 497
325.2 460.7
713.0 588.3

The ageing of trade and other reccivables at the end of the reporting period and the expected credit loss rate
(ECLR) was:

Not past due

Past due 0-30 days
Past due 31-90 days
More than 90 days

Not past due

Past due 0-30 days
Past due 31-90 days
More than 90 days

Trade receivables

Amaounts due from related parties

Other receivables

Gross Impairment ECLR Gross Impairment ECLR Gross Impairment ECLR
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
€m €m % €m €m %o €m €m %
14359 {0.4) - 579.5 - - 736.1 - -
206.3 0.3) (0.1)% - - - 1.9 - -
2.3 - - - - - - - -
t4.1 (8.2) (58.2)% - - - 1.1 - -
1,658.6 (8.9) (0.5) 579.5 - - 739.1 - -
Trade receivables Amounts due from related parties Other receivables
Gross Impairment ECLR Gross Impairment ECLR Gross Impairment ECLR
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
€m €m % €m €m %o €m €m %
1,9103 {0.3) 0.0% 438.4 - - 1,072.2 - -
829 (0.3) 0.4% - - - 26.5 - -
8.4 {0.1) 1.2% - - - 28.3 - -
14.4 (14.4) 100.0% - - - 27.5 - -
2,016.0 (15.1) 0.7% 438.4 - - 1,154.5 - -

The accounts receivable not yet due after impairment losses as of the end of the reporting year are deemed to
be collectible on the basis of established credit management processes such as regular analyses of the credit
worthiness of our customers and external credit checks where appropriate for new customers (see Note 24c).

At 31 December 2022 and 2021 there were no significant trade, related party or other receivable balances not
past due that were subsequently impaired. There were no allowances made against amounts due from other
receivables during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the ycar was as follows:

€m
AL T JanUary 2028 ..o et T e bR e e 16.2
Released 10 INCOIMIC STALSIIEIIT . .. oo i e ettt v et e ee et e et tee bt ae st eantssaeneasseenaeeass i amnnasmnaaeeabass (0.9}
L1 LT RN et (0.7)
Exchange adjUstments., .. oo e ee e e et e e e e e 0.5
At 31 December 2021 15.1
Charged to income statement . 0.3
Disposals........ (0.6}
Utilised .......... e e et ee ettt ettt en st eeea erae e en et et e s RSO SO UPYSTRRSO (5.9
At 31 December 2022 3.9

The allowance account for trade receivables is used to record any impairment losses unless the Group is
satisficd that no recovery of the amount owing is probable; at that point the amounts considered irrecoverable
are written oft against the trade receivables directly. IFRS 9 uses a forward-looking “expected credit loss’
(ECL) model in assessing the recoverability of trade receivables.

Credit risk of trade receivables

2022 2021
€m
W L e e e e e e e e e e 1,573.1 1,905.8
72.4 78.0
13.1 322
(8.9) (15.1)
1,649.7 2,000.9

The credit risk grade is based on the analysis on both the quantitative and qualitative factors as detailed below:

e High: Customers under significant financial difficulty and customers for whom there is an uncertainty
of payment based on knowledge of factors like insolvency, dispute. Any receivable morc than 180
days past due should also be classified in this category.

e  Medium: Any receivable between 90 and 180 days past due should be classified as medium risk
unless qualitative factors indicate a higher credit risk.

= Low: Any receivable less than 90 days past due should be classified as low risk unless qualitative
factors indicate a higher credit risk.

During the year the Group has not experienced a significant deterioration in the quality of recetvable balances
due to the current economic conditions.
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15. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITTES

Recognised deferrced tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax asscts and liabilities are attributable to the following:

2022
Assets Liabilities Total
€m
Property, plant and equipment ... 165.0 (277.9) (112.9)
[ntangible aSSCIS ... e - (135.9) {135.8)
TAVESIITIEIIES ... oot - (42.9) (42.9)
Employee benefits.................. 38.5 (7.0) 315
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 1,234.5 - 1,234.5
ORET ettt e s 228.1 (84.6) 143.5
Tax assets/(Habililes) e 1,666.1 (548.2) 1,117.9
Sl O T O T X e e e (146.5) 146.5 -
Net tax assets/(liabilities) ........ccmeiimincriimiomenienmram e sasssssieens 1,519.6 {401.7) 1.117.9
2021
Assets Liabilities Total
€m
Property, plant and equipment 877 (310.5) (222.8)
Intangible assets......... 0.3 (172.1) (171.8)
TV ESEITIEIIIS 1ottt et r e et e s e e ee e e e enmnanaas - (41.2) (41.2)
Employee benefils......_______._____ ... [EEUTOUURTUTO 51.3 (31.0) 20.3
Tax value of oSS CAITY-TOrWards ..........c...ccoovivrieriniisrerer e e eeees s eeseeseeerene 667.0 - 667.0
T e e e e e 203.5 (35.3) 168.2
Tax assets/(1iabilities) ..., 1,009.8 (590.1) 419.7
Set off of (X .o s (118.9) 118.4 -
Net tax assets/{liabilities) 891.4 471.7) 419.7
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15. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Movement in deferred tax during the year

Tax
value of
loss

Property, carry-

plant and Investments Intangible Employee forward

equipment assets benefits utilised Other Total

€m

At 1 January 2021 e {508.4) (38.0) (188.9) 62.2 1585 183.8 (330.8)
Recognised in protit or 1oss...coocveeeeneienenes (39.8) - 18.3 (18.7) 4829 88.4 531.1
Recognised in other comprehensive income . - - - (21.3) - - (21.3)
Business acquisitions (see Note 3) ................ 54.5 - - - 383 125 1053
Business disposal {see Note 34) .....ccocovvenn 301.0 - - - - (151.2) 149.8
Reclassifications.......coccoeevvreren e (27.4) - 1.0 (2.0 (7.1) 355 -
Exchange adjustments... (2.7) (3.2) (2.2) 0.1 (5.6) (0.8) (14.4)
At 31 December 2021 ..enoreenicrcnesisenns (222.8) (41.2) (171.8) 20.3 667.0 168.2 419.7
Recognised in profit or l0ss........cocovriicenee. 120.1 0.8 29.2 (17.7) 605.5 (34.8) 703.1
Recognised in other comprehensive income . - - - 275 ~ - 27.5
Business disposal {see Note 34) ... 4.8 - 8.0 - (2.2) (1.6) 9.6
Reclassifications.................. 4.7 - - (0.2) (6.3) 11.2 -
Exchange adjustments... . (10.1) (2.5) (1.7) 1.6 (29.4) 0.1 (42.0)
At 31 December 2022 .......cocrrerenerernrevrennnennes (112.7) (42.9) (135.7) 315 1,234.6 143.1 1,117.9

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future
taxablc profits is probable based on an assessment of expected future profits modelled against the gross tax
losses and deductible temporary differences available. The Group has recognized a deferred tax asset of
€1,519.6 million of which €368.2 million arises on amounts relating to loss making entities in the current or
prior years. Business models showing future estimated taxable income are the basis for recognizing deferred
tax asscts. The increase in the deferred tax assets is due to the commencement of trade for a number of

businesses in 2023,

The Group has not provided deferred tax on ring fence losses of approximaltely €339.1 million (2021: €813.0
million). The Group in addition has €3,069.2 million (2021: €3,894.5 million) of non ring fence losscs and
tempeorary differences of €2,145.8 million (2021: €2,200.8 million) for which no deferred tax asset has been
provided, which are available to offset against future trading profits. The Directors consider that the Group
should not recognise any deferred tax assets on these tax losses as based on future profit forecast therc is
insufficient certainty over the future utilisation of these temporary differences and tax losses.

The Group has not provided deferred tax in relation to temporary differences on its averseas subsidiaries or
joint ventures as the Group can contro] the timing and realisation of these temporary differences, and it is

probable that no material unprovided tax liability would arise.

16. INVENTORIES

Raw Materials ..o e e e e e e e
WV OIK 10 DIOEICSS et ieee et et ee ettt et ettt e e e e s r e e

Finished OOAS ..o e e e e e e

2022 2021
€m

695.0 655.8

169.9 2150

888.2 8672

1,753.1 1,738.0

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods recognised as cost of sales in the year amounted to
€12,755.7 million (2021: €12,551 .9 million). The write-down of inventories to net realisable value amounted to
€9.3 million (2021: €1.0 million) before the reversal of previous write downs of €4.9 million (2021: €4.0

million).
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17. EXTERNAL LOANS AND BORROWINGS

This note pruvides information about the contractual terms ot the Group’s external loans and borrowings,
which are measurcd at amortised cost. For more information about the Group’s cxposure to intercst rate and
foreign currency risk, see Note 24,

To provide more informative [inancial information, amounts due to related parties have now been separated
from external loans and borrowings on the balance sheet. Accordingly, the comparative financial information
for 2021 reflects the reelassification of wnounts due Lo related parties of €867.Y mullion rom what is now
‘External loans and borrowings’ to ‘Trade and Other Payables’ (see Note 18).

2022 2021
€m
Non-current liabilities
Three-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility ... .. e - 304
Five-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility ... e - 183.7
Three-Year Euro Term Loan A Facility. ... - 29.1
Quattro Term Loan B FACIILY ... et s vae e s ee e 3,307.0 3,208.2
Styrotution Term Loan B facility.......ocoevee el 630.1 620.4
Styrolution Senior Sccured Notes due 2027 ... . 597.8 597.0
Quattro Senior Securcd Notes due 2026........... . 1,259.9 1,227.8
O&P UK Senior Secured Term Loans. - 3029
FPS Senior Secured Term LOANS «....ocooiiiii et 68.8 133.1
U SALION F T TI TS . oot ittt e e e et e e s e e e et e e eee s st s aatrs s brare 12 eamae e amsmnsnneeanean (0.2) (0.3)
Quatiro Senior Notes dug 2026 ... e e e e eaeen 500.0 500.0
L0 1= T T - U SRR SRS 28.4 39.0
6.391.8 6,871.3
2022 2021
€m

Current liabilities
Three-Year Dotilar Term Loan A Factlity ..o, - 61.3
Five-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility ..., - (0.3)
Three-Year Euro Term Loan A Facility..... .. e - 59.1
Quattro Term Loan B Facility ... s 8.5 8.3
Styrolution Term Loan B facility ..o 1.2 1.1
Styrolution Senior Sccured Notes due 2027 L. 0.7 (0.7)
Quattro Scnior Secured Notes due 2026 ... e (4.4) {4.0)
O&P UK Senior Secured Term LOAnS ... eics e e snmees 3028 {1.8)
FPS Senior Secured Term Loans ... e 337 {1.3)
ORET TOANS .o ittt et ettt et ann e e 8.9 18.1

350.0 139.8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCTIAL STATEMENTS
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17. EXTERNAL LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Gross
loans and Net loans and
borrowings Issue costs borrowings
2022 2022 2022
€m
Gross debt and issue costs
Quattro Term Loan B facility..........ocoeiiiviee i oo 3,346.8 (31.2) 3,315.6
Styrolution Term Loan B facility.............. 634.4 3.1) 631.3
Styrolution Senior Securcd Notes due 2027 ... 600.0 3.0) 597.0
Quattro Senior Secured Notes due 2026 ... 1,268.7 (13.2) 1,255.5
O&P UK Senior Secured Term Loans ... 305.0 (2.2) 302.8
FPS Senior Secured Term Loans ... 106.2 [EN] 102.5
Securitisation Facilities - 0.2) (0.2)
Quatiro Senior Notes due 2026 ... s 500.0 - 500.0
BT LOBEIS ... vt oo e e eeeee st ite e e e e e as s e e e aaasasneme e eesssteesan e mrbrairens 37.7 0.4) 37.3
6,798.8 57.0) 6,741.8
Gross
loans and [ssue Net [oans and
borrowings costs borrowings
2021 2021 2021
€m
Gross debt and issue costs
Three-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility ..c.c.ccocviveiiiiicees e, 92.7 (1.0 91.7
Five-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility ..o 1853 {1.9) 1834
Three-Year Euro Term Loan A Facility........ccoooiirrnneeinicieece e 90.0 (1.8) 882
Quattro Term Loan B Facility............ 3.256.3 (39.8) 32165
Styrolution Term Loan B facility ... e 6254 (39 6215
Styrolution Senior Secured Notcs due 2027 600.0 37 596.3
Quattro Senior Secured Notes due 2026 ... 1.241.3 (17.5) 1,223.8
O&P UK Senior Secured Term Loans .........ooooveeenvcoice oo 305.0 (3.9) 301.1
FPS Senior Secured Term Loans ... 1369 (5.1) 1318
Securitisation FAcilIties. ..o e e - (0.3) (0.3)
Quattro Senior Notes due 2026, ... [SURR 500.0 - 500.0
OHRET LORNS ..o e e e e 57.7 (0.6) 57.1
7,090.6 (79.5) 7,011.1
Terms and debt repayment schedule
Currency Nominal interest rate Year of maturity
Quattro Senor Notes due 2026......ocooniierecennnn. UsDh 3.75% 2026
Quattro Euro Senior Secured Notes due 2026.......... EUR 2.50% 2026
Quattro Dollar Senior Secured Notes due 2026 ... UsSD 3.375% 2026
Quattro Euro Term Loan B Facility ...c.....ocovecneen. EUR EURIBOR (floor of 0.0%) - 2.75% 2026
Quattro Dolltar Term Loan B Facility................... usD USD LIBOR (floor of 0.5%) + 2.75% 2026
Styrolution Euro Term Loan B facilities.................. EUR EURIBOR (floor of 0.5%) + 2.00% 2027
Styrolution Dollar Tetm Loan B facilities ... UsD USD LIBOR (floor 0.0%) + 2.00% 2027
Styrolution Senior Secured Notes due 2027 ... FEUR 2.25% 2027
O&P UK Senior Secured Term Loans... ... " EUR 2.25%-3.25% 2025
FPS Senior Secured Term Loans ... [T O GBP SONTA+CAS-Margin 2025
Securitisation facilities EUR/USD/GBP Variable 2024
ABS Plant Facility ............. RMB China Loan Prime Rate minus 0.65% 2024
Reserve Based Lending facility .................... R GBP/USI/EUR Risk free rate +2.75% 2026
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

17. EXTERNAL LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 and 2025, Quattro Term Loan B Facilities due 2026
On 3t July 2020, thc Group entered into a Term Loan Agreement (as amended and restated) which consisted
of:

{1) Term loans maturing in 2023 denominated in US dollar and denominated in curo, in aggregate
principal amount of $140.0 million (the “Three-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility”) and €120.0
million (the “Three-Year Euro Term Loan A Facility™), respectively, (together, the *Term Loan A
Facilities due 20237

(ii) Term loans maturing in 2025 denominated in US dellar in an aggregate principal amount of $210.0
million (the “Five Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility™): and

(iii) Term leans maturing in 2026 denominated in US dollar (the “Dollar Term Loan B Facility”) and in
euro (the “Euro Term Loan B Facility™), in an aggregate principal amount of $2,000.0 million and
€1.500.0 million, respectively, (together, the “Term Loan B Facilities due 2026™).

The $85.5 million and €75.0 million outstanding principal of the Term Loan A Facilitics due 2023 and the
$£210.0 million outstanding principal of the Term Loan A Facilities due 2025 were repaid on 31 May 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, $1.970.0 milliun was drawn under the Dollar Term Loan B Facility (€1,846.8 million
equivalent); and €1,500.0 million was drawn under the Euro Term Loan B Facility.

The Term Loans that are denominated in dollars bear interest at a rate per annum equal to USD LIBOR divided
by 100% minus the USD LIBOR Reserve percentage (subject to a floor of 0.5% per annum}) plus 1.75% for the
Three-year Dollar Term Loan A, 2.25% for the Five-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility, and 2.75% tor the
Dollar Term Loan B Facility. Subsequent to the year end, the Group has initiated the process to transition from
LIBOR to SOFR.

The Term Loans that are denominated in curos bear interest at a rate per annum equal to EURIBOR (subject to
a floor of 0% per annum} plus 1.75% for the Three-Year Euro Term Loan A Facility, 3.5% for the Five-Year
Term Loan A Facility and 2.75% for the Euro Term Loan B Facility.

The cbligations under the Term Loan B Facilities arc jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior basis by the
certain of the Group’s subsidiaries.

The Term Loan B Agreement contains a number of limitations on indebtedness, restricted payments,
transactions with affiliates, liens and sale of assets.

The Term Loan B Facilities do not contain any financial maintenance covenants,

The Dollar Term Loan B Facility are to be repaid in quarterly instalments beginning on 30 September 2021, in
aggregate principal amounts equal to 0.25% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Dollar Term
Loan B Facility. The Euro Term Loan B Facility and the balance of the Dollar Term Loan B Facility are
payable, subject to certain exemptions, on 15 January 2026.

Styrolution Term Loan B facilities due 2027

The Group has outstanding borrowings under a credit facilities agreement dated 7 November 2014 (as
amended and restated) which consist of euro and US dollar denominated Term loans (referred to as the “Term
Loan B Facilities agreement™).

On 31 January 2020, the Group successfully completed an amend-and-cxtend transaction of the existing term
loans increasing the principal amount of the Euro Term Loan B borrowings to €450.0 million (the *Euro Term
Loan B due 2027") and the Dollar Term Loan B borrowings remained at $202.3 million (the Dollar Term
Loan B due 2027} .

As at 31 December 2022, £450.0 million remaincd drawn under the Euro Term Loan B due 2027 and $196.7
million (€184.4 million equivalent) remained drawn under the Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027.

From 31 January 2020, the new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bears interest at a rate per annum cqual
to USD LIBOR divided by 100% minus the USD LIBOR Reserve Percentage (as defined in the Term Loan B
Facilities Agreement) (subject to a floor of 0% per annum) plus:
« inthe case of new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bearing intercst at a rate determined by
reference 1o USD LIBOR, 2.00%;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

17. EXTERNAL LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

« in the case of new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bearing interest at a rate determined by
reference to Alternate Base Ratc, 1.00%.

Subsequent to year end, on 20 April 2023, the Group completed its transition from LIBOR to SOFR in relation
to the Dollar Term Loan B duc 2027.

From 31 January 2020, the new Euro Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bears interest at a rate per annum equal
to EURIBOR (subjcct to a floor of 0.50% per annum) plus 2.00%.

The obligations under the Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 is jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior basis
by the certain of the Group’s subsidiaries.

The Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 contatns a number of operating and financial covenants including
limitations on indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend

payments,

The Tertn Loan B Facilities due 2027 do not contain any financial maintenance covenants.

The new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 is to be repaid in equal instalments, in aggregate annual
amounts equal to 1% of the original principal amount of the new Dollar Term Loan B Facility duc 2027. The
new Euro Term Loan Facility due 2027 and the balance of the new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 are
payable on 31 January 2027,

Quattro Senior Secured Notes due 2026

On 29 January 2021, INEOS Quattro Finance 2 Plc, a subsidiary undertaking, issued €800.0 million aggregate
principal amount 2'2% Senior Secured Notes due 2026 (the “Euro Senior Secured Notes due 2026”) and
$500.0 million aggregate principal amount 3%% Senior Secured Notes due 2026 (the “Dollar Senior Secured
Notes due 2026™).

The Senior Secured Notes are listed on the Euro MTF - Luxembourg stock exchange. The Euro Sentor Secured
Notes bear interest at a rate of 2'4% per annum. The Dollar Senior Secured Notes bear interest at a rate of
3%% per annum. Interest on the Euro Senior Sccured Notes and the Dollar Senior Secured Notes is payable
semi-annually in arrears on 15 January and 15 July of cach year, beginning 15 July 2021. The Euro Senior
Secured Notes and the Dollar Senior Secured Notes will mature on 15 January 2026.

The Euro Senior Secured Notes and the Dollar Senior Secured Notes are jointly and severally guaranteed on a
senior secured basis by certain of the Group’s subsidiaries. The Euro Senior Secured Notes and the Dollar
Senior Secured Notes and the related guarantees are secured by first priority liens (subject to certain
cxceptions) on the same assets that secure the obligations under the Credit Facility Agreements, the Senior
Secured Notes due 2027, and certain hedging obligations and cash management arrangements.

The Euro Senior Secured Notes are subject to redemption at any time on or after 15 January 2023, at the option
of INEOS Quattro Finance 2 Plc, in whole or in part, at the following redemption prices (expressed as
percentages of the aggregate principal amount), if redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on 15
January of the year indicated below:

Euro Senior

Secured Notes

Redemption
Year Price
101.250%
100.625%
100.000%

In cach case, the redemption premium will be in addition te accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the
redemption date (subject to the rights of holders of record on relevant record dates to receive interest due on an
interest payment date).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

17. EXTERNAL LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

The Dollar Senior Secured Noles are subject to redemption at any time on or after 15 January 2023, at the
option of INEOS Quattro Finance 2 Plc, in whole or in part, at the following redemption prices (expressed as
percentages of the aggregate principal amount), if redcemed during the twelve-month period beginning on 15
January of the year indicated below:

Dollar Senior
Secured Notes
Redemption
Price
101.6875%
100.84375%
1060.000%

In each case, the redemption premium will be in addition to acerued and unpaid interest, if any, to the
redemption date (subject to the rights of holders of record on relevant record dates to receive interest due on an
intercst payment date).

The Eure Senior Secured Notes and the Dollar Senior Secured Notes contzin a2 number of operating and
financial covenants including limitations on indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates,
liens, sale of asscts and dividend payments.

Quattro Senior Notes due 2026
On 29 January 2021, INEOS Quattro Finance | Plc issucd €500.0 million aggregate principal amount 3%4%
Senior Notes due 2026 (the “Senior Notes due 20267).

The Senior Notes are listed on the Euro MTF - Luxembourg stock exchange. The Senior Notes bear interest at
a rate of 3%% per annum. Interest on the Scnior Notes is payable scmi-annually in arrears on 15 January and
15 July of each year, beginning 15 July 2021. The Senior Notes will mature on 15 July 2026.

The Senior Notes are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior subordinated basis by the guarantors {other
than the parent, which guarantees the Senior Notes on a senior bhasis). The Senior Notes and the related
guarantees are secured by second-ranking security interests {subject to certain exemptions) over the shares of
the capital stock of the Company and the loan made by INEOS Quattro Finance 2 Plc to the Company of the
proceeds of the Senior Notes. These security interests rank behind the security intercsts granted ever thosc
assets in {avour of the creditors of certain other indebtedness, including under the Senior Secured Notes due
2027, the Senior Secured Notes due 2026 and the Credit Facility Agreements.

The Senior Notes are subject to redemption at any time on or after 15 January 2023, at the option of INEOS
Quattro Finance 1 Plc, in whole or in part, at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages of the
aggregate principal amount), if redcemed during the twelve-month period beginning on 15 January of the year
indicated below:

Senior
Notes
Redemption
Price
101.875%
100.9375%
100.000%

In each case, the redemption premium will be in addition te accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the
redemption date (subject to the rights of holders of record on relevant record dates to receive interest due on an
intcrest payment date).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

17. EXTERNAL LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

The Senior Notes contain a humber of operating and financial covenanis including limitations on indebiedness,
restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend payments.

Styrolution Senior Secured Notes due 2027

On 31 January 2020, the Group issued €600.0 million aggregate principal amount 2%:% Senior Secured Notes
due 2027 (the “Senior Secured Notes due 20277). The Senior Secured Notes are listed on the Euro MTF -
Luxembourg stock exchange and bear interest at 2'4% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on 15
January and 15 July of each year, beginning 15 July 2020. Unless previously redeemed as noted below, the
Senior Secured Notes will be repaid by the Group at their principal amount on 16 January 2027.

The Senior Secured Notes are subject to redemption at any time on or after {5 January 2023 in whole or in
part, at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages of the aggregate principal amount), if
redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on 15 January of the year indicated below:

Senior
Secured Notes due
2027 Redemption

Year Price

202 e e a et ae e s e s 101.1250%
B U O S U O PO 100.5625%
2024 and thereafter........c.cco v ettt e e e onman bt pae ot ana e e e e rare e 106.000%

In cach case, the redemption premium will be in addition to accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the
redemption date (subject to the rights of holders of record on relevant record dates to receive interest duc on an
interest payment date).

The Senior Secured Notes due 2027 are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior secured basis by INEOS
Styrolution Group GmbH and certain of its subsidiaries. They are secured by first priority liens (subject to
certain exceptions) on the same assets that secured the obligations under the Term Loan B Facilities due 2027,
the Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility Agreement and certain hedging obligations and cash
management arrangements.

The Senior Secured Notes due 2027 contain 2 number of operating and financial covenants including
limitations on indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with aftiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend
payments.

ABS Plant Facility

On 21 January 2022, INEOS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Lid entered into a new term loan
agreement with Bank of China and ICBC to provide RMB 3,300.0 million (€464 .3 million equivalent) of
financing for the construction of a new 600 kiloton ABS plant in Ningbo, China (the *ABS Plant Facility™).
The term loan facility matures in 2032 and has a straight-line semi-annual amortisation over the lifetime
commencing after the start of operations. The term loan bears interest at a rate equal to the China Loan Prime
Rate minus a rate of 0.65% per annum. As at 31 December 2022, the amount utilised against the facility was
RMB 3,035.2 million (€408.2 million equivalent). On 28 December 2022, a subsidiary of the Group completed
an equity transfer agreement with China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation relating to the sale and purchase
of 50% equity interest in INEQS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Ltd. As a result of this
divesture, the obligation of the Group under this term loan facility was transfcrred to the newly created joint-
venture and derecognised in the Group consolidated financial statements. For further details see Note 34.

Securitisation facilities

INEOS Styrolutien Group GmbH and certain other Group companies are party to a €600.0¢ million trade
receivables securitization program (the **Styrolution Securitization Program™) that matures on 28 June 2024.
The facility is seccured by pledges over the trade receivables sold into the program. For drawn amounts, interest
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17. EXTERNAL LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

is charged on the facility at a rate of cither EURIBOR or US LIBOR plus 0.95% or short-term commercial
paper rates plus a margin of 0.95%. For undrawn amounts, the facility bears interest of 0.5%.

INOVYN Group Treasury Limited and certain other INOVYN business’ companies are party to a €240.0
million trade receivables securitization program (the “INOVYN Securitization Program™) that matures on 30
June 2024, The facility is secured by pledges over the trade receivables sold into the program. For drawn
amounts, interest is charged on the facility atl a rate of either EURIBOR, US LIBOR or SONIA plus 0.95% or
short-term commercial paper rates plus a matgin ol U.95%. For undrawn amounts, the tacility bears interest of
0.5%.

Reserve Based Lending (RBL) facility

On 5 September 2016 the Group entered into a revolving loan and letter of credit facility (the "RBL Facility™).
In September 2021 the Company, together with its fellow subsidiaries, amended and restated the RBL Facility
to accommodate restructuring of the activities of the Group; being the disposal of the trade and assets formerly
held by INEOS Norge A/S and acquisition of further interests in Denmark by INEOS E&P A/S {see Note 3). In
October 2021, the Group repaid the outstanding balance of the RBL Facility in full. The $450 million RBL
Facility expires in June 2026 and 1s secured on customary terms and bears interest at a margin above risk free
rates. INEOS UK E&P Holdings Limited and the majority of its subsidiaries are the guarantors to the RBL
Facility. Therc were no amounts drawn undcr the facility before issue costs as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
nil).

The RBL Facility includes obligations to maintain compliance with certain financial covenants, principally
requirements in rclation to debt incurrence, liquidity and leverage. Covenants arc formally tested and reported
to the tenders on a regular basis and moenitored informally throughout the year. All such covenants were fully
complicd with throughout the financial year.

O&P UK Senior Secured Term Loans

On 14 June 2019, the Group entered into a three year €350.0 million Senior Term and Revolving Facilities
agreement {“the Agreement’™) with, inter alia, Lloyds Bank PLC as Administrative Agent, Lloyds Bank PLC as
Sceurity Agent and BNP Paribas, London Branch, Lloyds Bank PLC and National Westminstcr Bank PLC as
Global Coordinators. Subsequently on 23 July 2020, the agreement was extended to June 2025.

Under the terms of the Agreement, on 31 July 2019, the Group fully drew down the €200.0 million Term loan.
As at 31 December 2022 €105.0 million (2021: €105.0 million) of the €150.0 million Revolving Facility Loan
had been drawn down.

The Agreement has a variable interest rate between 2.25%-3.25% per annum depending on the leverage of
INEOS Grangemouth Limited and its subsidiaries which is payable in arrears on the last day of each six month
interest period. As at 31 December 2022 the Agreement bore interest at 3.25% (2021:2.50%).

INEQS Grangemouth Limited and its subsidiarics guarantee the obligations under the Senior Secured Term
Loang. The Credit Agreement contains a number of operating and financial covenants including limitations on
indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, licns, sale of assets and dividend payments.

The Q&P UK business encountered various challenges during the year which led to the Group requesting and
being granted consent to waive the Icverage financial covenant at both 30 May 2022 and 22 September 2022.
With the lender’s agreement, the leverage covenant at 31 December 2022 was remediated post year end via the
full repayment of the Senior Term and Revolving Loan Facilitics on 10 January 2023, therefore the debt was
classificd as current as 31 December 2022 (Sec Note 31).

FPS Senior Secured Term Loans

On 18 Junc 2020, the Group entered into a five year £155,000,000 Senior Term and Revolving facilities

agreement (“the Agreement™). Under the terms of the Agreement, on 22 June 2020, the Group fully drew
down the £85.0 million Term Loan. On the samc day, the Group drew down £20.0 million of the Capital
Expenditure facility and the full £10.0 million of the Working Capital facility. As at 31 December 2022
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€106.2 million (£94.0 million) (2021: €136.2 million {£115.0 million)) of the £155.0 million has been drawn
down.

The Agreement has a variable interest rate of SONIA + Credit Agreement Spread (CAS) + Margin depending
on the time period of the loan which is payable in arrears on the last day of each six month interest period. As
at 31 December 2022 the Agreement bore interest at 5.77% (2021: 2.93%).

INEQOS FPS Limited and its subsidiaries guarantee the obligations under the Senior Sccured Term Loans. The
Credit Agreement contains a number of operating and financial covenants including limitations on
indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend payments.

Other facilities

During 2019 as part of a wider butane project the Group entered into a €45.0 million external loan facility with
KFW IPEX-Bank GmbH to finance the construction of four butane river barges. The total amount putstanding
at December 31, 2022 before issue costs was €23.1 million (2021; €32.1 million) of which €9.0 miilion (2021:
€9.0 million) is due within one year. This loan facility is included within other loans. Each vessel loan will be
individually repaid in twenty equal quarterly instalments upon delivery of each barge. The first repayment on
the vessel loans began on the 30 June 2020 with the final payment terminating on 30 September 2025, The
total quarterly instalment dug is €2.25 million. The Loan facility is secured with a parent company guarantee
and pledges over the mortgages and construction contracts of the barges. The facility bears an interest rate of
EURIBOR plus a margin of 1.6% per anpum.

The Group acquired an external bank loan with the acquisition of the Aromatics business in 2020 of €17.2
million. This was a loan between INEOS Zhuhai Chemical Company Ltd (formerly BP Zhuhai Chemical
Company Ltd) and the Bank of China Zhuhai branch. Repayments were made every six months, with the final
repayment due on 27 August 2022, The loan bore interest at Chinese LPR +0.25%. The loan was secured by
the minority shareholders, Zhuhai Port Co. Ltd. As at 31 December 2021, this external bank loan was €9.2
million.

The Group has several short-term credit facilities with different local banks 1o fund working capital
requirements up to a total aggregate amount of €224.2 million equivalent as of 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: €194.8 million equivalent) in China, Malaysia, Singapore, South Korea, Thailand, and
United Kingdom. The available amount under the working capital facilities at 31 December 2022 amounted to
€197.8 million equivalent (31 December 2021: €151.2 million equivalent), with €26.4 million (31 December
2021: €43.6 million) of certain trade finance facilities being utilised in China.

The Group also has letter of credit facilities in China, Malaysia, Indonesia, Mcxico, Singapore, South Korca,
Thailand, and United Kingdom. As of 31 December 2022, the drawn amount under all tetter of credit tacilities
was €16.0 million equivalent (31 December 2021: €23.1 million equivalent). The letters of credit are generally
secured by current assets. The facilities also provide for a limited number of other financial services, such as
bank guarantees and foreign exchange hedging lines.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021

Current €m
Trade payables ... et e 1,717.7 1,243
Amounts due o related parties {see Note 27) ..o 583.2 3633
Other PAyabIes Lo e 667.0 772.0
Deferred consideration....... .. 134.2 95.5
Accruals and deferred MCOMIC...........cc.ocoiivee e e 6617 608.3

3,763.8 4.263.4
Non-current
Amounts due to related parties (see Note 27) ... 6,207.5 5,846.2
Other payables ... e e e 38.6 734
Deferred consSideTalion . .. .. i e na e e eeenees 47.1 -
Accruals and deferred Income.............oooo e 174.4 160.9

6,467.6 6,080.5

To provide more informative financial information, amounts due te related parties have now been separated
from external loans and borrowings on the balance sheet. Accordingly, the comparative financial information
for 2021 reflects the reclassification of amounts due to related parties of €867.9 million from what is now
*External loans and borrowings’ to “Trade and Other Payables’ (sce Note 17).

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in Note 24.

19. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2021 2020

€m
Current
Derivative commoadity contracts designated as fair value through profit or loss.............. 460.4 615.0
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension plans

The Group operates a number of pension and post-retirement medical plans throughout the world, devised in
accordance with local conditions and practices. The plans are generally of the defined benefit type and those
that are funded are done so by payments to separately administered funds or insurance companies. The
principal tunded plans are in Germany and the UK.

The Group also operates a number of unfunded defined benefit pension schemes in Thailand and Germany and
unfunded post-retirement medical plans in Canada and the United States.

Plan Country Valuation date
ALLPLANS - e e et e Austria 31 December 2022
AT PIANS Lo e Belgium | January 2023
AN PIANS Canada 31 December 2020
ATEPTIS Lottt sttt s a0 et saa s sa st ba b b sr g st es s nanas s France 31 December 2022
ATEPIANS oo e et et et Germany 31 December 2022
All Plans India N/A

All Plans Indonesia I January 2023
All Plans Italy 31 December 2020
ATEPEINS Lo e ettt e ee e e e sme e eanes South Korca 31 December 2022
ALLPEANS oo et et st e et nens Mexico 31 December 2022
AL PLAIS oottt st Norway 31 December 2022
AL PLAINS Lo e e e e Spain 31 December 2022
ALPLANS o e Switzerland 31 December 2022
AT PIAIS oot e er e e e s e e e Thailand 31 December 2020
F L S Y T PSP United Kingdom 4 May 2022, 31

December 2021 and
31 December 2022
AT PLAIS Lot et et et e e e s United States | January 2022

Where the most recent full valuations were carried out prior to the balance sheet date, these have been updated
to 31 December 2022 by independent qualified actuaries.

The Group’s pension schemes have been disclosed on a geographical basis as those schemes in Europe, United
Kingdom, North America and the Rest of the World.

The Europcan pension arrangements are a mix of final salary. career average, unit benefit and cash balance
plans in nature, and the majority are closed to new entrants. The majority of the plans are funded via insurance
policies and there are also a number of unfunded German plans with associated provisions held on the Group’s
balance sheet.

The UK pension arrangements constst of seven funded plans. The defined benefit pension plans were
historically final salary in nature, with a normal retirement age of 60. The plans are now closed to new entrants
and frozen to future accrual. The plans operate under trust law and are managed and administered by Trustees
in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed and Rules and relevant legislation. The asscts of the plans are
held separately from those of the Group.

The North American pension arrangements consist of four funded plans in the United States, (all of which are
closed to future accrual) and one funded plan in Canada (which is closed to new entrants). All pension plans,
except one, are final salary defined benefit in nature, and the plans” liabilities are valued regularly in line with
statutory funding requirements. Across all five plans, between 80% and 90% of the plans’ assets are invested i
bond mnstruments, to closely malich the profile of each plans” liabilities.

The Rest of the World pension arrangements are comprised of the Group’s pension plans in Indonesia, South
Korea, Mexico and Thailand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension plan assumptions
The principal actuaria] assumptions (expressed as weighled averages or ranges) at the year end were as follows:

European United Kingdom North America Rest of the world

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 202
Major assumptions
Ratc vt gencial inctease
in salaries ... 2.0-3.5% 2.0-3.0% 0.0 N/A 3.0% 30 4.0-65%  40-80%
Rate of increase to
pcnsions
N payment........c..ceeen. 0.0-2.5% (29»-18%  3.0-50% 3.0-50% 0.5% 0.5% - 1.2%
BDiscount rate for scheme
liabilities... 2.2-3.8% 03-2.0% 5.0% 1.9% 5.1-5.4% 2 8% 3.6-6.8% 1.0-65%
Inflation.... 0.0-2.5% 0.0-2.0% 3.2% 3.2% 2.0% 2.0% 2.5% 2.0%

The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the reporting date are based on
standard actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in longevity. The
assumptions are equivalent to expecting a 65-year old to live for a number of years as follows:

European United Kingdom North America Rest of the world
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Longevity at age 65 for
current pensioners ...............  20.7-28.6 20.5-28.5 22.2-24.3 22.2-244 219239 21.8-238 N/A N/A

The following table presents the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to cach significant actuarial
assumption:

European United Kingdom North America Rest of the world
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
EC % % %

Discount rate 1.0% decrease 115 16.3 26.6 2540 125 15.3 55 57
Rate of intlation 0.5%
INETEASE L ooeeeieeeemeeeeeeeene L 4.1 52 4.3 8.2 3.1 34 0.1 0.1
| year increase in longevity
for a member aged 65..... 2.4 3.1 2.8 4.1 21 2.5 N/A NiA

The sensitivity to the inflation assumption change includes corresponding changes to the future salary increcase
and futurc pension increase assumptions where thesc assumptions are set to be linked to the inflation
assumption.

Post-retirement health care plans

The Group also operates a number of post-retirement healthcare plans in the United Kingdom, Belgium and
North America, which provide employees with other post-employment benefits in respect of health care. The
plans are unfunded and the liability in respect of these benefits i1s included in provisions. The liability is
assessed by qualified independent actuaries under the projected unit method, assuming the following rates:

2022 2021

%
Liability diSCOUnt AL . e e 4.8 2.1
Long-term medical ITERd TALE. . ...coviiiui v er i eeees e e sme e e s e emee e ee e e e sreeanressree e 4.0 39

97



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

History of plans
The history of the plans for the current and prior years is as follows:

Consolidated balance sheet

2022 2021
€m
Present value of the defined benefit obligation in respect of pension plans.................... 1,579.0 25439
Present value of obligations in respect of post-retirement health care plan ., 19.1 27.9
Fair value 0f plan @SSeIS.. ..ottt e et e e e e {1,417.8) (2,460.1)
[rrecoVerable SUMPIUS. .........ocvii i e S 6.9 53
Net deficilu e et mass srssane 187.2 117.0
The net deficit is recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as follows:
2022 2021
€m
TNON-CULTEME BSSEES ... tvvveciae e e et e e e e seaeie e e e e e e rb s eass s aagrres e sen s enn e (44.2) (69.3)
Nom-curTentt [Habilities .....o.oooiii e e 231.4 186.3
187.2 117.0
The Group’s net liability in respect of defined benefit obligations is as follows:
2022 2021
€m
Obligations in respect of pension plans:
B0 AN e e e et ettt et e 147.7 211.6
United KIMZUOM ..o e et e s s oo e s et ee e ene e et s s 0.3 (145.6)
INOrtE AMCTICA e et e (4.9) 4.7y
RESE OF WOTI, ... et sttt e 18.1 225
Taotal obligations in respect of pension plans........uusne “ 161.2 83.8
Irrecoverable surplus ..o . 6.9 53
Obligations in respect of post-retirement care plans ......... . 19.1 27.9
Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations ........... 187.2 117.0

The Group expects to contribute approximately €33.0 million (2021: €53.5 million) to its funded defined benefit
plans in the next financial year. This excludes direct company benefit paymenis and payments in relation to
unfunded defined benefit plan schemes.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Consolidated income statement

Post-
retirement
United North Rest of the  health care
European Kingdom America world plans Total
€m
Year ended 31 December 2022
Current service cost . ......ccervenes 18.1 2.1 0.7 2.0 04 23.3
Past service cost....oovveiiveiiecieee, (0.2) - - (0.4) - (0.6)
Interest cost on defined benefit 6.2 35.1 1.9 1.0 0.6 44.8
OoblZAtion ..o
Interest imcome on assets ... (3.7) {38.2) (2.0) (0.3) - (44.2)
20.4 (L.0) 0.6 2.3 1.0 23.3
Post-
retirement
United North Rest of the  health care
European Kingdom America world plans Total
Year ended 31 December 2021
Current service cost ...................... 199 3.4 0.9 20 0.4 26.6
Past SEIVICE COST.....couuiivioiinrerinirns 0.7) - - - - 0.7)
Interest cost on defined benefit
obligation ..o 3.9 29.7 1.7 0.8 0.6 36.7
Interest income on assets (2.0) (30.5) (1.8) (0.3) - (34.6)
21.1 2.6 0.8 2.5 1.0 28.0
The expensc is recognised in the following line itcms in the consolidated income statement:
2022 2021
€m
Cost of sales, distribution and administrative €Xpenses ........cooviieriieeieiiciee e 22.7 259
Net finance cost ... U PSP U 3.6 2.1
233 28.0
Pension plans
United North Rest of the
European Kingdom America world Total
€m
Year ended 31 December 2022
Present value of funded obligations ................. 3124 1,087.3 48.8 9.6 1,458.1
Present value of unfunded obligations............. 105.1 - - 15.8 120.9
417.5 1,087.3 48.8 254 1,579.0
Fair valuc of plan assets.........c.cccceviviiinnns (269.8) (1,087.0) (53.7) (7.3) (1,417.8)
147.7 0.3 (4.9) 18.1 161.2
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (cantinued)

United North Rest of the
European Kingdom America world Total
€m
Year ended 31 December 2021
Present value of funded obligations.... 386.0 1.924.0 65.6 12.0 2,387.6
Present value of unfunded obligations 136.6 - - 19.7 156.3
522.6 1,924.0 65.6 317 2,543.9
Fair value of plan assets ... (311.0) (2.069.6) (70.3) (9.2) (2,460.1)
211.6 (145.6) (4.7) 225 83.8
Movements in present value of defined benetit obligation:
United North Rest of the
European Kingdom America world Total
€m
At 1 January 2021 527.4 1,829.5 67.6 335 2,458.0
CUrrent SErvice COSL.......ocon i e 19.9 34 0.9 2.0 26.2
I[nterest cost on defined benetit obligations ........ 39 29.7 1.7 0.8 36.1
Member contributions ..o 6.3 - - - 0.3
Actuarial loss/(gain) — eXperience ..........ooeeeee. 22 (3.2) (1.3) 0.7 (1.6)
Actuarial {gain)/loss — demographic assumptions (0.6) 27.0 0.4 - 26.8
Actuarial gain - financial assumptions............... (23.9) (4.1) 2.2) (1.7} (31.9)
Disbursements from plan assets........................ (9.3) (96.6) 6.7) (0.5) (113.1)
Disbursements paid directly by the employer..... (11.1) (0.4) (0.2) 3.5) (15.2)
Past Service ¢osto....cooiviiiinii e 0.7) - - - 0.7)
Acquisitions (see Note 3} ... i19 - - - 11.9
Exchange ... 2.6 138.7 54 0.4 147.1
At 31 December 2021 522.6 1,924.0 65.6 312 2,543.9
Current SErvice COSL.. i 18.1 2.1 0.7 2.0 22,9
Interest cost on defined benefit obligations ........ 6.2 REN! 1.9 1.0 44.2
Member contributions .........ccccovveeiiiiinicienncnne 0.3 - - 0.1 0.4
Actuarial loss/(gain} — cXperience ..........c.cco... 10.2 453 1.2 (0.6) 56.1
Actuarial {gain)/loss — demographic assumptions (0.1 25.5 - - 25.4
Actuarial gain — financial assumptions.............. (114.8) (775.5) (17.5) (2.2) (910.0)
Disbursements from plan assets......................... (10.4) (98.9) (5.2) (1.0) (115.5)
Disbursements paid directly by the employer..... (12.4) (0.5) (0.3) (3.6) (16.8)
Past service cost.................. (0.2) - - (0.4) (0.6)
Disposals (see Note 3) ..o (0.5} - - (2.0) 2.5)
Exchange. ... (1.5) (69.8) 2.4 0.4 (68.5)
At 31 December 2022 417.5 1,087.3 48.8 25.4 1,579.0
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Movements in fair value of plan assets:

United North Rest of the
European Kingdom America world Total
€m
AT January 2021 . e 2770 1,860.5 70.0 5.7 2,217.1
Interest incomc on plan a8Sets ............c...ocoeveveeen. 20 305 1.8 0.3 34.6
Return on plan assets greater than discount rate. 22.0 88.2 2.1y 0.1 108.2
Employer contributions 288 432 0.9 4.1 7.0
Member contributions ....................... 0.3 - - - 0.3
DHSbUrSCmMEnts ........ovoee oo (20.4) (97.0) (6.9) (4.0) (128.3)
EXChange oot e 1.3 1442 5.7 - 151.2
At 31 December 2021 311.0 2,069.6 70.3 9.2 2,460.1
Inierest income on plan assets c.vnveerecveerenenne. 3.7 8.2 2.0 03 44.2
Return on plan assets greater than discount rate. (52.0) (878.8) (16.3) 0.1) (947.2)
Employer contributions .........cccovivicriirenenen. 30.5 29 4 0.9 43 65.1
Member contributions ... 0.3 - - 0.1 0.4
Dishursements .., ..o (22.9) (99.3) (5.5) (4.6) (1323)
DISPOSALS .ooveverrserereeeeeeeerie e eeese e - - - (1.9) (1.9
Exchange....cooooiiiiicce e (D.8) (72.1) 2.3 - {70.6)
At 31 December 2022 ... ereeienee 269.8 1,087.0 53.7 7.3 1,417.8
The vverall expected rate of return is calculated by weighting the individual rates in accordance with the
anticipated balance in the plan’s investment portfolio.
The fair values of the plan asscts were as follows:
United North Rest of the
European Kingdom America world Total
€m
Year ended 31 December 2022
EQUities ..o e 110.8 88.9 5.1 0.5 205.3
Government bonds... 275 459.9 38.5 0.8 526.7
Corporate bonds.... 13.0 44.2 9.1 - 66.3
Property ..o 189 51.3 - - 70.2
OMher . e 99.6 442.7 1.0 6.0 549.3
Total plan AsSets....uvamersssmsorernisssrinneneenmmemssssseseass 269.8 1,087.0 53.7 7.3 1,417.8
There were no plans which held investments in the Group’s own financial instruments, or held assets or
property which were used by the Group.
The lair values of the plan assets were as foliows:
United North Rest of the
European Kingdom America world Total
€m
Year ended 31 December 2021
EQUITIES ...oveveee e 136.9 3269 6.5 0.3 470.6
Government bonds................oooiiiiiie 44.7 876.1 497 0.6 971.1
Corporate bonds........cooovirioeer e 19.8 2499 13.4 0.1 283.2
PLOPCITY Lot 139 83.2 - - 97.1
OIREE .o 95.7 533.5 0.7 8.2 638.1
Total Plan ASSELs..uimmmririsrmsssreresimmsmammseressssas 3110 2,069.6 70.3 9.2 2,460.1
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 {forming part of the financial statements)

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

The majority of the asscts invested in property are unquoted. All other investments are largely in quoted
instruments. Equities comprise of well-diversified holdings over a wide range of global markets.

There are no plans which hold investments in the Group’s own financial instruments, or hold assets or property
which arc used by the Group.

Post-retirement health care plans
Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities:

2022 2021
€m

AL T JANMUAIY Lo ieis st e et s 4t aeeee e eseasar e e ohs e eh et aem e be e et e eae s sa b gy eeneemrn s 279 3.6
CUITEEL SETVICE COBL .. ooivttetieeeetee e oot ee e eet e e eee e e et b e bt besn et n et m et e e n et bes e aera s 0.4 0.4
Interest cost on defined benefit obligations.... 0.6 0.6
Actuarial gain — cxperience ... 3.0 (1.3)
Actuarial gain — demographic assumptions . - (1.8)
Actuarial gain — financial ASSUMPLIONS ..............ccuiiriereeeeiecereeee s ses et err e ramre e s e 6.3) (1.3)
Disbursements directly paid by the employer ..o (1.4) (1.9)
Exchange adjustiments. ... e e 0.9 1.6
At 31 December 19.1 279

The post-retirement healthcare plans do not hold any assets.

The following table presents the scnsitivity of the defined benefit obligation to cach significant actuarial
assumption:

2022 2621

%
Discount rate 1.0% deCrease ......ooco.oooviiiiiien e e 11.5 13.5
1 year increase in longevity for a member currently aged 65, ... 2.4 3.0
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21. PROVISIONS

Decommissioning  Severance and

and restoration restructuring
costs costs Other Total
€m

At L January 2021 ..o 1,389.8 9.8 2125 1,612.1
Utilised during the Year.....c.....coverrerrcmrsvesreseeiereonn: (66.6) (6.6) (19.13 (92.3)
ReclassifICAtionS .o..co.oovvveeeecereess e 135 - (14.5) (1.m

Provision made during the year ...........c.ccoeoiinnn 56.3 6.7 05 63.5

Increase in decommissioning provision ... . 17.1 - - 17.1
Business acquisitions {Sce Note 3) ... e 262.7 - 30.2 292.9
Business disposal (See Note 34) ..o, (152.3) - - (152.3)

Discount unwinding................ 5.6 - - 5.6

Exchange adjustments................cooovievivniicennne 41.6 0.5 0.3 42.4

At 31 December 2021 1.567.7 104 209.9 1,788.0
Utilised during the year.. (62.8) 4.7 (146.5) (214.0)
Reclassiftcations ..................... 0.8 09 (4.4) 2.7

Provision made during the Year ..o oviercemeneennes 36.5 0.5 14.5 51.5

Increase in decommissioning provision ..................... 74.9 - - 74.9
Business disposal (see Note 34)......cooooooiiieiivenieencs - (1.3) - {1.3)
Discount unwinding.........coeeee e vceince e, (0.7) - (0.1} (0.8)
Exchange adjustments.....................coiiiiiien, {26.0) 0.2 0.4) (26.2)

At 31 December 2022 i 1,5904 6.0 73.0 1,669.4

1,475.6 - 68.6 1,544 .2

92.1 10.4 141.3 243.8

1,567.7 10.4 209.9 1,788.0

NOB —CUrrent ... 15119 0.1 x4 1,550.4

Current 78.5 59 34.6 119.0

Balance at 31 December 2022 1,590.4 6.0 73.0 1,669.4

Decommissioning and restoration costs

The Group has €1,252.9 million (2021: €1,204.7 million) of provisions for estimated decommissioning and
restoration costs of the Group’s oil and gas facilitics on the fields across Denmark and the United Kingdom,
which includes plugging and abandonment of wells, the total removal of platforms, subscquent dismantlement
and disposal on shore, as well as restoration of the seabed. The Group uscs a range of risk free rates between
2.3% -3.6% (2021: between 0.0% -0.7%) and an inflation rate of 2.0% (2021 : 0.1% -0.9%) over the lives of
these assets to calculate the present value of the decommissioning and restoration costs. Decommissioning is
expected to occur after the fields reach the end of their economic lives on a schedule agreed with regulatory
authorities and joint venture partners between 2022 and 2045,

The Group has also recognised decommissioning and restoration costs of both the offshore and onshore
facilities across the Fortics Pipeline System of €167.1 million (2021: €148.5 million), which includes the
removal of the Unity platform and subsequent restoration of the sea bed along with the treatment of pipelines
onshore and dismantlcment and disposal of all other onshore facilities. The Company uses a pre-tax risk free
rate of 4.37% (2021: 1.34%) and an inflation rate of 4.37% (2021: 1.34%) over the lives of these assets to
calculate the present value of the decommissioning and restoration costs. Decommissioning is expected to
occur after the fields which usc the system reach the end of their economic lives on a schedule agreed with
regulatory authorities and customers and will occur throughout the period as throughput declines until the
estimated completion date. During the year ended 31 December 2021 the Group commissioned a new study on
decommissiening of the pipcline, due to advanced technology on approach the provision was reduced by €66.3
million.
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21. PROVISIONS (continued)

The Group has recognised provisions in prior years in relation to obligations associated with the remediation of
mercury-based cell rooms at INEOS Inovyn sites in Belgium, France, Sweden, Spain, Italy and the United
Kingdom, plus costs of implementing the remediation work at the Feyzin site in France to comply with local
legislation. [n total €26.2 million was spent on these provisions in the year and the remaining provisions of
€164.8 million is expected to be utilised by 2047.

Severance and restructuring

The provision recognised in 2021 by Aromatics business in respect of manpower rcorganisation costs was fully
spent in the year for €2.2 million. Remaining provision related to supply chain and commercial teams
reorganisation costs in INEOS Inovyn. Cash of €0.7 million was spent in the year. The remaining provision of
€0.6 million is expected to be fully utilised by 2025.

At the end of 2021 the Group had provided €4.7 million for severance and restructuring costs in respect of exit
costs associated with the disposal and closure of the Bio business which was fully utilised in 2022,

Plant closures

Plant closure provision mainly relate to activities at Runcomn, United Kingdom in respect of the Sulphur
Chemicals plant which closed in 2021 and Wilhelmshaven, Germany in respect of the mercury cell room
which closed in 2013. The remaining provision of €5.7 million is expected to be fully utilised by 2029.

Other provisions

Other provisions mainly relate to various legal and customer claims, including a liability to the Styrolution
business’ previous shareholder, BASF under prior legal agreements, There was a reclassification of €2.8
million to short-term accruals during 2022 as the amounts and timing of payment became more certain. The
provision is expccted to be fully utilised by 2027.

As part of the DONG E&P A/S acquisition the Group acquired a provision in respect of committed obligation
to fund the Group’s share of the historical construction cost of the Fredericia Gas Plant incurred in connection

with the development of the Hejre field. As at 31 December 2022 the remaining provision was €25.0 million
(2021: €154.2 million).

22. SHARE CAPITAL

2022 2021

€m
Fully paid
197,502 (2021: 197,502) ordinary shares of £0.00001 each - -

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. As the reporting currency of the Company is the euro the
share capital has been converted to euros at the effective rate of exchange ruling at the date of issuance.

23. DIVIDENDS

The following dividends were declared and paid during the ycar:

2022 2021

€m

Dividends (2022: €106.33 per share, 2021 : €98.73 per share) 21.0 19.5
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24. FINANCTIAL INSTRUMENTS
24a Fair values of financial instruments

Trade and other receivables

The carrying amount of trade and other rcceivables generally approximates to fair value due to their short
maturitics. Where settlement is not due in the short term and where the effect is material, fair value is estimated
as the present value of future cash flows discountcd at the market rate of interest at the reporting date,

Trade and other payables

The carrying amount of trade and other payables gencrally approximates to fair value due to their short
malurities. Where settlement is not dug¢ in the short term and where the effect is material, fair valuc is cstimated
as the present value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Cash and cash equivalents

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is estimated as its carrying amount where the cash is repayable on
demand. Whee it is not repayable on demand then the fair value is estimated at the present value ot tuture cash
flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the balance sheet date.

External loans and borrowings

The fair value of the external loans and borrowings (excluding the securitisation facility and lease liabilities) is
calculated based on the prescnt value of future principal and intcrest cash flows, discounted at the market rate
of interest at the balance sheet date. The fair value of the securitisation facilities is the same as the carrying
value excluding debt issue costs. The fair value of Icasc liabilitics is determined by reference to market rates
for similar lease agreemcnts.

Amounts due to velated parties
The [air value of the amounts due to related parties is the same as the carrying value.

Fair values
Sct out below is a comparison of the carrying amount and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

Level |: valued using trading prices (unadjusied) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2: valucd using inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is as prices), or
indirectly (that are derived from prices); and

Level 3: valued using inputs that are not observable for the asset or liability.
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

2022 2021
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
€m

Financial assets held at fair value through profit
and loss:
Derivative commodity contracts ................ccoeeevieenn 104 10.4 193.7 193.7
[nterest rate cap CONracts...........ccovvviieieeiiecnecines i3 3.3 - -
Financial assets held at fair value through other
camprchensive income:
Equity IMVESIMENTS......o.coociiie i 27.8 27.8 35.6 356
Financial assets carried at amortised cost:
Trade receivables ..........oooooeeveiiiiiceiieeees 1,649.7 1,649.7 2,000.9 2.000.9
Amounts due from related parties. 579.5 579.5 4384 438.4
Other receivables ...................... . 741.4 741.4 1,156.6 1,156.6
Deferred consideration.................................. 239.0 239.0
Cash and cash equivalents ... 2.5258 2,525.8 198735 [,987.5
Restricted Cash ..ot 33.9 339 14.} 14.1
Total financial assets 5,810.8 5,810.8 5,826.8 58268
Financial liabilities held at fair value through profit
and loss:
Denvative commaodity CONTacts ..o.ooooeeveiivenvereeen e 460.4 460.4 615.0 6150
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost:
Trade payables 1,717.7 1,717.7 1,9243 1,924.3
Other payables 886.9 886.9 940.9 940.9
Amount due to related parties 6,790.7 6,790.7 6,709.5 6,709.5
Three-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility .................. - - 91.7 92.7
Five-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility .................... - - 183.4 185.3
Three-Year Euro Term Loan A Facility.....coooooee - - 88.2 90.0
Quattro Termn Loan B Facility........c.ccocooeciiiiirinenen 313156 32106 3,216.5 32372
Styrolution Term Loan B facility.....................cc 631.3 589.8 621.5 612.4
Styrolution Senior Secured Notes ... 597.0 486.0 396.3 584.3
Quattro Senior Secured Notes due 2026 1,2558.5 1,108.4 1,223.8 1,236.9
O&P UK Senior Secured Term Loans... . 302.8 305.0 301.1 305.0
FPS Senior Secured Term Loans ...oooevivveiiicceen 102.5 106.2 131.8 136.9
Lease liabilitics 463.3 4633 472.7 4727
Securitisation facilities. ... (0.2) - 0.3} -
Quattro Senior Notes due 2026, 500.0 502.2 500.0 502.2
Other Loans.....ooo o e 37.3 377 57.1 57.7
Total financial liabilities 17,060.8 16.664.9 17,673.3 17,703.0

All financial assets and liabilities are level 3, other than derivatives commodity and interest rate cap contracts
which are level 2 and cash and cash equivalents which are level 1. The equity instruments have also been
assigned to Level | since the shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange.

The derivative commeodity contracts have been assigned to Level 2 sincc there are no market prices available.

The fair value of derivatives is the value that the Group would receive or have to pay if the financial instrument
were trans{erred to an external party at the reporting date.
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
24b Net gains and losses from financial instraments

Net gains and losses from financial instruments comprise the results of valuations, the amortisation of
discounts, the recognition and derecognition of impairment losses, results from the translation of foreign
currencies, interest, dividends and all effects on profit or loss of financial instruments.

Net gains from receivables and loans relate primarily to recognition and derecognition of impairment losscs,
results from the translation of foreign currencies and interest income.

Net losses from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost relate primarily to amortisation of discounts,
results from the translation of foreign currencies, intercst expense and other financing related expenses.

The item ‘financial instruments at fair value through profit or lass’ comprisc valuation gains and losses, and
only includes gains and losses from instruments which are not designated as hedging instruments as defined by
[FRS 9.

The following tables show the gross gains and losses during the year and on which class of financial
instruments they arose:

Financial assets carried Financial instruments at fair
at amortised cost value through OCI
2022 2021 2022 2021
€m €m
Finance inCome .................cccooiiiiieeeieeee e 34.1 20.3 - -
Net fair value loss on equity instruments ................... - - (0.4) -
Foreign exchange gains............coooovveeieecce i 161.1 208.4 - -
Net result ........... tatrseseransntennsorera - 195.2 228.7 0.4) -
Carrying value at 31 December ....c.ccccommrecccnrennnne 5,769.3 5,597.5 27.8 356
Financial liabilities carried Financial instruments at fair
at amortised cost value through profit and loss
2022 2021 2022 2021
€m €m
Finance COSt ... (451.6) (399.6) - -
Other finance cost................... (14.7) (17.8) - -
Net fair value loss on derivatives - - (18.6) (697.0)
Forcign exchange losses .....cococveeieniner e (124.7) (80.9) - -
Net TeSUlt oo e (591.0) (498.3) (18.6) (697.0)
Carrying value at 31 December .......vinerescrcinens (16,600.4) (17,058.5) (446.7) (421.3)

24¢ Credit risk

Financial risk management

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails
to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and
deposits with financial institutions.

Group Treasury policy and objectives in relation to credit risk is to minimize the likelihood that the Group will

experience financial loss due to counterparty failure and to ensure that in the event of a single loss, the failure
of any single counterparty would not materially impact the financial wellbeing of the Group.
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposurc to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.
However, management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default
risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit
risk. Management considers that there is no geographical concentration of credit risk. The Group has
cstablished a credit pelicy under which each new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before
the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered or are adjusted accordingly. The
Group’s review includes external ratings, when available, and in some cases bank refercnces. Purchase limits
are established for each customer, which represent the maximum open amount without requiring approval.
Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group only on a
prepayment basis.

Investments, cash and cash equivalents

Surplus cash investments are only made with banks with which the Group has a relationship. Occasionally
deposits are made with banking counterparties that provide financing arrangements, reducing the credit
exposure of the Group.

Expaosure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. Therefore, the maximum
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was the carrying amount of financial assets.

24d Liquidity risk

Financial risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable
tosses or risking damage to the Group. The Group's exposure Lo liquidity risk is limited by the fact that it
operates with significant cash resources, and it maintains the most appropriate mix of short, medium and long-
term borrowings from the Group’s lenders.

The Group is reliant on committed funding from a variety of sources at Group and subsidiary company level to
meet the anticipated needs of the Group for the period covered by the Group’s budget.

The Group forecasts on a regular basis the cxpected cash flows that will occur on a weekly and monthly basis.
This information is used in conjunction with the weekly reporting of actual cash balances at bank in order to
calculate the level of funding that will be required in the short and medium term. On a monthly basis the level
of headroom on existing facilities is reported and forecast forward until the end of the financial period.

The maturity profile of the Group’s undrawn committed facilities at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was as
follows:

2022 2021
Undrawn Undrawn
facilities facilities
€m
In less than one year. ... e e 125.4 -
After more than one year, but not more than two years... ... - 85.6
After more than two years, but not more than five years.. 878.2 1,094.2

AFLer MOre thal FIVE YEATS ..ot it ie ettt et e eo e et e e em e 421.9 893
1,4255 1,269.1
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24, FINANCTAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilitics, including estimated interest payments and
excluding the effect of netting agreements:

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables ..o
Other payables ...
Amount due to related parties ...
Quattro Term Loan B facility,................
Styrolution Term Loan B [acility.............
Styrolution Senior Secured Notes ............
Quattro Senior Secured Notes due 2026 ..
Q&P UK Senior Secured Term Loans ...
I'TS Scnior Secuied Teon Loans ...
Securitisation facilities............................
Quattro Senior Notes due 2026
Other loans........cccovvenn.
Lease liabilities ........ooovvmeiiiiin e
Derivative financizl liabilities
Derivative commodity contracts..............

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables.............c.o....
Other payables....................
Amount due to related parties ...
Three-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility
Five-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility ..
Three-Year Euro Term Loan A Facility...
Term Loan B Facility due 2026 ..............
Styrolution Term Loan B facility.............
Styrolution Senior Secured Notes............
Quattro Senior Secured Notes due 2026 ..
O&P UK Senior Sccured Term Loans.....
FPS Senior Secured Term Loans.............
Leasc liabilities ...........
Securitisation facilities...........................
Quattro Senior Notes due 2026...............
Other 10ans. ..o
Derivative financial liabilities
Derivative commodity contracts..............

2022
Carrying Contractual 1 year or 1 to<2 2 to<S5 years S years
amount cash Nows less years and over
L7177 (L717.7) {[,717.7} - - -
886.9 (886.9) (801.2) (74.3) 9.7 (L7
6,790.7 (6,922.7) (550.6)  (2,769.7) (3.550.5) (51.9)
3,315.6 (3,993.0} (228.3) (229.8) (3,534.9) -
631.3 (760.7) (32.8) 33.1) (694.8) -
597.0 (660.8) (13.5) (13.5) (633.8) -
1,255.5 (1,394.1) (35.8) (35.8) (1,322.5) -
302.8 (309.3) (309.3) - - -
102.5 (119.1) (41.0) (3L.5) (46.6) -
(0.2) 9.4) {4.3) (3.6) (1.5) -
500.0 (575.1) (18.8) (18.8) (537.5) -
373 (38.0) (12.9) (12.6) (11.9) (1.2)
463.3 (609.2} {109.0} (109.0) (122.5) {268.7)
460.4 (460.4) (460.4) - - -
17,060.8 (18,457.0% (4,335.6) (3,331.7) (10,466.2) {323.5)
2021
Carrying  Contractual 1 yearor 1 to<2 2 to<5 5 years
amount cash flows less years years and over
€m
1,924.3 (1,924.3) (1,924.3) - - -
940.9 {940.9) {867.5) (64.8) 6.7) (1.9)
6,709.5 (6,941.9) (842.9) (1,687.6) (825.3) (3.585.8)
91.7 (94.5) (63.4) (3L - -
183.4 (199.8) (5.2) (39.4) (155.2) -
88.2 (91.4) (61.2) (30.2) -
3,216.5 (3,659.2) (116.9) (116.8) (3,4255) -
621.5 {702.0) (16.9) (16.9) (668.2) -
596.3 (674.3) (13.5) (13.5) (647.3) -
1,223.8 (1,398.3) (34.9) (349 {1,328.5) -
301.1 {335.5) (7.6) (7.6) (320.3) -
131.8 (148.0) (40.9) (28.2) (78.9) -
4727 {529.0) (101.7y (101.7) (107.4) (218.2)
(0.3) (3.8) (3.5) 3.5) (1.8) -
500.0 {593.9) (18.8) {15.8) (556.3) -
57.1 (59.8) (21.1) (12.9) (23.8) 2.0
615.0 {(615.0) (615.0) - - -
17,673.5 (18,916.6) (4,755.6) (2,207.9) {8,145.2) (3,807.9)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 {forming part of the financial statements)

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
24e Market risk

Financial risk management
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices. such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity
prices will adversely affect the vailue of the Group’s assets, liabilities or expected future cash flows.

Market risk - Foreign currency risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
cxposures, primarily with respect to the US Dollar and Sterling.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, and recognised assets and liabilities.

A substantial portion of the Group's revenue is generated in, or linked to, Sterling and the Euro. Product prices,
certain feedstock costs and most other operating costs are denominated in US Doltar, Sterling, Euro, Danish
krone and Norwegian krone. In the US petrochemical and specialty chemicals businesses, product prices, raw
materials costs and most other costs arc primarily denominated in US Dollars.

The Group applies hedge accounting to forcign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a financial
liability designated as a hedge of a net investment in a forcign operation. When the settlement of a monetary
item receivable from or payable to a foreign opcration is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future,
foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item is considered to form part ot a net
investment in a foreign operation and changes in the fair value are recognised directly within equity.

The Group generally does not enter into foreign currency exchange instruments to hedge foreign currency
transaction exposure, although the Group may do so in the future.

The Group benefits from natural hedging to the extent that currencies in which net cash llows are generated
from the Group’s operations, arc matched against long-term indebtedness.

The foreign currency exposure where the Group's financial assets/(liabilities) arc not denominated in the
functional currency of the operating unit involved is shown below. Forcign exchange differences on
retranslation of these assets and liabilities are taken to the income statement/other comprehensive income of
the Group.

2022 2021
€m
R TY o SO OO OO USSP EUDP PSPPI 41.4 163.9
UUS OIS oottt b e b e ae e e n e {300.6) (554.8)
Sterlig oo OV O PPV UT PR PPRTS (125.2) 684.4
(05T U O P OSSR RSTR PR PO (77.2) (58.0)
(461.6) 235.5

Sensitivity analysis

A 10% percent weakening of the following currencies at 31 December would have increased/{decreased}
equity and profit/(loss) by the amounts shown below. This calculation assumes that the change occurred at the
reporting date and had been applicd to risk exposures cxisting at that date.

This analysis assumes that all ather variables, in partictlar other exchange rates and interest rates, remait
constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the comparative year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Equity Profit or loss

2022 2021 2022 2021

€m €m €m €m
BULO oo - - 3.0) (13.2)
USdollars .......occcoooieiiie e (57.9) (54.5) 9.1 (7.5)
SLet Tl e - (17.9) 61.6
Other ... - - (10.4) 5.0
(57.9) (54.5) @22.2) 489

A 10% percent strengthening of the above currencies against the Euro at 31 December would have had the
equal but opposite cffect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other
variables remain constant.

Market risk — Interest rate risk
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

2022 2021
€m
Carrying amount of liability
Fixed rate instruments
FAMANCHIAL BESELS ...t e et ee e e e e e e e e e e e e e emrae e eeama e 184.4 2201
FAANGHAT HABIITIES .. e veseeees oo oo oeee et eme s eeee s ee e eeee e eeeee e ere e (3,523.6) (3,676.9)
(3,339.2) (3,456.8)
2022 2021
€m
Variable rate instruments
FINANCIAL BSSES 1.uv..vvivvrevsieiieteeeeeeee e eeeete et eee e eteee e e e e emeeeame st eeseabbssbeer e e et e i e e e ne e e seesen e aeeens 2,525.8 1,987.5
FARANCIAT DS . .e . oee . eooeeeeeees e et et oo oo ee (4,374.8) (4,674.8)
(1,849.0) {2,687.3)

Sensitivity analysis

A change of 1 % in interest rates at the balance sheet datec would have increased/(decreased) equity and profit
or loss by the amounts shown below. This calculation assumes that the change occurred at the balance sheet
datc and had been applied to risk exposures cxisting at that date.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant and
considers the effect of financial instruments with variable interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for the comparative year.

2022 2021

€m
Profit or loss
Loss on inCrease In inTErest rate BY 10h .. oo iiir et ee e ettt e s e e e (18.5) (26.9)

Market risk — Commodity price risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk through fluctuations in raw material prices and sales of’
products. The raw material exposures result primarily from the price of feedstocks and basc chemicals linked
to the price of crude. The sales price exposures are primarily related to petrochemicals where prices are in
general linked to the market price of crude oil.
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group enters into contracts to supply or acquire physical volumes of commodities at future dates during
the normal course of business that may be considered derivative contracts. Where such contracts exist and arc
in respect of the normal purchase or sale of products to fuitil the Group’s requirements, the own use exemption
from derivative accounting is applied.

The Group manages commodity price exposures through trading refined products and chemical feedstock and
using commodity swaps, options and futures as a means of managing pricc and timing risks. As at 31
December 2022 there was a net mark to market derivaiive liability in respect of commodity contracts of €450.0
million (2021: €421.3 million liability) entered into by the Greup to manage such risk.

The Group operates within procedures and policies designed to ensure that risks, including thosc relating to the
default of counterparties, are minimised.

24f Capital management

The Group’s objectives for managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group defincs its capital employed of €5,809.2 million (2021: €4 986.8 million) at 31 Dccember 2022 as
shareholders’ funds of €1,593.2 million (2021; deficit of €(36.8) million) and cxtemal net debt (external net of
debt issuc costs) of €4.216.0 million (2021: €5,023.6 million).

The principal sources of external debt available to the Group at 31 December 2022 are described in Note 17
along with the key operating and financial covenants that apply to these facilities.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, raise new debt or sell assets 10 reduce debt. The ability of the Group to pay
dividends and provide appropriate facilities to the Group is restricted by the terms of principal financing
agreements to which members of thc Group are party.

25. LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Analysed as. 2022 2021
€m €m
Current lease liabitities ... e 30.2 84.9
Non-current lease liabilities 383.1 387.8
463.3 472.7
Maturity analysis — contractual undiscounted cash flows: 2022 2021
€m €m
L8855 Than OME YeAT...... it it eeee e oo e 109.0 101.7
Between one and five Years ... 2315 209.1
More than five years .............. 268.7 218.2
Total undiscounted [ease liabilities at 31 December 609.2 529.0
Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows: 2022 2021
€m €m
Total cash outflow for leases ..... 109.8 115.9

The Group leases a number of assets as part of its activities. This includes land, buildings, storage tanks,
transportation assets and air scparation plants used for the generation of industrial gases. Some leases will have
payments that vary with market interest or inflation rates. The Group’s obligations are secured by the lessors’
title to the leased assets for such leases.
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25. LEASF ORI IGATIONS (continned)

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lcasc liabilities. Lease liabilities are
monitored within the Group’s treasury function.

26. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

QOutstanding capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment authorised by the Board and for which
coniracts had been placed as at 31 December 2022 by the Group amounted to approximately €332.1 million
(2021 : €696.5 million).

27. RELATED PARTIES

Related party transactions
Related parties comprise:

=  Parent entities and their subsidiaries not included within the INEOS Industries Limited Group;

» Entities controlled by the sharcholders of INEOS Limited, the ultimate parent company of INEOS
Industries Limited;

=  Key management personnel; and

e Joint ventures.

Mr J A Ratcliffe, Mr A C Currie and Mr J Reece are the shareholders of INEQOS Limited.

INEOS Limited and INEOS AG, a subsidiary of INEOS Limited, provide operational management services to
the Group through management services agreements. Management fees of €87.2 million (2021: €82.5 million)
were charged in the year. At 31 December 2022 amounts owed to INEOS AG were €581.0 million (2021:
€87.2 million). At 3] December 2022 amounts owed by INEOS AG were €49.4 million (2021: €47.1 million).
At 31 December 2022 amounts owed to INEOS Limited were €243.9 million (2021: €242.1 million),

INEOS Limited owns and controls a number of operating subsidiarics that are not included in the INEOS
Industries Limited Group, including INEQS Group Holdings S.A., INEOS Enterprises Holdings Limited and
the Lavéra petrochemical assets and businesses together with other French and Italian assets of INEOS O&P
South.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 the Group has made sales to these subsidiaries of €865.3 million
(2021: €683.1 million), made net cost recoverics of €(184.4) million (2021: €(160.8) million) and made
purchases of €945.5 million (2021: €670.7 million). At 31 December 2022 €1,723.2 million (2021: €1,873.7
million) was owed to these subsidiaries {excluding the INEOS Upstream loan, INEOS Intermediate
Chlorvinyls Limited loan and INEOQS Enterprises Holdings Limited loan) and €327.3 million {2021: €263.4
million) was owed by these subsidiaries.

On 31 December 2020 the Group acquired 94.9% of the shares in INEOS Inovyn Limited (formerly INOVYN
Limited) from INEOS Group Investments Limited, a related party for total consideration of €3,416.4 million,
In April 2021, INEOS Group Investments Limited assigned the loan to INEOS Intermediate Chlorvinyls
Limited. The loan facility is unsecured and matures in April 2026 and bears interest at 0.5% per annum. At 31
December 2022 €3.446.3 million (2021: €3,428.8 million) was outstanding under the INEOS Intermediate
Chlorvinyls Limited loan facility.

In 2015 INEOS Holdings Limited, a related party, provided a loan of $623.7 million to the Group in
connection with its acquisition of natural gas assets in the North Sea. The loan is unsecured and matures in
June 2024 and bears interest at 7.0% per annum. On 29 September 2017, INEOS Holdings Limited provided a
further loan of $376.2 mitlion te the Group to acquire further natural gas assets in the North Sea through its
acquisition of the entire oil and gas business of DONG Energy A/S. The loan is unsecured and matures in June
2024 and bears interest at 7.0% per annum. During 2022 no loan repayments were made {2021: no loan
repayments), leaving $617.1 million (€578.5 million) (2021: $617.1 million (€544.6 million)) cutstanding
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27. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

under the INEOS Upstream Loan as at 31 December 2022. On 22 Junc 2023 the maturity of the loan between
INEQOS Holdings Limited and the Group was extended to 30 June 2026 (see Note 31).

During the year ended 31 December 2022 the Group has made sales to jointly controlled entities and associated
undertakings of €404.G million (2021: €281.1 million), made net cost recoveries of €(177.5) million (2021
€(47.9) million) and made no purchases (2021: €212.2 million). At 31 December 2022 €103.0 million (2021:
€209.8 million) was owed to these entities (excluding the Petroincos Refining Limited shareholder loan
facility) and €202 8 million (2021: €127.9 million) was owed by these entilies.

The Group had a £95.8 million shareholder loan facility from Petroincos Refining Limited, a related party,
which would have matured in 2043 and carried an interest ratc of 5.53% per annum. On 30 December 2021,
Petroincos Refining Limited gave notice to stop investing in the energy project and requested early repayment
of the loan in line with the contractual terms so the loan is now classificd as a current liability. The facility was
for exclusive use on construction costs of the new power plant at the Grangemouth site. Qualifying interest was
capitalised as part of the construction of plant and machinery. The total amount outstanding under the
shareholder loan facility was £64.7 million (€73.1 million) as at 31 December 2022 (2021: £61.2 million
(€72.9 million)).

In December 2019 the Group issued €100.0 million unsecured loans notes duc 2024 (the “Notes due 2024™) to
the shareholders of the ultimate parent undertaking, INEOS Limited, a related party. During 2021 the Notes
due 2024 were delisted and assigned to INEOS AG, a related party. Before delisting the Notes due 2024 were
listed on the International Stock Exchange in Guernsey and accrued interest at 7% per annum.

In 2021 the Group issucd a further €94.5 million (2020: €116.1 million) of unsecured loans notes due 2025 (the
“Notes due 2025%) to the shareholders of the ultimate parent undertaking, INEOS Limited, a related party.
During 2022 the Notes due 2025 were fully redeemed. The total amount outstanding at 31 December 2021
under the Notes due 2025 was €210.6 million. Before redemption the Notes duc 2025 were listed on the
International Stock Exchange in Guernsey and accrue interest at 7% per annum which was payable on
redemption of the Notes due 2025.

The Group has an unsecured loan due to INEOS Enterprises Holdings Limited, a related party of €41.7 million
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: €39.8 million). The loan bears interest at a rate of 4.5% per annum and there is
no formal repayment date under the loan agreement.

During 2020 the Group entered into a number of derivative contracts with INEOS Europe AG, a related party.
The net fair value gain on these derivatives during the year ended 31 December 2022 was €14.3 million (2021:
€109.4 million). As at 31 December 2022, the mark to market derivative liability was €10.4 million (2021-
€173.8 million) and the mark to market asset was €10.2 million (2021: €193.3 miliion) in respect of these
related party derivative financial instruments (sce Notes 13 and 19),

In general, any trading balances with related parties are priced based on contractual arrangements and are to be
settled in cash. The transactions are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions,
None (2021: none) of the related party balances are secured and no guarantees have been given or received.
There were no provisions for doubtful debt related to any related parties as at December 31, 2022 (2021 nil).

Compensation to Key management personnel (including Directors)
The Group defines key management as the Directors of the Company, Details of Directors’ remuneration are
given in Mote 7.

28. ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY

The ultimate parent undertaking at 31 December 2022 was INEOS Limited. a company registered in the Isle of
Man. The immediate parent undertaking at 31 December 2022 was INEQOS Holdings AG, a company registered

114



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

28. ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY (continued)

in Switzerland. The most senior parent entity producing publicly available financial statements, and the
smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial statements is INEOS Industries Limited.

The Directors regard Mr J A Ratcliffe to be the ultimate controlling party by virtue of his majority
shar¢holding in INEQS Limited.

29. RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN EXTERNAL NET DEBT

2022 2021
€m €m
Increase in cash and cash equivalents In the Year ...t 547.6 629.9
Tncrease/{decrease) in restricted cash inthe year ... 198 (1.9)
Cash inflow/(outflow) from change in external debt financing...........ooonn. 14.1 (595.6})
Change in external net debt resulting from cash flows ... 581.5 324
Disposal 0f businesses (8¢ NOLE 34) ..o e e 408.9 -
Other net NON-CASH LFANSACTIONS ..o veieaiiieieei et eeer e hee e s e e et e e e e e e s e nan e e (140.5) (94.7)
Movement in external net debl in year. ... 849.9 (62.3)
Other
1 Jan Cash non cash 31 Dec
2022 flow Disposals* changes 2022
€m
Cash at bank and in hand .......... 1,987.5 547.6 - (9.3) 2,525.8
Restricted cash ..o 14.1 19.8 - - 339
Debt due within one year.......... (159.5) 138.1 - (348.2) (369.6)
Debt due after more than one
YEAT ceriteeeeiieeee e ereraeen e e e (6,931.1) (124.0) 408.9 217.0 (6,429.2)
(7,090.6) 14.1 408.9 {131.2) (6,798.8)

External net debt before issue
COBLS oo iiee e e eee oo e e (5,089.0) 581.5 408.9 (140.5) (4,239.1)

* Excludes cash

Other
1 Jan Cash non cash 31 Dec
2021 flow Acquisitions* changes 2021
€m
Cash at bank and in hand .......... 1,288.7 6299 - 68.9 1,987.5
Restricted cash.............cccooee 16.0 (L.9) - - t4.1
Debt due within one year.......... (2,973.3) 29576 - (143.8) (159.3)
Debt due after more than one
Year ..o, RS {(3,441.0) (3.421.6) - (68.5) (6,931.1)
(6,414.3) (463.9) - (212.4) (7,090.6)

External net debt before issue
COBES . oeovcece e eeraeee (5,109.6) 164.1 - (143.5) (5,089.0)

* Excludes cash

All lease liabilities and related party loans have been excluded from the definition of external net debt.

Restricted cash relates to amounts only available for use in respect of joint venturc operations.
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30. MERGER RESERVE

On 31 December 2020, the Group acquired 94.9% of the shares in INOVYWN Limited, pursuant to a
contribution agreement dated 24 July 2020 between INEOS Group Investments Limited, INEOS Quattro
Holdings Limited, INEOS Industries Holdings Limited, the Company and INEOS Quattro Financing Limited
(formerly INEOQS Styrolution Financing Limited) in exchange for a €3,416.4 million related party loan. On 31
December 2020, €3.245.7 million was debited to a merger reserve, being the difference between the book
value of the net assets acquired and the total consideration paid.

31. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 10 January 2023, the Group repaid in full the O&P UK Senior Secured Term Senior Term and Revolving
loan Facilities.

On 14 March 2023, the Group entered into an Incremental Facility Agreement to raise a new Dollar Term Loan
B of $500.0 million (€471.6 million cquivalent) and a new Euro Term Loan B of €375.0 million. The gross
proceeds received under these borrowings were used on 15 March 2023 to pay an interim dividend to the Group’s
owners of €500.0 million with the remaining proceeds used to increase the liquidity of the Group.

From March 2023, the Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bears interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the
option of US Finco:

(a) the applicable Term SOFR plus 0.16% {subject to a {loor of 0% per annum) plus a margin of 2.00%,; or
(b) the Alternate Base Rate (subject to a floor of 1.00% per annum) plus a margin of 1.00%.

On 20 April 2023, the Group completed its transition from LIBOR to SOFR in relation to thc Dollar Term
Loan B due 2027.

Subsequent 1o the year end, the Group cntered into an interest rate swap agreement with HSBC to hedge the
fair value risk in relation to the 2030 Term Loans with the notional principal amount of $500 million. Under
this interest rate swap agreement, the Group will exchange the variable SOFR exposure for fixed SOFR
obligations.

In May 2023 the Group completed the acquisition of a major wanche of Chesapcake Energy’s oil and gas
assets in the Eagle Ford shale, South Texas for $1.4 billion. The deal marks the Group’s entry as operator into
the US onshore oil and gas market, as it acquires 2,300 wells, producing net 36,000 barrels of oil equivalent
per day.

On 22 June 2023 the matunty of the loan between INEOS Holdings Limited and the Group was extended to 30
June 2026 (sce Note 27).

32. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, which require
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions which affect the application of the accounting
policies, and the reported amounts of assets, liabilitics, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates change and in any future periods.

Critical accounting judgements

On 28 July 2022, INEOS and Sinopec signed a petrochemical deal to establish a total of three joint-ventures
for ABS, based on INEQS’ proprietary ABS technology. The set-up of the first joint-venture was completed on
28 December 2022. Management had to exercise critical judgement regarding the allocation of the
consideration to the disposal of INEOS Styro Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Ltd due to the linked nature of
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32. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

the transactions. The contractual arrangements are such that the first two joint ventures arc accounted for
together, and the third will be accounted for separately, in due course.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions conceming the [uture, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilitics within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Oil & gas activities

The Group estimates its oil and gas reserves based on information compiled by appropriately qualified persons
relating to geological and technical data on the size, depth, shape and grade of the reservoir and suitable
production techniques and recovery rates. Such an analysis requires complex geological judgements to
interpret the data. The estimation of recoverable reserves is based upon factors such as estimates of foreign
exchange rates, commodity prices, future capital requirements and production costs, along with geological
assumptions and judgements made in estimating the size and grade of the reservoir.

Oil and gas reserves have a direct impact on certain amounts reported in the financial statements. Estimated
reserves are used in determining depreciation and depletion expenses, impairment testing for oil and gas
properties and goodwill, and the timing of decommissioning. Judgement is involved in determining when to
use an allernative reserves base in order to appropriately reflect the expected utilisation of the assets concerned.

Post-retirement benefits
The Group operates a number of defined benefit post-employment schemes. Under 1AS 19 Revised Employee
Benefits, management is required to estimate the present value of the furure defined benefit obligation of each
of the defined benefit schemes. The costs and year end obligations under defined benefit schemes are
determined using actuyarial valuations. The actuarial valuations involve making numerous assumptions,
including:

¢ Future rate of increase in salaries;

¢ [nflation rate projections;

s Discount rate for scheme liabilities;
Expected ratcs of return on the scheme assets.

Details of post-retirement benefits are set out in Note 20.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised for the cost of remcdiation works where there is a legal or constructive obligation for
such work to be carried out. Where the estimated obligation arises upon mitial recognition of the related asset,
the corresponding debit is treated as part of the cost of the related asset and depreciated over its estimated
useful life.

The decommissioning of oil and gas assets may not be due 1o occur for many years into the future (between
2023 and 2045). Consequently, judgement is required in relation to the estimated cash flows, removal date,
environmental legislation, inflation and discount rate used to calculate present value.

Other provisions are recognised in the year when it becomes probable that there will be a future outflow of
funds resulting from past operaticns or events that can be reasonably estimated. The timing of recognition
requires the application of judgement to existing facts and circurnstances, which can be subject to change.

Estimates of the amounts of provisions recognised are based on current legal and constructive requirements,
technology and price levels. Because actual outflows can differ from estimates due to changes in laws,
regulations, public expectations, technology, prices and conditions, and can take place many years in the
future, the carrying amounts of provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted to take account of such changes.

The nature and amount of provisions as well as the key assumptions arc included within the financial
statements are detailed in Note 21. The discount rate applied to reflect the time value of money in the carrying
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32. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

amount of provisions requires estimation. The discount rate applied is reviewed regularly and adjusted
following changes in market rates. If the estimated discount ratc, one of the key assumptions in determining the
oil and gas decommissioning and restoration provisions, used in the calculation had been 1% higher than
management’s estimate, the carrying amount of the decommissioning and restoration costs provision would
have been €94.4 million lower.

Impairment tests for goodwill and other non-financial assets

Goodwill impairment testing is performed annually or of there is an indication of impairment. Goodwill
impairment tests are based on cash generating units and compare the recoverable amount of the unit with the
respective carrying amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The value in use is determined using a discounted cash flow
method, considering carnings forecast of the unit. The management of the Group identificd the operating
segments as cash generating units (“CGUs™) for the purposes of testing goedwill for impairment. Each unit or
group of units to which goodwill is allocated to shall represent the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is menitored for internal management purposes. The goodwill is internally monitored at the level of
business units.

Intangible assets other than goodwill assets and property, plant and equipment are generally valued at cost less
amortisation. Impairment losses on intangible assets and property, plant and cquipment are recognised when
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit which includes the assct is lower than the respective
carrying amount. In accordance with the definition of a cash generating unit under IAS 36, the individual
production plants generally do not represent separate cash generating units, but are part of larger asset groups
that form the cash generating units.

Since assessment whether goodwill or a non-financial asset is impaired is based on long-term business plans
for the cash generating units and the determination of an appropriate discount rate, management uses
significant estimates and assumptions in making these assessments. Details on the estimates used for the
property, plant and equipment and goodwill impairment tests are disclosed in note 10 and note 11, respectively.

The Group has an Automotive business which was initially formed in 2018 to develop and sell a 4x4 off-road
utility vehicle, the Grenadier. The Grenadier has been in design and development since that date, and in 2021
the Group acquired INEOS Automotive SAS, formerly Smart Francc SAS, through a share purchasc
agreement, from Mercedes-Benz AG. This entity owns the Hambach manufacturing plant, which gives the
Group aceess 1o a large, modern, automotive manufacturing facility and an experienced and highly trained
workforce. Production of the Grenadier commenced in October 2022, and the first sales started in January
2023.

There is a significant value of tangible and intangible assets within the Automnotive cash generating until
(*CGU’) due to the R&D expenditure and the acquisition from Mercedes-Benz AG. As of 31 December 2022,
the carrying value of the tangible assets is €669.6m (2021: €195.2m} and intangible assets €506.5 million
(2021: €387.4 million).

Automotive

An impaitment test has been performed on the Automotive CGU, including intangible development costs and
property plant and equipment. This has been performed by estimating the future cash flows likely to be
generated by the CGU based on a “value in use’ assessment under 1AS 36, following the commencement of
production of the Grenadicr. Key assumptions include the pre-tax risk adjusted discount rate of 10% (2021 -
10%0), the number of vehicles to be produced and sold, the selling price of the vehicles, cost of sales and
therefore the margin earned. A Key assumption also relates to the level of costs to be incurred to further
develop the Grenadier, to ensure it can meet future legislative requirements and that there is a viable business
for the CGU after the end of production of the current Grenadier. Based on the assumptions made, ho
impairment has been recognised for this CGU in 2022, with headroom estimated at €706.1 million (2021:
€36.1 million). However, because the Grenadier is a new brand and a new vehicle, with limited production and
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32. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS {continued)

sales to date, there is a much greater degree of uncertamty in these projections than for established businesses.

The value in use assumed in the impairment assessment has been calculated based upon a detailed forecast
period of five ycars to 2027, with a terminal value into perpctuity representing a normalised long-term
cashflow expectation, derived from assumed sales income together with the costs which will be incurred to
further develop the Grenadier and futurc cars to be manufactured at the Hambach plant.

A long-term growth rate of 3.0% has becn applied to the terminal value, reflecting the average expected long-
term growth rate of the countries where the vehicle is expected to be marketed and sold. A terminal value was
not assumed in 2021, reflecting the absence of any vehicle production or sales at that time, and therefore less
confidence in the long-term prospects for the CGU.

As noted above, based on the assumptions adopted, no impairment has been identified as of the balance sheet
date. However, the directors recognise that there is a limited track record of production and sales, and that
reasonably possible changes to certain of the assumptions could reduce the assumed headroom or give rise to
an impatrment -

* Sales volumes — if sales volumes were to reduce by 10% over the forccast period, headroom would be
decreased by €628 8 million, although this would not result in an impairment in isolation.

e  Margin — if the margin were to reduce by 1% point over the forecast period, headroom would
decrease by €308.6 million, but would not result in an impairment in isolation.

s Period of projections - the model assumes that cashflows are gencrated into perpetuity, however if a
finite life of 23 years or less was applied to these cashflows, it would eliminate the calculated hecadroom
and result in a potential impairment.

Tt is also possible that a number of the above scenarios could occur simultaneously and/or to greater/lesser
extent than considered here, in which case a greater level of potential impairment would be possibie.
Ultimately, however, given the relative infancy of the business and the early stage of sales, and based on the
directors’ current best estimate of future cashflows and judgements around key assumptions, no impairment
has been identified.

Further information on impairments and impairment risk is included in Note 10 and Note 11.

Partial disposal of business with joint control retained

On 28 December 2022, the Group transferred 50% of its shareholding in INEOS Styrolution Advanced
Matcrials (Ningbo) Pte Limited to China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation (Sinopec). As a result, the Group
gave up control but retained joint control. The 50% equity share in the joint-venture acquired by the Group has
been measured at fair value on the date of acquisition by applying discounted cash flow mecthod based on a
long-term business plan with a detailed planning period of seven years.

The discount rate of 9.0% applied to reflect the time value of money of the cash flows expected based on the
long-term business plan requires estimation. If the estimated discount rate, one of the key assumptions in
determining the fair value, used in the calculation had been 1% higher than management’s estimate, the fair
valuc of 50% share of the joint-venture will have been €81 million lower.

33. CONTINGENCIES

Contingent asset

As part of the sales and purchase agreement the Group is catitled to receive contingent consideration of DKK
607.0 million (€81.6 million) if a decision is made to not invest on Hejre and Solsort discoveries. The
contingent asset have not been recognised because they are contingent on future events which have a high level
of uncertainty at the year end.

Contingent liabilities

The Group is subject to a contingent consideration of US$60.0 million (€56.2 million) should a Final
Investment Decision be made on Hejre and Solsort discoveries with notice issucd to the regulator. The
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33. CONTINGENCIES (continued)

contingent liability has not been recognised because it is contingent on future events which have a high level of
uncertainty at the year end.

In respect of the 2017 acquisition of INEOS FPS Limited, the Group agreed to pay additional consideration of
%100 million if the cumulative throughput over the five years post acquisition exceeds 689 mbbls, the effective
date for the five year payment was 31 December 2021 and no payment was due. A further second tranche of
consideration of $25 million will be payable if cumulative throughput exceeds 889 mbbls over the seven years
post acquisition, based on recent projections, there is currently no additional consideration payable.

The Group companies are and may from time to time be involved in proceedings or litigation arising in the

ordinary course of business. Management does not believe that the ultimate resolution of these matters will
materially affect the Group’s financial condition or results of operations.

34. DISPOSAL OF BUSINESS

Disposals in current year

Disposal of INEOS Styrolution India Limited

On 22 April 2022, the Group sold 13.8% of its shareholding in TINEQOS Styrolution India Limited for
consideration of $25.1 million (€22.5 million equivalent). The Group’s shareholding reduced from 75.0% to
61.2% as a result, with control being retained.

On 1 August 2022, the Group entered into an agreement to divest its remaining shareholding of 61.19% in
INEOS Styrolution India Limited with Shiva Performance Materials Private Limited. The transaction was

completed on 17 November 2022,

The net assets disposed af the date of disposal were as follows:

Recognised
values on
disposal
€m

Subsidiary’s net assets recognised at the disposal date:

Property, plant and equipment. ... s 39.9
INEANGIDLIE ASSEIS ... eeere et e 722
Envestments ......c.ooooevees 0.2
Inventories 41.1
Current debtors and other assets,. 44 .4
Cash and cash equivalents................. e 14.8
Trade and other payables. ... e e {5.0)
Lease liability {40.4)
Employees BEnefits ... e {0.1)
|20 AT 1 1 1SR U S U SOV TP UT PSS UUTUUU U RO RSTTRON {1.3)
Deferred tax liabilities ...........cccccooveeiiiiienn e (11.6)
Tax ligbilities for current tax.........c.ccoooeiiviiciciiiinnn. (4.2)
Minority interests ... (32.5)
Net assets of disposal group... i iciiiiiianin 117.5
Proceeds:

Cash consideration .................. 80.7
Accrued transaction costs.. (0.5)
INEt PrOCEEUS..ccivrririsresrssrrnrsnrnrrssssseeiassnsssnssonssnsansassnsanaas - 80.2
Reclassification of foreign currency translation reserve to the income statement............. 9.8
Loss on disposal ... - (47.1)
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34. DISPOSAL OF BUSINESS (continued)

The loss on disposal of €47.1 millien, beimng the difference between net proceeds of €80.2 million {after
deduction of transaction costs), the reclassification of foreign currency translation gains from reserve to the
income statement of €9.8 million and net asscts disposed of has been recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

The transaction resulted in a net cash inflow of €65.9 million, being the difference betwecen the sale price of
€80.7 million less the cash balances held by the disposed business of €14.8 million. Transaction costs of €0.5
million remain unsettled as at 31 December 2022.

Equity transfer agreement of INEOS Styrofution Advanced Materials {Ningbo) Pte Limited

On 28 July 2022, the Group’s subsidiary, INEOS Styrolution APAC Pte. Limited, entered into an agreement to
transter 50% of its shareholding in INEOS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Limited to China

Petroleurn & Chemical Corporation (“Sinopec™). As a result, the Group lost control but retained joint control.
Based on the terms of the joint-arrangement revicwed in accordance with IFRS 11, the Group has assessed that
its 50% interest represents an intercst in a joint venture and shall be accounted for using the equity method.
The transaction was completed on 28 December 2022.

The net assets disposed at the date of the loss of control were as follows:

Recognised
values on
disposal
€m
Disposal of 100% of subsidiary’s net assets recognised at the loss of control date:
Property, plant and equipment.. 560.9
Intangiblc asscts .........c.ocooon 0.6
DICTEITEA AKX BSSEES .oivieiiee o oo oot eietees et et ete e e ens et e e et e et e e et e eane s s annen e 2.0
oA (T TS PO O U UUURPP 04
Current debtors and other assets.. 58.3
Cash and cash equivalents........... 40.7
Trade and other payables.......... (34.1)
INEEICOMPANY JOAIIS .....oviiei et e st r et e e e e e s e e e e e ioarsorenas s (64.7)
External 10ans and BOMTOWIIES ....ooiiiiiiiiie et e e bee e bt re st et e aeee s eeeenn (408.9)
DIEBE ISSIE GOBLS L. .ii i i ettt 0.4
Net assets of disposal group . . 155.6
Recognition of 50% of the joint-venture equity share:
Fair value of share of JOINI-VEINIUTE ......oo.oiiiiiriiieiieci e i e s 443.1
Proceeds:
CaSh CONSIABIATION™ .........iiiiicie ettt e e e ee e e rane e sbb st ese b arenrs 2264
Deferred CONSIACTALION .........c.eeeiieie it eieei e s e ne sebe e eabe s e e eraares 246.2
ACCrUed tranSACHiON COSIS ..ottt e ettt cdi e e et e e eeeamee e e e eae e e aaan darbttee s or e e e e e neeeeeneeeeneeas 2.7
Net proceeds . 469.9
Gain on disposal ........cuininnninssnnnne. .- 757.4

*Withholding tax of €13.5 million was paid in respeet of this transaction.

The profit on disposal of €757.4 million, being the difference between the net proceeds of €469.9 muillion (atter
deduction of transaction costs); the 50% of the joint-venture equity share recognised at fair value of €443.1
million and net assets disposed of has been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
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34. DISPOSAL OF BUSINESS (continued)

The deferred consideration is related to future instalments to be received from Sinopec on the achievement of
certain milestones, which are expected to be fulfilled by December 2023 at the latest. The deferred consideration
has been discounted to recognise the time value of moncy.

The cost of acquiring the 50% of the joint-venture equity share has been measured at fair value by applying
discounted cash flow method based on a long-term business plan with a detailed planning period of seven vears.

The transaction resulted in a net cash inflow of €172.2 million, being the difference between the sale price
scttled on completion of €226 .4 million less €13.5 million of withholding tax paid and the cash balances held
by the disposed business of €40.7 million. Transaction costs of €2.7 million remain unsettled as at 31
December 2022,

Disposals in prior year

On 25 March 2021, the Group’s subsidiary, INEOS E&P Norge A/S, entered into an agreement to divest its
oil and gas business in Norway to PGNiG Upstream Norway AS. The transaction balanced the Group’s
portfolio of oil and gas production and moved the Group towards a more operated position and was completed

on 30 September 2021.

The net assets disposed at the date of disposal were as follows:

Recognised values
on disposal

€m
Subsidiary’s net assets recognised at the disposal date:
Property, plant and equipment ... e b 4199
TIVESLITIEILS .0ttt ee et eaas e seb et st e s e ee e 0o me At e e ea oo enaen et e e e een e e nen 1.5
INtangihle @SSCES ..ot e e e e e e 348
Goodwill it3.6
[nventory 0.9
INACmnifICAIION ASSEIS. . ... oo iiiiiieiiieie ittt ettt st eb e et et a e e 9.7
Trade and other rec@ivables ..o e e 12.7
Deferred tax HabilitICS ... i oot e oo e e anre oo ee o e e e na e (246.6)
Trade and other payables ... e e er e e (178.9)
Provisions ... ettt e e eee ettt eh e een etee bt nn e e met e eme e eaes s (152.3)
Net assets of disposal group......... 153
Proceeds:
Cash conSIAEration . ... ..o e 181.2
DHESPOSAI COSES .. e.veviieie oo ettt e oottt eeeeae s e s s s et a e s s ea s enas ot esa s et e as e 0.9
Effects of movements in foreign eXchange ... i i oo 0.4
Net Proceeds .o eericennsereeecemesiesans . 180.7
Profit on diSposal ...ttt s . 165.4

The profit on disposal of €165.4 million, being the difference between net proceeds of $213.4 million (€180.7
million) and net assets disposed of has becn recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.



COMPANY BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Note 2022 2021
€m

Fixed assets
Property, Plant & Equipment 4 324 34.0
INVESHMENLS ..o e eieiiens 5 3,4258 34362
Total fixed assets 3,458.2 3,470.2
Current assets
Debtors (including €1.0m (2021 :€2.7m) due after more than one year}................ <] 52.1 537
Cash and cash equivalents.............. e reraraeeree et et et saeer e reen e s e e e s s e e e e nrenene 0.4 0.1
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year. 7 (6.1) {59
Net current t 46.4 47.9
Total assets less current liabilities 3,504.6 3,518.1
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year.......... ST 8 (3,488.4) (3,487.7)
Net assets 16.2 304
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital .. ..........ccoi it D - -
Profit and 108S 8CCoUnt™ ... e e e e 16.2 30.4
Total sharehoiders’ funds 16.2 304

* The parent company recorded a profit for the financial year of €6.8 milkion (202 1: €42.7 mullion profit).

The notes on pages 126 to 131 are an integral part of these Company financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 124 to 131 were approved by the Board of Directors on 3 July 2023 and

signed on its behalf by:

G Leask
Director

Registered number: 06959146
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Balance at 1 JTapuary 2021

Total comprehensive income for the financial year

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity:

Dividend

Balance at 31 December 2021

Balance at 1 Janyary 2022

Total comprehensive income for the financial year

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity:

Dividend

Balance at 31 December 2022

Total
Called up Profit and shareholders’
Note share capital loss account funds
€m
- 72 72
- 427 427
11 - (19.5) (19.5}
- 304 304
Total
Called up Profit and sharcholders’
Note share capital loss account funds
€m
- 30.4 304
- 6.8 6.8
11 - (21.0) {21.0)
- 16.2 16.2

The notes on pages 126 to 131 arc an integral part of these Company financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Overview

INEOS Industries Limited (the “Company™) is a private company limited by shares incorporated, registered
and domicile in England, UK. The regisiered office address is Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst,
Hampshire, SO43 7FG. The principal activity of the Company is the management activities of a holding
company.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and on a
going concert basis.

Under section 5408 of the Compantes Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its
own profit and loss account.

The Company financial statements have been prepared on a going concem basis and approved by the Board of
Directors in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard
101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (“FRS 101"} and the Companies Act 2006.

The Company meets its day to day working capital requirements through its intercompany lean, along with
cash generated by its subsidiaries’ operations. The Company held cash balances of €0.4 million at 31
December 2022 (2021: €0.1 million) and has no loans and borrowings as at 31 December 2022 (2021: €nil).
The Directors have considered the Company’s projected future cash flows and working capital requirements
and are confident that the Cempany has sufficient cashflows to mect its working capital requirements for the
next twelve months from the date of signing the financial statements. [ particular, the directors have stress
tested the forecasts through taking account of reasonable possible changes in trading performance on the
impact on EBITDA, cash flow and debt. The stress tests show that the Company will still have sufficient cash
flow to meet all of its obligations as they fall due within the next 12 months from the date of signing the
financial statements.

On the basis of this assessment together with net assets of €16.2 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: €30.4
million) the Directors have concluded that the Company can operate within its current facilities for a period of
at least 12 months from the date of this report, Therefore, these financial statements have been prepared on a
going concemn basis in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards in the
United Kingdom,

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the excmptions available under FRS 101 in respect of
the following disclosures:

e a Cash Flow Statement and related notcs;

* comparative ycar reconciliations for share capital;

the requirements in TAS 24, *Related party disclosures’, to disclose related party transactions entered
into between two or more members of a group;

disclosures in respect of capital management;

financial instrument disclosurcs as required by IFRS 7,

the cffects of new but not yet effective IFRSs; and

disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently in these Company
financial statements.

Measurement convention
The financial statements ate prepared on the historical cost basis.

Functional and presentation currency

These Company financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the functional currency of the majority of
operations. The Company primarily generates income, incurs expenditure and has the majority of its assets and
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

liabilities denominated in Euros. All amounts in the financial statcments have been rounded to the nearest €0.1
million.

Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments 1n equity and debt securities, trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Trade and other debtors

Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, the company
applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.

Trade and other creditors

Trade and other creditors are recognised initially at fair vatuc less transaction costs that arc directly attributable
to the acquisition or issuc. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measurcd at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an intcgral part of the Company’s cash management arc included as a component of cash,

Investments in debt and equity securities
Investments in debt and equity securities are stated at amortised cost less impairment.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value Icss attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to tnitial recognition, intercst-bearing borrowings arc stated at amortised cost using the effective intcrest
mcthod.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, & lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an tdentified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset, the Company uscs the definition of a leasc in IFRS 16.

Right-of-use assets

The Company recognises right-of-use asscts at the commencement date of the lease (i.c., the date the
underlying asset is available for usc). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recogniscd, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any leasc incentives received. Unless the Company is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term
which is between 10.75 and 14.6 years for the land and buildings right-of-use assets. Right-of-use assets are
subject to impairment.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the leasc, the Company recognises lease liabilitics measured at the present value
of lease payments (o be made over the leasc term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lcase incentives reccivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the excrcise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and
payments of penaltics for terminating a leasc, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index cr a rate are expensed in the period on
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the leasc is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change iti the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to ali Icases that have a lcase term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. The Company also applies
the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of assets that are valued below €10,000. Lease
payments on short-term [eases and [eases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Changes in accounting peolicies

The Company financial statements have been prepared using consistent accounting policies with the those of
the previous financial year.

2. STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

There were nil (2021: nil) employees with contracts of employment in the name of the Company.

3. AUDITOR’S RENUMERATION

The audit fee for the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 was €0.] million (2021: €0.2 million).
4. DIRECTORS’ RENUMERATION

None (2021: none) of the Directors reccived any fees or remuneration for services as a Director of the
Company during the financial ycar.

5. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Right-of use
assets - Total

€m
Cost
At 31 December 2021 46.1
Additions 2.7
At 31 December 2022 48.8
Accumulated depreciation
At 31 December 2021 (12.1)
Depreciation charge for the year (4.3)
At 31 December 2022 (16.4)
Net book value
At 31 December 2022 324
At 31 December 2021 4.0

See Note 12 for the lease obligations on nght-of-use assets.
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6. INVESTMENTS

Subsidiaries Total
€m
Opening position 3,436.2 3,436.2
Disposals (10.4) (10.4)
AL 31 Pecemnber 2022 3.425.8 34258

During the year the Company disposed of its investment in INEGS Industries Newco Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary for €10.4 million.

The subsidiary undertakings of the Company at 31 December 2022 and 2021 and the percentage of equity
share capital held are detailed in Note 12(b) of the consolidated financial statements.

7. DEBTORS
2022 2021
€m
Amounts due from group undertakings 48.8 503
Other receivables 33 3.4
52.1 53.7
Duc within one year 51.1 51.0
Due afier more than one year i.0 2.7

Amounts due from group undertakings, attract interest at commercial rates and are either subject to standard
trading terms or are repayable on demand.

8. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2022 2021
€fm
Lease obligations (see Note 12) 53 5.6
Other payables 0.8 0.3
6.1 59

9. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

2022 2021
€m
Amounts owed to related parties (sec Note 13) 34462 34288
Amounts owed to group undertakings 8.1 20.9
Lease obligations (see Note 12) 34.1 38.0
3,488.4 34877

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, attract interest at fixed commercial rates and are
repayable in 2-5 years.



NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

10. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Fully paid

197,502 (2021: 197,502) ordinary shares of £0.00001 each

11. DIVIDENDS

The tollowing dividends were declared and paid during the year:

Dividends (2022: €106.33 per share, 2021: €98.73 per share)

12. LEASE OBLIGATIONS

2022 2021
€m
2022 2021
€m
21.0 19.5

Included within creditors are the following lease obligations in respect of two rental propertics London. Total
cash outflow for leascs for the financial year were €6.4 million (2021: €5.7 million).

Analysed as:
Current lease liabilities
Non-current lease liabilities

Maturity analvsis- contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December
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2022 2021
€m
5.3 5.6
34.1 38.0
39.4 436
2022 2021
€m
59 6.2
23.5 24.7
15.1 22.1
44.5 530




NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCTIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

13. RELATED PARTIES

Related parties comprisc of cntities controlied by the sharcholders of INEOS Limited, the ultimatc parent company
of INEOS Industries Limited.

Qutstanding balances
At the year end, the Company had the following balances with related parties:

Amounts owed to
related parties

2022 2021

€m €m

INEOS Intermediate ChlorVinyls Limited 3,446.3 34288
INEOS Industries Holdings Limited ° 8.1 9.2
INEOS Industrics Newco Limited - 11.7
3.454.4 3,449.7

Amounts owed to INEQS Intermediate ChlorVinyls Limited of €3,446.3 million (2021: €3,428.8 million) arc
unsecured and have interest applied at 0.5% per annum. The loan agreement matures in April 2026.

None of the rclated party balances are secured and no guarantces have been given.
14. ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY

The ultimate parent undertaking at 31 December 2022 was INEQS Limited, a company registered in the Isle of
Man. The immediate parent undertaking at 31 December 2022 was INEQS Holdings AG, a company registered
in Switzerland.

The Directors regard Mr J A Ratcliffe to be the ultimate controlling party by virtue of his majority
shareholding in INEOS Limited.

The only group in which the results of the Company arc consolidated is that headed by the Company.

15. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with FRS 101, which requires management to
make judgements, cstimates and assumptions which affect the application of the accounting policies, and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates change and in any future periods. There is no area within the
financial statements that involve a significant degree of judgement or estimation.

16. SUBSQUENT EVENTS

There are no subscquent cvents following the balance sheet date.
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DocuSign Envelope I1D: 0B141505-03A0-4971-8C7E-118C 14863214

INE(C)S INEOS Industries Limited

Mawkslease
Chapel Lane
Lyndhurst
Hampshire
SO43 7FG

Notice of revision to accounts by suppiementary note

Notice is hereby given of a revision to the original accounts of INEOS Industries
Limited for the year ending 31 December 2022. This supplementary note revises in
certain respects the original accounts of the company and is to be treated as forming
part of those accounts.

The accounts have been revised as at the date ot the original accounts and not as at
the date of revision and accordingly do not deal with events between those dates.

The required revision is as follows:

In relation to page 82, note 12¢ (Audit exempt subsidiaries), the company
number of INEOS Upstream Holdings Limited will now read as 10645161.

No other revisions of the financial statements or related annual report are required.

Approved and signed on behalf of the Board:

DocuSigned by:

78E8864CE6EFC4C6...

G Leask

Director

24 QOctober 2023

Registered number 06859146
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INE(C)S INEOS Industries Limited

Hawkslease
Chapel Lane
Lyndhurst
Hampshire
SO43 7FG

Notice ot revision to accounts by supplementary note

Notice is hereby given of a revision to the original accounts of INEOS Industries
Limited for the year ending 31 December 2022. This supplementary note revises in
certain respects the original accounts of the company and is to be treated as forming
part of those accounts.

The accounts have been revised as at the date of the original accounts and not as at
the date of revision and accordingly do not deal with events between those dates.

The required revision is as follows:

in reiation to page 82, note 12c (Audit exempt subsidiaries), the company
number of INEOS Upstream Holdings Limited will now read as 10645161.

No other revisions of the financial statements or related annual report are required.

Approved and signed on behalf of the Board:

DocuSigned by:

78E8864C6EFC4CH .

G Leask

Director

24 October 2023

Registered number 06959146
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